# ResearchOnline@JCU



This file is part of the following work:

## Hartley, Fraser Andrew (2013) Fear of fishers: anti-predator behaviour of coral reef fish and its relevance to fisheries management and conservation. PhD Thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from: https://doi.org/10.25903/4dkc%2Dzf23

Copyright © 2013 Fraser Andrew Hartley

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owners of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please email researchonline@jcu.edu.au

# ResearchOnline@JCU

This file is part of the following reference:

## Hartley, Fraser Andrew (2013) Fear of fishers: antipredator behaviour of coral reef fish and its relevance to fisheries management and conservation. PhD thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from:

http://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/32003/

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owner of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please contact <u>ResearchOnline@jcu.edu.au</u> and quote <u>http://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/32003/</u>



# Fear of fishers: anti-predator behaviour of coral reef fish and its relevance to fisheries management and conservation

Thesis submitted by

## Fraser Andrew HARTLEY

BSc (Hons), MSc Newcastle University (UK)

In August 2013

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies

James Cook University

Townsville Queensland Australia

## STATEMENT OF ACCESS

I, the undersigned, the author of this thesis, understand that James Cook University will make it available for use within the University Library and, via the Australian Digital Thesis Network for use elsewhere.

I understand that as an unpublished work this thesis has significant protection under the Copyright Act and I do not wish to put any further restrictions upon access to this thesis.

07/08/2013

(Signature)

(Date)

## STATEMENT OF SOURCES

#### Declaration

I declare that this thesis is my own work and has not been submitted in any form for another degree or diploma at my university of other institution of tertiary education. Information derived from the published or unpublished work of others has been acknowledged in the text and a list of references is given.

07/08/2013

(Signature)

(Date)

## STATEMENT ON THE CONTRIBUTIONS OF OTHERS

This thesis includes collaborative work with Dr Nick Graham, Dr Joshua Cinner, Professor Garry Russ, Dr David Feary, Dr Rebecca Lawton, Kirsty Nash and Taudinoya Morove. I led these research collaborations and was responsible for the project design, data collection, data analysis and interpretation. My collaborators provided intellectual guidance, financial support, and assistance with fieldwork, technical instruction and editorial assistance.

Dr Nick Graham, Dr Joshua Cinner and Professor Garry Russ provided financial support for the study through Australian Research Council Grants. The James Cook University Graduate Research Scheme provided additional financial assistance. The Wildlife Conservation Society Papua New Guinea Marine Program provided support in the field and the Fisheries Society of the British Isles and the ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies provided funds to attend conferences and workshops during my thesis. A James Cook University Postgraduate Award Scholarship provided stipend support.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The genesis of this thesis occurred during fieldwork on Karkar Island in Papua New Guinea – I owe Nick Graham, Josh Cinner and David Feary an immense debt for inspiring me and encouraging me to apply for a scholarship at JCU. I was lucky enough to have Nick, Josh and Garry Russ as my supervisory team. I've known Nick for over a decade; since my final year as an undergraduate student at Newcastle University in 2003 he's been both a mentor and a friend. He motivated me throughout the thesis, trusted me to work independently, supported me when I needed it, and has been exceptionally generous with his time when I have needed it. Thank you to Josh for your support throughout this thesis. In addition to his writing and scientific advice, he taught me to focus on the question at hand, and to think strategically about what I was trying to accomplish. I may not have always taken his advice, but it has always helped. Garry gave me wholehearted support throughout my candidature. He was always positive and interested in what I was trying to accomplish, and has never been dismissive. They may not have been frequent, but meetings with Garry always left me excited about the next steps in my PhD. Many thanks to all of you, particularly for your support during the past 18 months.

This thesis was funded primarily through a James Cook University Postgraduate Scholarship, with further funding for research expenses coming through Australian Research Council grants awarded to my supervisors and an award from the JCU Graduate Research Scheme. The Fisheries Society of the British Isles provided funding towards my attendance at the 12<sup>th</sup> International Coral Reefs Symposium. Logistical and administrative support was given in country by the Wildlife Conservation Society Papua New Guinea Marine Programme, Silliman University Angelo King Center for Resources and Environmental Management, and the Nguna-Pele Marine Protected Area. Particular thanks have to go to Kate Holmes, Tau Morove, Rene Abesamis, Renclar, Chris Bartlett and John Ronneth for assistance in navigating through the

iv

particular challenges of each country. Logistical support and permissions for other fieldwork are acknowledged in individual chapters.

I am very appreciative of the academic and administrative assistance provided to me by the staff of the Australian Research Council Center of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies: David Yellowlees, Jenny Lappin, Olga Bazaka and Rose-Marie Vasiljuk. Special thanks need to go to Janet Swanson for making the financial and accounting aspects of doing fieldwork in several different countries almost a doddle. No more barely legible hand written receipts, I promise.

During my PhD, I was lucky to be able to conduct fieldwork in some beautiful countries and in great places and have many people to thank for their help and support. In Papua New Guinea the communities of Mongol, Nusa Lik, Ungakum and Kavulik allowed me to work within their marine tenure, while Andrew and Jude Rigby for hosted me (and my wedding) in Kavieng, I have to get back up there soon. Many other people in each country provided assistance, whether through driving boats, translating, or otherwise assisting in the field. Thank you all.

I have been fortunate to work on my PhD with many great people. A thank you also needs to be extended to the entire Graham Lab for support, feedback and help when needed. Many thanks to Kirsty Nash and Rebecca Lawton for volunteering to spend four weeks diving and chasing fishes in Vanuatu. Their assistance was invaluable in producing two of the chapters in this thesis. Aaron MacNeil and Johnathon Kool helped me through some particularly tricky statistical problems. Other good friends at JCU past and present – Karen Chong-Seng, Christina Graham, Tom Brewer, Katie Moon, Vera Horigue, Stephen, Natalie, and others – has made both working and living in Townsville immensely rewarding. Much of the last 18 months of my PhD were spent writing up away from JCU at the University of Wisconsin-Madison. Bobbi Peckarsky found me a desk, while Peter MacIntyre and Anthony Ives were kind enough to allow me to join their lab group meetings. Derek Hogan was always around to talk coral reef fish to while the snow outside was 2 feet deep.

Thank you to my parents, Ann, and the rest of my family. You have all been exceptionally supportive throughout the last few years. Finally, Steph. You have been amazing throughout my PhD, particularly in the last days when I was trying to juggle so many other things at the same time. You have been there when I needed you, and I have never been happier than when you arrived in Kavieng. I will keep bringing you early morning brownies for the rest of my days.

### ABSTRACT

Responding appropriately to predators is essential for prey animals to maximise fitness and survival. Non-lethal predator-prey dynamics can have large effects on how animals use and perceive their environment. The understanding of predator escape behaviour in animals can play an important role in conservation and management, with implications for human/wildlife interactions, particularly hunting and tourism. In this thesis I use coral reef fish as model organisms to examine our existing knowledge of factors influencing prey flight response in the context of marine ecosystems. I go on to examine how fishing and protection from fishing influences the flight behaviour of fishery target coral reef fishes through the use of no-take reserves (NTRs) and periodically harvested closures (PHCs).

Flight initiation distance (FID - how close a predator can get to an animal before it flees) is widely used when investigating how prey animals respond to predation, and has been utilised in systems where humans are predators or otherwise disturb wildlife (e.g., through tourism such as bird watching). However, the use of FID in the marine realm prior to this thesis was limited. Studies investigating FID vary in methodology and many of the potential confounding effects inherent to in-water estimation of FID have yet to be investigated. In Chapter 2, I compared the relative effects of spear guns, dive gear (SCUBA vs. free diving), observer bias and protection from fishing on estimates of FID. FID in areas protected from fishing was, on average, 141 cm lower than in fished areas, with no difference found between treatments for either dive gear or speargun. Management status explained 60% of the variation in FID estimates, while differences between observers only accounted for 4%. Size was highly significant, with larger fishes being associated with greater FID in every treatment. These findings imply that fishes use only limited predator attributes as cues for flight, and that the response of fishes to these attributes is amplified in areas of higher predation risk. In Chapter 3 I examined how FID changed across a range of families and fishing pressures on coral reefs in Papua New Guinea. I surveyed FID, fish size, group size and pre-flight behaviour of two families commonly targeted by spearfishers - Acanthuridae and Scaridae - and four families that were less common in the spearfish catch – Balistidae, Lutjanidae, Mullidae and Serranidae (groupers) across four levels of fishing pressure. Increases in fishing pressure were associated with increases in FID for Acanthuridae, Balistidae, Mullidae, and Scaridae, while FID of Lutjanidae and Serranidae showed no relationship with fishing pressure. Notably, mean FID of Lutjanids was greater than the mean effective range (MER) of spear guns, while the mean FID of Serranids was lower than other families. Larger individuals tended to flee earlier, particularly at moderate or high fishing pressures, while group size and preflight behaviour differed between families, but showed low concordance with fishing pressure. These findings indicate that the relationship between size and FID of coral reef fishes is more complex than has previously been presented, and that an interaction between predation experienced by fish families and traits such as territoriality or trophic level, may be important in determining FID.

One of the benefits expected from NTRs is spillover of adult biomass to adjacent fishery grounds, through density dependent export or random movement of fishes across NTR borders. Fishes with little experience of predation may transport non-wary behaviours across the borders of marine reserves, resulting in a gradient of increasing FID with distance from the reserve border. In Chapter 4 I examined FID and biomass of Acanthuridae and Scaridae, and one non-target family (Chaetodontidae) across the borders of three NTRs and three control borders within fished areas in the Philippines. FID only increased significantly with distance from the NTR centre for the two fishery families at NTRs, and remained below FID recorded in fished areas until 140 m outside the NTR, significantly further than spillover of biomass. These reductions in FID are likely to lead to increased catchability of fishes near NTRs. While this may increase

viii

local support for management, changes in catchability may give rise to inaccurate estimates of NTR effects on fish biomass and abundance.

Across the South Pacific, PHCs are often utilised in place of NTRs, with the specific aim of taming fishes to increase catchability and produce high yields during harvests. Using a before-after-control-impact-pair design, in Chapter 5 I investigated whether PHCs in Vanuatu had similar effects on fish FID and biomass as NTRs, and the effects of a single harvest. Catch per unit effort was higher during the harvest than for regular fishing, and this was linked to FID of Acanthuridae being lower than MER of spear guns in PHCs. Acanthuridae also increased as a proportion of the catch, and showed substantially lower biomass in PHCs than NTRs, even with no detectable effect of the harvest on UVC estimates of biomass. The effects of PHCs are attuned to the expectations of local communities. However, differences in the magnitude of behavioural changes between fishery-target families may result in contrasting outcomes of PHC management regimes.

In Chapter 6 I tested whether predictions of increased FID with increased predation risk, size of individual and availability of refuge were consistent across a broad range of fishing pressures around protected areas and inside fished areas. I included FID of fishes from the Chagos Archipelago, which is a completely unfished population, and FID from areas in Vanuatu, Philippines and Papua New Guinea. FID in fished areas was consistently higher than protected areas across the spectrum of fishing pressure. Both in fished areas and protected areas, fishing pressure had the most support explaining FID, followed by fish size then refuge availability. Life-history stage was not a significant predictor. These results show that fishing effects such as increases in wariness can be imported into marine reserves, and supports predictions of increases in FID with increased predation risk and size (as a loose proxy for reproductive values).

ix

Previous studies have shown increases in FID with hunting, a result confirmed here for coral reef fishes. Experience of predation and some prey conditional and environmental factors can all have significant influences on FID. In contrast, little evidence was found for other factors such as predator attributes or group size. In general, I found that the level of predation risk in the environment tends to have the largest effect on FID (Chapters 2), while fish family, prey size and environmental variables had small but significant effects (Chapters 3, 6). These results have important implications for management, showing that changes in fish behaviour can positively influence fishing on during the harvest of PHCs (Chapter 5), and around the borders of NTRs (Chapter 6), both of which may help increase stakeholder support for management. Temporary changes in behaviour caused by management may increase the susceptibility of fishes to fishing gears, and reduce the impacts of protection. Furthermore, borders of NTRs are porous to behaviour, and fishery mediated behavioural changes may be ubiquitous within smaller NTRS within heavily fished seascapes (Chapter 6).

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Statement of access	i
Statement of sources	ii
Statement on the contributions of others	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Abstract	vii
Table of Contents	xi
List of Tables	xiii
List of Figures	xiv
Chapter 1: General Introduction	
1.1 Decision making and escape behaviour	
1.1.1 Flight initiation distance and marine fishes	7
1.2 Fisheries and fish behaviour	9
1.2.1 The role of no-take reserves in fish behaviour and fisheries	
1.3 Traditional coral reef management and fish behaviour	13
1.4 Aims and thesis outline	
1.5 Study sites	18
Chapter 2: Influence of spear guns, dive gear and observers on estin	nating
fish flight initiation distance on coral reefs	20
2.1 Introduction	20
2.2 Methods	22
2.2.1 Study sites and design	22
2.2.2 Flight initiation distance	23
2.2.3 Data analysis	25
2.3 Results	26
2.4 Discussion	30
2.5 Acknowledgements	33
2.6 Summary	
Chapter 3: Fear of fishers: human predation explains behavioral cha	anges
in coral reef fishes	······ 34
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Methods	
3.2.1 Study sites and design	
3.2.2 Selection of focal families	
3.2.3 Behaviour and flight initiation distance	
3.2.4 Data analysis	
3.3 Results	
3.4 Discussion	
3.5 Acknowledgements	
3.6 Summary	56
Chapter 4: Spillover of fish naïveté from marine reserves	56
4.1 Introduction	56

4.2 M	ethods	58
4.2.1	Study sites	58
4.2.2	Fish behaviour and reef community surveys	60
4.3.3	Data analysis	61
4.3 Re	esults	
4.4 D	iscussion	73
4.5 Ac	knowledgements	
4.6 St	ımmary	
Chanter	-• Fishery banafits from babayioural modification of fishe	s in
noriodic	b. Fishery benefits from benavioural mounication of fishe ally harvastad fisherias closuras	-5 III 
E 1 In	troduction	
5.1 III 5.2 M	athode	00 ຂາ
5.2 M	Study sites and management context	თე დე
5.2.1	Effects of periodically harvested closures on fish behaviour	۵3 ۸ ع
5.2.2	Impact of periodically harvested closures on fish and benthic com	munitiog
5.2.3	impact of periodically narvested closures on fish and bentific com	86 R
504	Effects of poriodically howested closures on estab	00 9 <del>0</del>
5.2.4	Effects of periodically harvested closures of catch	\0 00
5.2.5	Data allalysis	00
5.3 Ke	Effects of periodically horizontal elegences on figh helperiour	
5.3.1	Effects of periodically harvested closures on fish and hanthis	
5.3.2	impact of periodically narvested closures on fish and benthic	
comm	Effects of a griedically horizontal algorithms on eatah	
5.4.3	Effects of periodically narvested closures on catch	
5.4 DI	scussion	
5.5 AC	knowledgements	101
5.6 Su	Immary	102
Chapter	6: Variation in fish flight initiation distance with protection	on across
a gradier	nt of fishing pressure	104
6.1 In	troduction	104
6.2 M	ethods	105
6.2.1	Study sites	105
6.2.2	Fishing Pressure	
6.2.1	Data analysis	
6.3 Re	esults	
6.4 Di	scussion	112
6.5 Ac	knowledgements	114
6.6 Su	mmary	
Chanter '	7: General Discussion	117
7 1 Pr	edator escape behaviour	118
7.9 Im	uplications for management	199
79 Fu	ture research directions	107
7.5 Tu	ncluding remarks	/∠1
7.4 CC		ے <sub>01</sub>
Literatur	e Cited	133
Appendix	x A: Other peer-reviewed articles published during my	
candidat	ure	156

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 2.1</b> Observer was management	Results of nested ANCOVA of flight initiation distance for treatments. nested inside spear gun presence, nested inside dive type, nested inside
<b>Table 2.2</b> including Tul	Results from analysis of covariance between observers for each treatment xey's post-hoc comparison
Table 2.3Sinitiation distof significance	Summary of coefficients of variation (CV) of estimates of fish flight tance for each observer, gear, dive, and management type and ANOVA test e
<b>Table 3.1</b> with fishing p covariates	Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) results of flight initiation distance (cm) pressure as a fixed factor and fish body size (cm TL) and group size as 
<b>Table 3.2</b> body size (cm	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> values of linear regression analysis of flight initiation distance with TL) and group size reported by family and fishing ground
<b>Table 4.1</b> distance resp	Candidate ecological equations used to model fish flight initiation onse across the boundary of marine reserves
Table 4.2estimated at	Species and number of individuals for which flight initiation distance was each area
Table 4.2 co	ont
<b>Table 4.3</b> size inside an	Results of linear regression of fish flight initiation distance weighted by d outside of no-take reserves and control areas for all families
Table 4.3 co	ont
Table 4.4 with distance terms	Best-fit models of the relationship between fish flight initiation distance e from the reserve boundary. See Table 4.1 for definition of parameter 
<b>Table 4.5</b> across marir biomass and	Details of best-fit models for pooled Acanthuridae and Scaridae biomass ne reserve boundaries, and estimates for extent of spillover for both FID
Table 5.1	Summary of indicators and methods used to answer research questions
Table 5.2range of speacombination,	Results of 2-sample t-tests between mean FID and maximum effective rgun for target families at each village and management area pre- and post-harvest
<b>Table 5.3</b> periodic closu	Composition of catches by fish family during normal fishing activities and the harvests ( $n =$ number of fishing trips)
<b>Table 6.1.</b> protected and	Ranked best sets of models predicting fish flight initiation distance in I fished areas for Acanthuridae and Scaridae <b>108</b>
Table 6.2 protected and	Ranked best sets of models predicting fish flight initiation distance in I fished areas for Acanthuridae and Scaridae

## LIST OF FIGURES

**Figure 2.2** Change in flight initiation distance ( $\Delta$ FID) in cm for each factor. The  $\Delta$ FID for 'Gear' is the mean difference in FID between the 4 treatments with a artificial spear gun compared to the 4 treatments with no spear gun; for 'Dive', the mean difference between the 4 treatments free-diving compared to the 4 treatments using SCUBA; and for 'Management', the mean difference for the 4 treatments in the fished area compared to the 4 in the MPA. Data for the three observers is combined for each factor. Error bars represent ± 1 SE. **28** 

**Figure 3.1** Mean flight initiation distance (FID) (cm  $\pm$  S.E) at each fishing ground for six coral reef fish families. FID was estimated for individuals of six families of coral reef fishes at four different fishing pressures. From left to right within each family, bars are: Kavulik NTR (no fishing); Ungakum (low fishing pressure); Nusa (intermediate fishing pressure); and Mongol (high fishing pressure). If significant differences existed in FID within families at different fishing grounds, grounds were grouped by similarity (a, b and c). Dashed line is maximum distance at which rifle-style spear guns used in New Ireland province are considered effective [approximately 310 cm, Feary et al. (2011)].

**Figure 3.3** Effects of group size on flight initiation distance of Acanthuridae. Group size (number of individuals) plotted against FID (cm) for Acanthuridae. Black circles,

**Figure 3.4** Pre-flight behaviour of six reef fish families across four fishing grounds with different fishing pressures. Total occurrence (%) of fishes displaying each category of pre-flight behaviour for: (a) Acanthuridae; (b) Scaridae; (c) Balistidae; (d) Lutjanidae; (e) Mullidae; and (f) Serranidae across four reef areas in Papua New Guinea. Darkest shading indicates no notice behaviour, followed by tacking away, orientating towards refuge, watching, and inspecting as shading becomes lighter .......**47** 

**Figure 5.1** Study area in North Efate, Vanuatu, South Pacific. Large dark green areas are the islands of Nguna and Pele, open polygons are open fished areas, green polygons periodically harvested closures, and orange polygons permanent no-take marine reserves. **83** 

**Figure 6.2.** Random intercept coefficients by Country for: A) Acanthuridae protected; B) Acanthuridae fished; C) Scaridae protected; and D) Scaridae fished. Ch: Chagos, PNG: Papua New Guinea, Ph: Philippines, Van: Vanuatu. Error bars are 95% CI......**111** 

#### **CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

Most animals have predators. For those that do, responding appropriately to predation risk is critical for enhancing fitness and reproductive success. For example, if an animal is slow to respond to the presence of predators, injury or death is likely to result. Alternatively, if an animal responds too early, or disproportionally (i.e., flees too far) to predation, it may forego mating and feeding opportunities (Ydenberg & Dill 1986). The experience of prey, the type of predator and other physiological and environmental attributes (such as crypsis and resource availability) can potentially influence an animal's decision to flee, and play important roles in mediating animal behaviour (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005).

These types of non-consumptive predator-prey behavioural dynamics can affect how humans interact with and benefit from nature by influencing tourism and hunting opportunities, human and wildlife conflicts, and through the alteration of key ecosystem processes upon which people depend. For example, in the absence of natural predators, prey animals may become less wary, reducing vigilance levels and causing them to venture further from shelter when foraging (Halofsky & Ripple 2008; Madin et al. 2010a). This can result in large changes in ecosystem structure, such as in the northern United States of America where the extirpation of grey wolves in the mid 20th Century resulted in overgrazing of aspen, cottonwood and other trees by elk (Beschta 2003; Ripple & Beschta 2004), an effect reversed when the reintroduction of wolves changed fine-scale predation risk of elks (Halofsky & Ripple 2008). After reintroduction of wolves, elk changed their habitat use, moving to higher elevations, denser forests and steeper slopes. These areas are relatively inaccessible, and are likely to decrease both the likelihood of tourists encountering elk, and hunting success of wolves (Creel et al. 2005; Proffitt et al. 2010). The role of prey decision-making about habitat use and when to flee in response to predation risk and anthropogenic disturbance has been widely studied in terrestrial and freshwater taxa (reviewed in Brown 2003; Stankowich & Blumstein 2005). This understanding of the behavioural ecology of animals has the potential to play an important role in conservation and management. Flight behaviour has informed the creation of buffer or set back zones to reduce disturbance to breeding birds or avoid the stress of an encounter with an observer that may be mistaken for a predator (Fox & Madsen 1997; Miller et al. 2001; Glover et al. 2011). Investigating how animals will react to different stimuli has also been used to regulate the type of interactions to minimise disturbance [e.g., type of vehicle used for tourism (reviewed in Stankowich 2008; Weston et al. 2012)]. However, there is still relatively little consideration given to how non-lethal effects of predation impacts can be utilised in natural resource management (Cromsigt et al. 2013).

Predation by humans is often a strong structuring force in ecosystems, primarily through reducing the density and abundance of target species. The effects of such depletions can have important consequences for humans and ecosystems, and have been well studied (e.g., Castilla 1999; Wilkie & Carpenter 1999; Jackson et al. 2001; Ward & Myers 2005; Worm et al. 2009; Babcock et al. 2010). For example, many of the world's fisheries are overexploited, with stocks a fraction of historical sizes (Mora et al. 2009; Worm et al. 2009). In order to exploit smaller and smaller stocks, fishers will invest in new technology, move to new areas, or practice techniques that may previously have been considered destructive. At lower levels of exploitation than that imposed by industrial fisheries, behaviour of prey may be modified substantially. Small amounts of variability in hunting pressure can lead to large differences in escape responses in many animals hunted for recreation or at subsistence levels. For example, significant increases in vigilance behaviours and flight responses were observed in two Impala populations in Zimbabwe, where hunting pressure increased from ~ 0.7% of the

population being killed annually to ~ 2% (Matson et al. 2005). Similar results have been shown between Roe deer populations in the Netherlands, where areas where ~ 3% of the population were removed each year showed flight initiation distance (FID) approximately 50% lower than areas where ~ 10% of the population were removed each year (de Boer et al. 2004), Similarly, temperate and tropical reef fishes have shown changes in escape response even with relatively low increases in fishing pressure (Cole 1994; Gotanda et al. 2009). Knowledge by prey of appropriate behavioural responses can negatively influence success rates of hunters and fishers (Askey et al. 2007; Grau & Grau 1980). While undoubtedly useful in conservation and animal welfare contexts in the terrestrial realm, due to the role of humans as major predators in many marine ecosystems adoption of predator escape behaviour into marine natural resource management may be of particular value.

#### **1.1 DECISION MAKING AND ESCAPE BEHAVIOUR**

The primary method by which predator escape behaviour is quantified is using the metric flight initiation distance (FID). This is a measure of how closely a predator can approach a prey animal before it flees. The economic model of prey flight has largely guided the use of FID in assessments of prey-escape decision-making (Fig. 1.1). In this model, FID occurs at the distance where cost of leaving (which increases with distance from predator) is equal to the costs of remaining (which decrease with distance from predator) (Ydenberg & Dill 1986). The rates of change for these costs are altered by various factors such as resource quality (e.g., leaving a high-quality food source increases the cost of leaving), or predator characteristics (e.g., the speed of approach will cause the costs of remaining to increase more rapidly). While this model was the foundation for research into prey-escape behaviour for 20 years, it is considered conceptually flawed because a prey animal can do no better than 'break-even' during an

encounter with a predator. Optimal escape models, which presume animals act in a manner to maximise benefits, allow for more complete explanations about how interactions between attributes such as life-history strategy, predator characteristics, lethality of encounter and levels of predation risk in the landscape influence FID (Cooper & Frederick 2007; 2010). While neither the economic or optimal models allow quantitative predictions to be made about FID due to imperfect knowledge of fitness functions and the prey animal's imperfect knowledge of the environment, predictions from both models have been useful in assessing relative influences of variables influencing the FID of prey animals.



**Figure 1.1** The economic model of flight initiation distance (FID). The probability of capture by a predator is proportional to distance of the prey from the predator (cost of remaining), and reaches a maximum when distance = 0. Energetic costs of fleeing are considered to be negligible and therefore cost of flight is equivalent to opportunity costs and increases linearly with distance from the predator (Flight). Therefore, increased cost of flight decreases FID (dLL < dHL) while increased probability of capture has the opposite response (dHH > dLH) (adapted from Ydenberg and Dill 1986).

How prey species perceive the intensity of predatory threat in the landscape is one of the major factors influencing FID. The importance that prey animals place on predator, prey and environmental attributes will determine the level of perceived risk, and FID should increase with increasing levels of perceived predation risk (Helfman 1989). While the influence of various factors on FID varies in magnitude among species and taxa, in general the effects are unidirectional. A meta-analysis of studies measuring FID identified predator characteristics, refuge availability and prey experience as having the largest effects and most statistical support in predicting FID, along with other factors such as patch quality, ground cover, reproductive state, prey morphology, and prey group size (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005). Individual attributes, such as prey size (which may be a proxy for ability to escape) have also been shown to be influential in other studies (Ydenberg & Dill 1986).

Larger (Dill 1974; Helfman & Winkelman 1997), and more direct predators (Burger & Gochfeld 1990; Cooper 2003a; Bateman & Fleming 2011), along with speedier approaches (Lord et al. 2001, Cooper 2003a, b; Stankowich & Coss 2007) will all induce flight earlier in an encounter. There is also evidence of discrimination between predators by some prey species. For example, Thomson's gazelle (*Gazella thomsoni*) show highest FID for wild dogs as predators, then sequentially diminishing FID for cheetahs, lions, hyenas and jackals (Walther 1969). Similar effects have been shown for the Alpine marmot (*Marmota marmota*) where a human with a dog initiated flight earlier than a human alone (Louis & Le Berre 2000). Interestingly, there is little evidence that prey animals are able to differentiate between threatening and non-threatening behaviour of natural predators within species (Helfman & Winkelman 1997), or between hunters and hikers (Stankowich & Coss 2007; Thiel et al. 2007). However, Ibis were able to identify the gaze direction of an approaching human observer, with direct gaze leading to larger FID (Bateman & Fleming 2011).

As with predator characteristics, some environmental characteristics may also have significant effects on FID. In a study on parrotfishes the distance to the nearest refuge (ledge, hole in reef) was a significant determinant of FID in response to approaching SCUBA divers, with higher distances being associated with higher FID (Gotanda et al. 2009). Similar effects in response to a human observer have been shown for other fishes (McClean & Godin 1989), lizards (Cooper 2003a) and marmots (Louis & Le Berre 2000). Other important environmental factors include patch quality, with animals being more reluctant to leave higher quality areas, and increased FID with longer lines of sight (reviewed in Stankowich & Blumstein 2005).

Reproductive state and animal morphology can also be important, with gravid female lizards showing lower FID (due to increased energetic costs of escape), while cryptic colouring and armour are also thought to reduce FID (Ydenberg & Dill 1986; Stankowich & Blumstein 2005). The effect of group size is less clear-cut. There is nonrobust evidence for increase in FID with group size in ungulates (Stankowich 2008), which may be due to increased vigilance, or increased likelihood of a wary individual in a given group (discussed in Stankowich & Coss 2007; Stankowich 2008). However, the dilution effect in large groups (which reduces per-capita risk) is likely to result in lower FID than in small groups, and seems to be prevalent in the aquatic realm. Schools of fish tend to show reduced FID compared to individual fish (Abrahams 1995; Helfman & Winkelman 1997), and exhibit compaction effects (Magurran & Pitcher 1987). The effect of the size of the prey individual on FID is similarly less than robust and may vary by species (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005). Size is likely to be affiliated with fitness, and larger individuals will realise lower relative benefits from remaining (Ydenberg & Dill 1986). Evidence for the effect of size from aquatic studies, show this relationship is inconsistent (e.g., Gotanda et al. (2009) found a significant effect of size on FID of reef fishes, while Feary et al. (2011) did not). Gotanda et al. (2009) grouped fishes into two size classes depending on likelihood of being targeted by fishers, and the increased FID

in larger fishes may be due to target status, rather than an assessment of risk based on initial fitness.

Overall, prey experience has arguably the largest influence on FID (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005). More frequent interactions with predators or witnessing of predation events are likely to increase perception of predation risk, and thus FID. The majority of studies that investigate prey experience have used density of predators as a proxy for prey experience and density of humans as a proxy for disturbance stimuli (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005), under the assumption that they will induce similar risk assessments as natural predators (Frid & Dill 2002). However, many of these studies appear to show the effect of habituation to human presence, with lower FID when density of humans is high, an effect that does not hold for species that are hunted. For these species, FID is higher in areas where hunters are present (de Boer et al. 2004; Stankowich 2008; Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011) or during hunting seasons (Thiel et al. 2004).

#### 1.1.1 Flight initiation distance and marine fishes

Studies using FID to assess the impacts of fishing on predator escape behaviour are few. Prior to beginning my PhD, only two studies (Cole 1994; Gotanda et al. 2009) had previously looked at FID in response to fishing, and a third was published shortly after my starting (Feary et al. 2011). The role of various factors in altering FID, including fish size, group size, predation threat and predator recognition in such a context remained unclear. Significantly, the three studies mentioned above only tested FID in the presence and absence of fishing and did not assess gradients of predation risk either through varying predator attributes, or for different levels of predation threat in the landscape (i.e., across a gradient of fishing pressure). Furthermore, these studies were conducted on SCUBA and without the presence of fishing gears (e.g., a spear gun). This may not be an accurate facsimile of fishers on coral reefs, who generally fish using breath-hold diving and with a spear gun or other gear (Gillett & Moy 2006). Fishes have been shown to recognise and respond to acoustic cues from SCUBA (Chapman et al. 1974; Cole et al. 2006), and have the visual acuity to see if a diver is or is not holding a spear gun (McGill & Mittelbach 2006). If a fish is able to discern the presence or absence of these cues from an approaching diver, and thus act appropriately by either increasing FID in the presence of threat cues or decreasing FID in their absence, it should gain a fitness advantage over those fishes that do not (Cooper & Frederick 2007).

Pre-flight behaviours of an animal after detection of a predator can be indicative of risk assessment. Pre-flight behaviour can take various forms, such as inspection behaviour (Pitcher et al. 1986), or alteration in body position (Magurran & Higham 1988). These behaviours may pass on information to other prey animals in the vicinity, thus providing a general alarm signal, or can inform a predator that prey are aware of its presence, but may be detrimental to individual survival. For example, inspection behaviour as described in Pitcher et al. (1986), whilst allowing a prey fish to gauge a predator's intent, might increase vulnerability to spearfishers because it reduces the range. Similarly, alteration of body position to maintain eye contact with a spearfisher potentially increases the profile of a fish, and thus the target area. Pre-flight behaviours that convey a fitness disadvantage are likely to be less common under increased predation risk. Refuge choice has also been shown as vulnerable to change with increased predation pressure, although the relationship between refuge and FID is complex: Gotanda et al. (2009) considered only the reef structure as a refuge, despite open water being an effective refuge from spearfishers (Guidetti et al. 2008). For behaviour to be useful as a tool in fisheries management and conservation on coral reefs, FID, pre-flight behaviour, and refuge choice are important factors to consider when discussing how protection and fishing alters behaviour and susceptibility to fishing gears.

#### **1.2 FISHERIES AND FISH BEHAVIOUR**

Fish behaviours have evolved under pressure from predators and environmental constraints to maximise chances of survival to maturity and subsequent reproductive success. While many of these behaviours were no doubt adaptive in the face of natural predators such as piscivorous fishes, birds and mammals, humans fishing (fishers) now exploit several of these behaviours. Schooling behaviour can reduce overall mortality from predators such as sharks that can only take one or a few individuals from a school, or can increase reproductive output. However, when predators that can exploit such concentrations of prey efficiently (e.g., humans) are introduced into the system, this behaviour no longer mitigates predation risk, with fishers using trawls or purse seines able to capture large portions of fish schools (Parrish 1999; Pitcher & Hart 2000). Artisanal fishers often take advantage of more predictable aggregations of fishes. For example, In the South Pacific, spawning aggregations of the Serranids Epinephelus fuscoguttatus, E. polyphekadion and Plectropomus areolatus are targeted due to their predictable occurrence around the new or full moon (Hamilton et al. 2005) and high value (Sadovy 2005; Rhodes & Tupper 2007). Artisanal night-time fishing of these aggregations when fish are resting can be up to 30 times more efficient than during normal fishing activities, with two spearfishers able to catch between 15 and 30% of *Plectropomus areolatus* biomass at the aggregation over only two nights of fishing (Hamilton et al. 2012). Other fishing techniques are designed to exploit fish behaviour by turning adaptive behaviour into maladaptive responses to stimuli, which result in capture of the fishes (Ferno 1993). By using attractive cues such as sound (e.g., sprinkling water on the ocean surface in order to mimic baitfish schools – Rodríguez-Marín et al. 2002), object attraction (many species are attracted to, and will gather under floating objects in the open ocean - Hunter & Mitchell 1966) or light, schools of fish can be concentrated to increase fishing efficiency (reviewed in Parrish 1999). Once concentrated, fishes can be prevented from fleeing through the use of repulsion cues. Such cues include perceived barriers like palm fronds in subsistence fisheries or air

curtains/bubble barriers (e.g., in the Japanese setnet fishery) which enhance harvesting success. It is here that predator-prey behaviour becomes important. By using lessons learned from predator-prey interactions, fishing gears and techniques can be refined to become more efficient, but species in heavily fished areas may alter their behaviour after repeated exposure to gears, which will in turn reduce catchability.

Fish behaviour can change in response to fishing pressure, either at the population level, or at the level of individual fishes. Fishing can exhibit bias by preferentially catching fishes that display certain behaviours (e.g., aggression towards intruders -Philipp et al. 2009), which can lead to overall shifts towards less aggressive or active behaviours across the population (Alós et al. 2012). Because fishes are being removed, they are not able to pass on learned experiences concerning fishing events, and less aggressive fishes become dominant in the population. In contrast, Askey et al. (2006) showed that in a catch and release fishery, that catchability of fishes reduces during the course of the fishing season. However, at the start of the next season, catchability is once again high. This effect most likely comes about due to strong short-term aversion learning by fishes that have experienced a fishing event. In marine systems, Cod (Gadhus morhua) have been shown to alter their position in the water column in response to trawl vessels, showing significant horizontal flight when the warps of a trawl are close (Handegard et al. 2003). In spearfishing areas in the Mediterranean, Sparid fishes (Diplodus spp.) chose flight to open water as refuge from intruders, while in no-take marine reserves (NTRs) embedded within the fished seascape, fish tended to choose holes in the substrate as refuge (Guidetti et al. 2008). Similarly, in NTRs on coral reefs, fish FID is substantially lower than in fished areas (Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011). In fact, outside NTRs mean FID of target species tends to be beyond the effective range of spearguns, while inside the NTRs FID is well inside speargun range (Fig. 1.2). These differences in behaviour between NTRs and fished areas may not be a result of population level effects, but rather learning at the level of individual

fishes, because fishes recruiting to both NTRs and fished areas are likely to originate from the same population (Harrison et al. 2012).

#### 1.2.1 The role of no-take reserves in fish behaviour and fisheries

NTRs are a popular and widespread conservation tool, and have attracted considerable attention for their potential as a fisheries management tool, particularly on coral reefs. Abundance of targeted species is generally significantly higher inside NTRs, and fishes often attain greater sizes (Lester et al. 2009; Graham et al. 2011). These effects are thought to have two significant consequences for fisheries management (Russ 2002). Firstly, preservation of large, fecund fishes will result in NTRs providing a supply of eggs and larvae to the wider population disproportionately large relative to the size of the reserve (Harrison et al. 2012). Secondly, the build-up of fish densities within a reserve will result in density-dependent movement of fishes across the boundaries of NTRs (as fish density increases in a NTR fishes will be displaced towards and then over NTR boundaries), replenishing adjacent fished areas (Zeller et al. 2003; Abesamis et al 2005; Goni et al. 2010). While there are many studies demonstrating increased abundance of fishes just outside NTR boundaries, using this as a proxy for spillover (Abesamis et al. 2005), there are very few studies that are able to directly relate increased catch per unit effort (CPUE) to increased abundance (but see Russ et al. 2004; Alcala et al. 2005). The most convincing evidence for spillover often comes from studies that use CPUE as a proxy for abundance (Russ et al. 2004; Alcala et al. 2005; Francini-Filho & Moura 2008; Goni et al. 2010). If catchability of fishes is greater when they have been resident in a NTR prior to being displaced to the fishery (Feary et al. 2011), differences in CPUE may reflect behavioural in addition to abundance effects. If, and how behavioural effects transfer across NTR boundaries is unknown.



**Figure 1.2** Mean flight initiation distance for selected species inside and outside a customary fishery closure area in Papua New Guinea (\* - significant difference). Grey lines indicate the mean distance ( $\pm$  SE cm) over which underwater visual census (n = 13), rifle-type spear guns (n = 7) and sling-type spear guns (n = 7) are effective. Figure from Feary et al. (2011), a paper on which I am an author.

Potentially, the mobility of species may drive both the spatial extent and the magnitude of reserve influence, with more mobile species showing little difference in FID across the boundary, whilst those with smaller ranges showing the greatest difference, as is proposed for spillover of biomass (Kaunda-Arara & Rose 2004). Alternatively, speciesspecific traits and species and family level responses to fishing may be more important, with the intrinsic level of wariness within a family as drivers. For *Lutjanus gibbus*, in which FID changes little between fished and unfished areas, may show no gradient in FID compared to *Chlorurus sordidus*, which shows a large influence of fishing on FID (Fig. 1.2). If naive behaviour does increase catchability of fishes just outside NTR boundaries, fishers may rapidly acquire a large proportion of biomass exported from the NTR. This mechanism may explain why there can be steep declines in biomass across the boundaries of marine reserves such as Apo Island in the Philippines, despite relatively light fishing in the area adjacent to the reserve (Abesamis et al. 2006a, b). This minimal reserve effect on abundance or biomass may hide more spatially extensive effects of marine reserves on the fish community through behaviourally mediated processes. For example, if fishes displaced from NTRs through densitydependence processes, or moderately vagile fishes with a portion of home-range inside NTRs, retain fisher-naive behaviour learned in marine reserves, can escape the immediate surrounds of the marine reserve the distance to which the reserve can have a positive effect on the local fishery could be extended.

## **1.3 TRADITIONAL CORAL REEF MANAGEMENT AND FISH BEHAVIOUR**

In much of the South Pacific coral reefs play an important role in food provision and livelihoods. In particular, coral reef fisheries make substantial economic and social contributions. Coral reef fisheries supply up to 90% of the protein requirement in some countries (Bell et al. 2009), and provide cash income through local and international markets for reef goods and tourism (Birkeland 1997; Moberg & Folke 1999; Sadovy et al 2003). Many coral reefs, particularly in island nations, are overexploited (Newton et al. 2007). Inarguably, the major reasons for this decline in coral reef fishery health is increased access to local and international markets and increased population pressure (McClanahan et al. 2008; Mora 2008). In concert with climate change and other anthropogenic pressures, this has led to global degradation in coral reef health (Hughes et al. 2003) and subsequently increased interest and effort in the management of coral

reefs (US Coral Reef Task Force 2000; Coral Triangle Initiative 2008; Hughes et al. 2010; Graham et al. 2011).

One of the primary management tools that has been promoted as a method to restore and maintain coral reef ecosystems is through the use of customary and comanagement systems. Much of the South Pacific has strong marine tenure or access and use rights over their coral reef fisheries (Johannes 2002). In such a societal context, consulting with and allowing resource user input into management rules is thought to increase social and ecological success of management (Brooks et al. 2012; Cinner et al. 2012). There is significant evidence that co-management or protected areas instituted under customary traditions can improve compliance with rules (Alcala & Russ 2006; McClanahan et al. 2006), and can maintain fish biomass and coral cover similar to that of permanent NTRs implemented by governmental or non-governmental actors (Cinner et al. 2005; McClanahan et al. 2006; Cinner et al. 2012). Many of these management arrangements include a mechanism by which protected areas are periodically or rotationally harvested, in keeping with customary management rules (Govan et al. 2009; Cohen & Foale 2013). In fisheries management theory, periodic closures are proposed as tools to increase harvest efficiency (McCallum 1988) and support ecosystem processes by maintaining an increased biomass of fish groups that are targeted by local fisheries (Game et al. 2009). The evidence that periodic or rotational closures can have comparable effects for the conservation of coral reef resources is ambiguous. Williams et al. (2006) reported significant declines in fish abundance within the rotational portion of a marine park in Hawai'i when compared to the permanently closed area. In comparison, McClanahan et al. (2006) showed significant increases in fish biomass in periodic harvested areas that were two to six times greater than those seen in national parks or co-managed areas. A third study (Bartlett et al. 2009) reported similar effects of permanent NTRs and periodic harvested closures on fish biomass. None of these studies reported any significant

influence of management on the benthic community. Within a customary management context, social and utilitarian goals may have higher priorities than the biological and ecosystem benefits that may accrue from management of marine resources; often temporarily increasing yields in order to produce large amounts of fish for a feast is the goal of a periodic closure, rather than enhancing ecosystem health or biodiversity (Aswani et al. 2007; Macintyre and Foale 2007).

The studies mentioned above, and the other studies that have been conducted on the effects of rotational or periodic closures, demonstrate the expectation that these types of management increase fishing efficiency through increased biomass and abundance of target species due to protection. There is evidence that this mechanism does act to increase fishing efficiency, with fishes caught inside a periodic closure in Manus province in PNG significantly larger than those caught during other fishing activities (Cinner et al. 2005). However, in the South Pacific, it is often the perception that periodic closures work by making fishes more catchable, with relief from predation resulting in a taming effect, whereby fishes become more approachable (Cinner et al. 2005; Macintyre & Foale 2007). While there is no direct evidence for this theory, recent studies showing that FID of fishes inside periodic closures are often within the effective range of spear guns, unlike in fished areas (Feary et al. 2011, Fig. 1.2), provides some support. However, fishes can acclimatise to increases in predation risk rapidly, and show appropriate predator responses after observing or otherwise sensing the alarm cues conspecifics (Suboski & Templeton 1989; Brown & Laland 2003). Increases in catchability due to behavioural change may be short-term, and thus increases in fishing efficiency may be rapidly reduced.

Harvests of periodic closures are often intense, and can capture significant proportions of the fish population. For example, in Manus, Papua New Guinea, a single harvest afternoon resulted in approximately 10% of the fish biomass being removed (Cinner et al. 2005). In Fiji a four week opening of a periodically harvested closure resulted in a

reduction of fish biomass of approximately 50% immediately post-harvest and almost 80% one year post-harvest (Jupiter et al. 2012). While these openings may only occur once per year, or even less frequently, species harvested may not fully recover if the period between openings is shorter than replenishment time (Russ & Alcala 1998; Cohen & Foale 2013). Furthermore, the impacts of this form of management on species that serve important functional roles on coral reefs, such as Scarids and Balistids (Bellwood et al. 2004) may be of concern, due to their vulnerability to spearfishing (Cinner & McClanahan 2008). Between rapid removal of biomass, and short-term behavioural effects, periodic closures may show only temporary benefits, while decreasing overall sustainability of reef ecosystems in comparison to NTRs. Understanding how the mechanisms inherent in how periodic closures increase fishing efficiency to meet social goals, whether by increasing abundance and size of fishes, their catchability, or a combination of both, is necessary to ensure the ecological sustainability of periodic closures as they are promoted throughout the South Pacific region.

#### **1.4 AIMS AND THESIS OUTLINE**

The overall goal of this thesis is to determine if variations in fishing pressure and protection from fishing alters coral reef fish behaviour, and the subsequent implications of this knowledge for both conservation and fisheries management. To address this goal, I addressed the following questions:

 How is fish flight initiation distance (FID) influenced by diving techniques, fishing gears and observers – are fishes able to identify and respond appropriately to threatening and non-threatening human intruders?

- 2. How do FID and other anti-predator responses of fishery target species change with fishing pressure, and how do prey characteristics such as size and group size influence FID?
- 3. Are the boundaries of no-take marine reserves porous to learned behaviour, and if so, across what spatial scale?
- 4. Do periodically harvested closures have significant impacts on fish behaviour, and what influence do any changes in behaviour have on harvest efficiency and the fish community?
- 5. What is the relationship between FID and fishing pressure over a wide gradient of fishing pressure both inside and outside marine reserves?

The various components of this thesis are laid out in the following five data chapters, four of which correspond to publications arising from this thesis. I start in Chapter 2 by establishing a standardised and robust method to estimate FID, assessing the relative effects of spearguns, dive gear, observer bias and no-take protection on FID estimates. In Chapter 3 I observed fish behaviour across a gradient of subsistence fishing pressure, investigating how both FID and pre-flight behaviour, of 6 fishery target families of coral reef fishes vary. This chapter enhanced my understanding of variation in vulnerability of reef fish families to different fishing gears. In Chapter 4 I investigated the export of fisher-naïve fish behaviour beyond the boundaries of NTRs, showing that reduced FID, and potentially increased catchability of coral reef fishes extends further than biomass spillover. I expand on these results, discussing their importance for stakeholder support, modelling of benefits from reserves and how they may help to explain disparate measures of the importance of spillover from observational and catch surveys. In Chapter 5 I conducted a before-after-controlimpact pair experiment on two PHCs, where FID and fish community composition
were assessed both prior to and post-harvest of the PHCs, and compared with nearby open fishing grounds, and NTRs. Linking this data with creel surveys recording the biomass and composition of catches, this study enabled me to assess the extent by which protection altered fish behaviour, and the effect on fishing efficiency. Finally, in Chapter 6 I analysed FID data from 24 sites across four countries to assess how FID varies across a wide gradient of fishing pressure on both fished reefs and protected reefs embedded within a wider fished seascape, and in an isolated, unfished population. I also compared the relative influence of other important characteristics, such as fish size and refuge availability to the effects of fishing pressure on FID. The chapters in this thesis were deliberately written as pieces of work suitable to be taken individually, but have an underlying theme that weaves them together into a coherent whole: demonstrating that anti-predator behaviour of coral reef fishes has implications for management and conservation.

## **1.5 STUDY SITES**

The work in this thesis was conducted at sites across four countries. Data for Chapters 2 and 5 were gathered in Vanuatu where the openings and closings of multiple PHCs were predictable and had a documented history, and the unique situation of both NTRs and open fished areas also situated within the same community tenure areas as the PHCs. For Chapter 3, I worked in New Ireland Province in Papua New Guinea (PNG). This area is home to human communities with a range of dependency on coral reef fisheries, giving rise to a wide gradient of fishing pressure in a relatively small geographic area, and where data about fishing pressure was available from a previous study in which I was involved. To estimate spillover of behaviour from NTRs in Chapter 4, I chose to work in the Philippines, where boundaries of NTRs are well defined and often demarcated by lines of buoys, in contrast to both PNG and Vanuatu, where the

exact extent of NTRs can be more nebulous. Chapter 6 combined data collected in all three of these countries and added a fourth, Chagos, which is an expansive wilderness area ( $\sim$ 10,000 km<sup>2</sup>) with populations of fishes that have never experienced fishing (Graham & McClanahan 2013).

# CHAPTER 2: INFLUENCE OF SPEAR GUNS, DIVE GEAR AND OBSERVERS ON ESTIMATING FISH FLIGHT INITIATION DISTANCE ON CORAL REEFS<sup>1</sup>

## 2.1 INTRODUCTION

Various aspects of the behaviour of fishes, such as schooling (Parrish 1999) and spawning aggregations (Hamilton et al. 2012), are exploited to increase fishing success. However, while evidence that fishing alters fish behaviour, and potentially fishing success has been reported from freshwater recreational fisheries (Cox & Walters 2002; Askey 2006) and commercial trawls (Pyanov & Zhuykov 1993), knowledge of the influence of behavioural changes on catchability of coral reef fishes is lacking despite indications that fishing can influence fish detectability (Kulbicki 1998). Using the metric flight initiation distance (FID), which estimates how close an animal can be approached before it flees (also referred to as flight or approach distance - Ydenberg & Dill 1986), it has been established that fishes on near-shore, shallow reefs open to fishing consistently flee from an observer at a greater distance than fishes in no-take marine reserves (NTRs) (Cole 1994; Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). Other factors have also been shown to influence FID, such as fish size (Gotanda et al. 2009; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011), distance from shelter (Gotanda et al. 2009), and vulnerability to fishing gear [e.g., mean Lutjanidae FID does not increase with fishing pressure and is consistently greater than the range of spear guns even in NTRs (Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 &

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Published as: Januchowski-Hartley FA, Nash KL, Lawton RJ (2012) Influence of spear guns, dive gear and observers on estimating fish flight initiation distance on coral reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series **469**:113-119. FA Januchowski-Hartley designed the study, collected and analysed data interpreted results and wrote the paper.

Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011)]. However management status appears to have the most consistent and largest influence.

Low fishing intensity or occasional poaching can have significant effects on coral reef fish communities (Jennings & Polunin 1996). However, methods such as underwater visual census (UVC) can show considerable variation when estimating fish abundances and biomass (McClanahan et al. 2007a) even at low fishing pressures (Jennings & Polunin 1996) and lack of compliance within NTRs may be obscured by this variation. In contrast, fish FID is more tractable to high levels of replication, is sensitive to even low levels of fishing (e.g., Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011) and, consequently, may be an alternative, more powerful tool to gauge levels of compliance with NTRs. Management may be further informed through the implications changes in FID have for success of certain fishing gears (e.g., increased FID may result in decreased efficiency of spear guns), and subsequent impacts on fisher decisionmaking (Feary et al. 2011). If this is to occur, knowledge of how possible biases may confound my interpretations of fish FID is essential.

Fish FID is estimated by an observer using either SCUBA gear or free-diving, who directly approaches a fish until it flees, and then measures the distance between him or herself and the location from which the fish fled (Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). Much of the fishing with spear guns on coral reefs is conducted by free-diving (Gillett & Moy 2006); in contrast the majority of fish FID studies investigating fishing effects have been conducted while using SCUBA (Cole 1994; Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011). There is convincing evidence that fishes will actively avoid SCUBA divers (Dickens et al. 2011) and will potentially allow closer approaches by snorkelers (Welsh & Bellwood 2012). Consequently fish FID estimated while using SCUBA could provide an inaccurate measure of FID in response to spearfishers. Additionally, in all studies of fish FID in response to fishing, FID has been estimated without either a spear gun or simulated spear gun substitute and for only one

observer (Cole 1994; Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). If fishes recognize a spear gun, or discern it as an extension of the diver's body, this could result in increased FID, particularly in fished areas. In order for FID to be appropriately tested, questions about the effects of dive type, spear gun presence and observer error/bias need to be answered. The aim of the present study was to examine the influence of these factors on estimates of fish FID, and to compare them between a permanently fished area and an NTR. Scaridae (parrotfishes) were used as the focal fish group, because: 1) they are commonly targeted with spear guns on coral reefs; 2) were locally abundant; and 3) are known to exhibit behavioural changes as a result of fishing (Gotanda et al. 2009; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011).

### 2.2 METHODS

#### 2.2.1 Study sites and design

This study was conducted during December 2011 on exposed fringing reefs in the Nguna-Pele Marine Protected Area Network, Vanuatu ( $17^{\circ}29$ 'S,  $168^{\circ}23$ 'E). The area is lightly populated, with most of the population relying on fishing, gardens or small-scale tourism for income (Bartlett 2009). This study was conducted in a permanent NTR that had been protected since 2004, and adjacent fished area. The NTR was 14 hectares in size and characterised by a continuous fringing reef that slopes from approximately 2 m depth at the reef crest to sand at approximately 12 m, with large detached sections of reef outside the main fringing structure. The fished area (approximately 21 hectares) has a very shallowly sloping reef, which extends 250 m out from the crest to between 14 and 16 m depth. Both areas had similar levels of coral cover (NTR:  $5.4 \pm 0.8$  % (S.E), fished area:  $3.5 \pm 0.5$  %) and habitat rugosity (NTR:  $3.1 \pm 0.1$ , fished area:  $2.4 \pm 0.3$ ) (Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a). Rugosity was visually appraised on a

6-point scale where: 0 to 5, where 0 = no vertical relief, 1 = low and sparse relief, 2 = low but widespread relief, 3 = moderately complex, 4 = very complex with numerous fissures and caves, 5 = exceptionally complex with numerous caves and overhangs (Polunin & Roberts 1993). All FID trials were conducted on the reef slope between 2 and 10 m depth in both the NTR and the fished area. Spearguns were the predominant gear used on these fringing reefs, with only one fisher out of 17 interviewed reporting using a different gear (gill net) and then only rarely (Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a). To avoid potential spillover of naive fish behaviour from the NTR, all observations in the fished area were conducted at greater than 200 m from the border with the NTR.

I chose a nested design for the study, with three observers nested within two levels of gear use (presence/absence spear gun), within two levels of dive gear (freediving/scuba), within two levels of management (NTR/fished area). This resulted in eight different treatments (2 x fishing gear \* 2 x dive gear \* 2 x management), with three replicates at the observer level within each treatment. Each area was surveyed once per day, with time of survey (morning/afternoon) equally distributed across areas. The treatment (spear gun presence and dive type) was selected at random for each survey. Spear guns in this area of Vanuatu are rifle-style spear guns, which propel a metal spear via use of rubber tubing, and vary between 120 and 180 cm in length. As it was not appropriate to take spear guns into the NTR, all observers used a piece of wood of approximately the same thickness and length as the locally used spear guns as a simulated "spear gun" in both the fished area and the NTR. All three observers wore similar dive gear throughout the study, consistent with clothing of local spearfishers.

#### 2.2.2 Flight initiation distance

To develop a standardized and repeatable method of approaching target fish that closely mimicked subsistence spearfishing techniques, I consulted with local spearfishers in the region and observed them during fishing activities. Many

spearfishers have idiosyncratic behaviours, and here I developed my method by conserving similarities between spearfishers. When free diving, a potential target fish was first identified from the surface. The observer (myself or a field assistant) would descend directly from the surface to the reef at approximately the same depth as the targeted fish, with a minimum horizontal distance of 8 m separation from the fish. The observer would lie horizontal just above the substrate and reorientate to the fish, ensuring that the fish had not been disturbed by the descent. Fishes were not targeted if they were engaged in territorial, mating or predator escape behaviour, or were obviously aware of observer presence before the approach began (e.g., had turned towards the observer). The observer then swam directly towards the fish at a constant speed (approximately 0.75 m s<sup>-1</sup>). When the fish fled, the observer placed a marker on the substrate directly beneath the point where their head was at the time of flight, and then a second marker on the substrate directly below the location of the fish when it fled. The distance (cm) between these markers was measured and recorded as the FID. Only fish that were close to the substrate were approached in order to minimise error through misidentifying the part of the substrate that was directly below the fish when in fled.

Flight was considered to occur when either a fast-start escape response ("C-start" Domenici & Blake 1997) or a noticeable increase in swimming speed in conjunction with a change in behaviour or orientation away from the diver was observed. While free-diving care was taken at every stage to minimise other flight cues by minimising sounds generated by air bubbles and breaking the surface, while keeping movements slow and deliberate. When using SCUBA, potential target fishes were identified from ~ 10 m distance at a similar depth to the diver, using the same criteria, and estimating FID using the same protocol. When simulated "spear guns" were present, observers would hold the spear gun horizontally in front of their face and pointing directly at the target fish prior to beginning the approach, imitating the approach of local

spearfishers. For both snorkel and SCUBA diving trials a dive buddy remained in the vicinity, but did not move with the observer, and remained further away than the observer from the focal fish at all times.

Prior to approach observers estimated fish total length (cm TL) and only targeted individuals greater than 15 cm TL; there was no upper limit on body size. Observer fish TL estimates were validated daily by estimating lengths of PVC pipes until estimates were consistently within 2 cm of actual length. If line of sight between the diver and fish was broken prior to flight, or the target fish was chased by or chased a con- or hetero-specific competitor during the approach the observer abandoned the trial. To minimise the chance of approaching a target fish that had been disturbed by a previous trial, consecutive trials were conducted a minimum of 10 m apart, and in the opposite direction to which a disturbed fish fled. To establish the sample sizes required to detect differences in FID, I performed a power analysis in the MiniTab 14 statistical package. This analysis used data on the differences and variance in mean FID of Scarids obtained from a separate study with one observer using free-diving in the same fished area and NTR (Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a). Data were analysed in a one-way ANOVA model, with a total of 24 levels (8 treatments \* 3 observers), and tested for an *n* of 5, 10, 15 and 20. At a sample size of n = 15, a power of 0.98 was achieved, compared to 0.86 at n = 10 and 0.99 at n = 20; therefore a sample size of n =15 was selected for this study.

#### 2.2.3 Data analysis

Mean fish TL  $\pm$  SE was 24.8  $\pm$  0.4 cm inside the NTR (range 14 – 55 cm) and was significantly larger than the mean of 22.3  $\pm$  0.3 cm (range 15 – 37 cm) in the fished area (one-way ANOVA,  $F_{1,358} = 18.54$ , P < 0.001). Therefore I included fish size as a covariate in an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) to control for potential differences in FID due to size, and assessed differences in FID between treatments using a four-level nested analysis where observer was nested within spear gun presence, nested within dive type,

nested within management. FIDs were square root transformed to meet assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance. Variance components were calculated to assess the relative contributions of each level in accounting for differences in FID. Mean changes in FID (adjusted for size) between gear, dive type and management were calculated to find absolute differences in FID estimates.

I also evaluated two components of error. First, I determined if there were systematic errors in FID estimation between observers within treatments using ANCOVA. Posthoc Tukey's tests were used to identify which observers were significantly different from each other and to identify if one observer consistently estimated longer or shorter FID compared to other observers (observer bias). Second, I evaluated the variability in FID estimation between factors and observers (precision) by calculating a coefficient of variation (CV) for each observer in each of the eight treatments. I used a one-way ANOVA to test for differences in CV between observers, gear use, dive gear, and management.

## 2.3 RESULTS

The mean FID of parrotfishes in the NTR was 284.3 ± 6.7 cm compared to the fished area average FID of 417.4 ± 7.6 cm. The nested ANCOVA revealed significant differences in fish FID between management regimes and observers (Table 2.1). However, neither the presence of a spear gun, nor whether the observer was free-diving or using SCUBA gear was associated with significant differences in FID (Table 2.1). FID in the fished area was consistently higher than for the same treatment in the NTR and did not significantly vary within each management area, either by dive type or through spear gun presence (Fig. 2.1). Fish TL was a highly significant covariate ( $F_{1,335} = 63.07$ , P < 0.001; Table 2.1). Inspection of variance components confirms that management status had the largest influence on FID, explaining almost 60% of the variance (Table

2.1). The mean ( $\pm$  SE) fish FID was 141 cm  $\pm$  13.2 greater in the fished area than in the NTR for the same combination of gear and dive type, compared to an increase of 26 $\pm$  8.9 cm, when only spear gun presence differed between treatments, and 21  $\pm$  17.9 cm when snorkel was used rather than SCUBA (Fig. 2.2).

**Table 2.1**Results of nested ANCOVA of flight initiation distance for treatments.Observer was nested inside spear gun presence, nested inside dive type, nested insidemanagement.

Treatment	d.f.	F	Р	Variation explained (%)
Management	1	34.13	0.027	58.9
Dive Type	2	2.84	0.171	2.3
Spear gun Presence	4	1.18	0.358	0.4
Observer	16	2.71	< 0.001	4.0
Error	335			34.4
Covariate				
Size	1	63.07	< 0.001	



**Figure 2.1** Mean flight initiation distance estimates in centimetres for each observer (indicated by different levels of shading) for each of eight treatments (2 management \* 2 dive types \* 2 gear types). Asterisks indicated where significant

differences were found between observers within the same treatment (one-way ANCOVA). Error bars represent  $\pm$  1 SE.



**Figure 2.2** Change in flight initiation distance ( $\Delta$ FID) in cm for each factor. The  $\Delta$ FID for 'Gear' is the mean difference in FID between the 4 treatments with a artificial spear gun compared to the 4 treatments with no spear gun; for 'Dive', the mean difference between the 4 treatments free-diving compared to the 4 treatments using SCUBA; and for 'Management', the mean difference for the 4 treatments in the fished area compared to the 4 in the MPA. Data for the three observers is combined for each factor. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  SE.

Management	Dive Type	Gear Presence	df	F	Р	Size	Tukey's
NTR	Snorkel	No spear	2,44	0.48	0.624	$NS^a$	
		Spear	2,44	10.45	< 0.001	***	FJ > RL
	SCUBA	No spear	2,44	0.18	0.838	**	
		Spear	2,44	0.39	0.680	***	
Fished	Snorkel	No spear	2,44	4.72	0.014	NS	FJ < KN
		Spear	2,44	3.03	0.059	**	
	SCUBA	No spear	2,44	0.29	0.752	**	
		Spear	2,44	0.51	0.607	***	

**Table 2.2**Results from analysis of covariance between observers for each<br/>treatment including Tukey's post-hoc comparison.

<sup>a</sup> NS = not significant; \*\* = P < 0.01; \*\*\* = P < 0.001

Within treatment ANCOVA for observer differences identified statistically significant differences between observers for two treatments; inside the NTR with a spear gun both using SCUBA ( $F_{2,44} = 4.72$ , P = 0.014), and snorkel ( $F_{2,44} = 10.45$ , P < 0.001) (Table 2.1, Fig. 2.1). In both cases the differences occurred between a different pair of observers (Table 2.2), and there was no evidence that one observer was consistently estimating longer or shorter FID than either of the others (Fig. 2.1). Analysis of CVs showed that there were no significant differences in precision between observers, spear gun presence or dive gear; however precision was significantly lower (CV significantly higher) in the NTR, compared to the fished area (Table 2.3).

**Table 2.3** Summary of coefficients of variation (CV) of estimates of fish flight initiation distance for each observer, gear, dive, and management type and ANOVA test of significance.

Factor		CV	d.f.	F	Р
Observer	FJH	22.84	2, 21	0.80	0.461
	KN	24.00			
	RL	26.67			
Gear	Spear	23.23	1, 22	1.77	0.198
	No Spear	26.43			
Dive	SCUBA	24.77	1, 22	0.00	0.964
	Free-diving	24.89			
Management	Fished	21.60	1, 22	9.56	0.005
	NTR	28.06			

## 2.4 DISCUSSION

This study demonstrates that fisheries management status has the strongest influence on estimates of parrotfish FID, and that these estimates are relatively robust to the influences of dive type, spear gun presence, and inter-observer variation. The significantly higher parrotfish FID in the fished area compared to the NTR is consistent with other studies of FID (Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011), while the non significant influence of dive type (consistent with that found by Miller et al. 2011 when comparing their results in the Barbados Marine Reserve while free-diving to those of Gotanda et al. 2009) and spear gun presence on FID estimates suggests that neither of these factors act as flight stimuli for parrotfishes. The lack of difference between freediving and SCUBA was unexpected as there is significant evidence that SCUBA negatively influences parrotfish density estimates (e.g., Dickens et al. 2011) and snorkelers may more closely approach at least one of the species of parrotfishes (Chlorurus microrhinos) present in this study (Welsh & Bellwood 2012). However, these differences may be due to distinct snorkelling techniques - it is unclear if Welsh & Bellwood (2012) free-dived or approached parrotfishes on the surface. While I attempted to minimize noise due to observers breaking the surface when free-diving, this may have acted as a pre-flight stimulus that raised fish awareness (Ydenberg & Dill 1986), resulting in higher FID than expected for this treatment. This theory is given some limited support by results suggesting that free diving while conducting UVC may result in parrotfishes fleeing the area (Dearden et al. 2010).

As in terrestrial taxa (Stankowich & Coss 2006), there was a lack of influence of weapon presence on FID. While this is possibly due to unfamiliarity with weapon, this is unlikely to be the case in the fished area in this study, and implies that fishes are taking their flight cue from some other stimulus associated with the body of the observer rather than the extension added by the spear gun. As reef fishes can discriminate predator characteristics, such as mouth size and distance between eyes (Karplus & Algom 1981), it is unlikely that the visual acuity of adult parrotfishes is insufficient to resolve the spear gun at the starting distances in this study (Renee Lara 2001). The cue to flee may potentially be triggered by movement and exceeding an Apparent Looming Threshold (proportional to the attack speed and frontal profile of a predator), rather than direct assessment of predator characteristics (Wisenden & Harter 2001; Domenici 2002). Alternatively, my artificial spear guns may not have adequately imitated the spear guns used in the fished area. However, while I believe this unlikely, in future research it would be useful to validate whether there is a difference in the responses of fish to real and artificial spearguns in fished areas.

Although I had considerably more experience with FID estimation, my results indicated that observer bias had a negligible effect on magnitude or variation of FID estimates. Although there were significant differences between observers in two of the eight treatments, these differences were not consistent in direction and did not occur between the same observers. This source of error appears to be random, and only accounted for 4% of the variation in FID. The precision of FID estimates was not found to differ significantly between observers, dive type or fishing gear. These findings imply that while observer effects should be considered when designing and analysing studies that have more than one observer, or comparing results among studies, FID estimation can be achieved with a high level of rigor across observers and study designs.

My results suggest that comparison between FID studies conducted on different dive gears and with multiple observers may be valid. Estimates of mean FID within geographic regions appear to be consistent across studies and gears (Caribbean: Gotanda et al. 2009; Miller et al. 2011; Indo-Pacific: this study, Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011), although there appear to be differences between regions. This could be due to potential differences in duration of protection of the NTRs in the studies (26 years in the Caribbean, Gotanda et al. 2009; 2-8 years in Indo-Pacific studies) resulting in fishes with differential exposure to fishing across their

lifespan, to differences in fishing gear, fisher practices and fishing pressure in these two regions.

Estimation of fish FID is a robust method, which shows high precision and low variation between observers and dive gears, and may be sensitive to small differences in fishing pressure, thus providing a useful tool to assess fisher compliance to NTRs (Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). Currently, monitoring of fish communities in NTRs is an expensive process, requires complex analysis of data, suffers from logistical constraints (e.g., availability of SCUBA gear and expense) and from a shortage of trained monitors while impacts of fishing may be masked by natural variation (McClanahan et al. 2007a). In comparison, estimating FID is a relatively simple procedure, is directly associated with fishing pressure, and is tractable to high levels of replication, allowing for sampling designs of higher power for less cost in time or resources (indeed in this study each of the three observers was able to sample 15 fishes within an hour for each treatment). In addition, there exists a pool of experienced spearfishers that are already engaged in co-management of local NTRs that can be easily trained in this technique. Although, there may be a limited suite of fishing gears that will impact on FID (e.g., spear guns, drive-in gillnets), these gears are commonly used globally in artisanal fisheries. FID does not, however, inform managers or communities of fish density, community composition or size, all of which are important in assessing the success of a NTR in helping maintain ecosystem function or in providing benefits to other areas through spillover or larval dispersal. While the influence of confounding factors, most importantly size, should be considered when designing monitoring protocols, FID may provide a novel, inexpensive and intuitively simple compliance monitoring tool for near-shore marine reserves.

# 2.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to the Nguna-Pele MPA Network for allowing me to conduct this study in their fishing grounds and marine reserves. Special thanks to J. Ronneth for field support during this work, and John and Lapakoa of the Pauvina Guesthouse.

# 2.6 SUMMARY

- Fish flight initiation distance (FID) is emerging as a useful metric of the response of fishes to fishing, with significant differences in FID demonstrated between fished and no-take marine reserves.
- Studies investigating FID vary in methodology and many of the potential confounding effects inherent to in-water estimation of FID have yet to be investigated.
- I examined relative effects of spear guns, dive gear, observer bias, and protection status on FID estimates. Three observers estimated FID of parrotfishes in both a fished area and no-take marine reserve, via both SCUBA and free diving, and with and without a simulated spear gun (eight treatments).
- FID was significantly influenced by protection status, increasing by 141 cm on average in the fished area compared to the no-take marine reserve, but not by either dive type or spear gun presence.
- There was no evidence of observer bias, nor were there any significant differences in the precision of FID estimates between observers. Overall, management status explained almost 60% of the variation in FID estimates, while observers accounted for only 4%.

# CHAPTER 3: FEAR OF FISHERS: HUMAN PREDATION EXPLAINS BEHAVIORAL CHANGES IN CORAL REEF FISHES<sup>2</sup>

## 3.1 INTRODUCTION

Appropriate response to predation risk is one of the most important factors in enhancing fitness and reproductive success among animals (Ydenberg & Dill 1986; Cooper & Frederick 2007). The most commonly used metric to assess prey decisionmaking and wariness in the light of predation is flight initiation distance (FID) – the distance to which a predator can approach prey before the prey animal flees (Blumstein 2003). Research using this metric has given rise to an extensive theoretical framework, culminating in the theory of optimal FID, which states, "a prey animal will flee at the stage of an encounter at which maximal fitness is achieved" (Cooper & Frederick 2007). There is a range of factors that may influence when a prey animal makes the decision to flee from a predator (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005). These include: environmental factors such as: food patch quality (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005); refuge availability (Cooper 1999); previous experience of predation (Kelley & Magurran 2003); morphological defences (Cooper et al. 2009); social defences (Walther 1969); and transmission of information through the prey population (Magurran & Higham).

Increased wariness of prey species in the context of higher predation has been reported for both natural (Giles & Huntingford 1984; Madin et al. 2010a) and human predation (de Boer et al. 2004; Feary et al. 2011). Although this understanding of FID in predator/prey relationships has improved our ability to manage terrestrial animal populations, for example through the use of setback and buffer zones to minimize

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Published as: Januchowski-Hartley FA, Graham NAJ, Feary DA, Morove T, Cinner JE (2011) Fear of fishers: human predation explains behavioral changes in coral reef fishes. PLoS One **6**: e22761. FA Hartley collected data, analysed the data, interpreted the results and wrote the manuscript.

disturbance (Blumstein et al. 2003), there is a paucity of research on the impacts of human predation on the FID of marine species. Studies to date consistently show that fishing activity does influence FID. For example, coral reef fishes normally targeted by spearfishers showed lower FID within areas protected from fishing pressure (Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011), while in New Caledonia, detection distance (mean distance from the transect line at which fishes were observed) was found to increase with intensity of fishing (Kulbicki 1998). In parallel, within a New Zealand marine reserve, it was found that "approach distance" (synonymous with FID) of targeted fishes increased with distance from the centre of the marine reserve (Cole 1994). Although previous studies agree that fishing intensity directly influences FID, the role of body size and group size is more contested. In Papua New Guinea (PNG), fishes' body size was found to be non-significant as an explanatory factor for FID (Feary et al. 2011), contrary to studies elsewhere (Gotanda et al. 2009), which found that larger sized fishes exhibited greater FID/mean detection distance. In the terrestrial literature, increased group size tends to be accompanied by increased FID (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005; Stankowich 2008) contrary to data available on fish, where increased group size has generally been found to be associated with lower FID (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005; Domenici 2010).

Prey species wariness to predators may also be expressed through behaviours other than flight (Kelley & Magurran 2003; Guidetti et al. 2008) Fishes are well-equipped for social learning and transfer of information, and alarm signals are often communicated through visual and other sensory systems (Brown & Laland 2003). Visually transmitted alarm signals can originate as a result of predator inspection behaviour, where a prey fish fixates on a predator, and slowly swims towards it (Pitcher et al. 1986). While inherently risky, this behaviour may allow assessment of predator intent (Licht 1989) and dissuasion of predation (Godin & Davis 1995), while also advertising fitness to potential mates (Godin & Dugatkin 1996). However, this behaviour may make fishes

particularly vulnerable to spearfishers, because it brings the fish closer to the fisher, and highlights the fish as a target. Although there is little empirical data, at higher fishing pressures fishes' behaviour prior to flight would theoretically be expected to show declines in occurrence of 'less wary' behaviours (e.g., inspection), with 'more wary' behaviours (i.e., immediate flight or movement towards a refuge), becoming more frequent.

Despite over a decade passing since the effects of differing human predation on coral reef fish behaviour were first identified in the literature (Kulbicki 1998), the importance of human-induced fish behaviour in structuring fish communities is rarely considered within the conservation and fisheries management literature (Jennings et al. 2000; Higgins et al. 2008; Lester et al. 2009). Although levels of artisanal fishing can vary widely, even low levels of subsistence fishing have been associated with dramatic declines in fishery target species (Jennings & Polunin 1996). While underwater visual census (UVC) of abundance and catch survey data are often used to assess the success of management in small-scale subsistence fisheries, they are subject to high variance (Connell et al. 1998) or may not provide the information necessary to accurately assess and manage the ecosystem over short temporal scales (Maunder et al. 2006). Changes in the structure of fish communities due to altered management practices may occur over multi-year to decadal scales (Russ et al. 2005; Babcock et al. 2010). However, behavioural responses to altered fishing practices may express themselves over much shorter temporal scales (Lima & Bednekoff 1999), and the assessment methods above do not lend themselves to identifying such temporally rapid changes within reef fish communities. If differences in FID or other behaviours are driven by changes in management or compliance, monitoring of behaviour may prove to be a tool that can quickly and accurately identify and assess the results of such changes. This may be particularly useful in the assessment of compliance with no-take reserves (NTRs) or gear bans in coral reef and similar fisheries.

This study aims to clarify whether predictions made by anti-predator escape theory are reproduced within coral reef fisheries, and ascertain how different factors influencing FID interact as fishing pressure increases. The relevant predictions made by FID theory are: 1) as the intrinsic risk of predation and lethality of encounters increase FID should likewise increase; and 2) as prey increase in size, FID should also increase. I hypothesize that as fishing pressure increases, fish targeted by fishers will show increased wariness, and that this will be reflected in increases in FID and the type and frequency of pre-flight behaviour. To explore these hypotheses, I examined FID at four coastal communities in PNG along a gradient of fishing intensity.

## 3.2 METHODS

### 3.2.1 Study sites and design

FID of coral reef fishes was assessed at four sites in the Tigak and Tsoi Islands of New Ireland Province, PNG between July and September 2010. I surveyed three communities with varying levels of fishing pressure (Ungakum - low, Nusa intermediate, and Mongol - high), and one community (Kavulik) who comply with a NTR that has been in place since February 2008 (TM, personal observation). Previous research indicated that these areas were appropriate for this study because spearguns were a commonly and frequently used gear in the Kavieng area (JE Cinner, unpublished data). Each of the communities have exclusive access rights to their fishing ground, with the exception of Mongol, which, as a community of migrants and located adjacent to the provincial capital of Kavieng, has seen adherence to customary tenure rights fade (FAJ, TM, personal observation).

To estimate fishing pressure within each community, I used data gathered during previous studies of household fishing practices in these communities (Cinner & McClanahan 2006; Cinner et al. 2012). To obtain the average number of reef-

associated fishing trips per week per household I removed gears that target pelagic fishes (e.g., trolling), and gears commonly used in lagoons, such as nets. Because spearguns and hand lines are often used during the same fishing trip, it was not possible to disaggregate these to provide a spearfishing only fishing pressure. Therefore fishing pressure estimates presented in this study are for spearguns and hand lines combined on the fringing reef. To account for population growth since the earlier surveys (2002 in Mongol and Nusa, 2009 in Kavulik and Ungakum) I re-counted the total number of households in each community in 2010. To calculate fishing ground size, the limits of fringing reef that were claimed as exclusive fishing grounds by each community were marked by GPS and linear reef distance estimated by digitally tracing the reef edge using Google Earth. I multiplied the average fishing trips per week by the total number of households and divided this by the length of each community's respective fishing ground to develop a measure of fishing trips per linear kilometre of reef per week for each community, and used a finite population correction factor to estimate the error associated with each estimate. The estimate of fishing pressure at Mongol obtained by this method is potentially lower than the actual fishing pressure, due to loss of tenure rights and fishing within the fishing ground by non-residents of nearby Kavieng town. Mongol's relative position as the site of highest fishing pressure means that any underestimates of fishing pressure at this site should not affect my interpretation of the results.

To allow comparisons of FID across all four communities, I conducted surveys along approximately one linear kilometre of continuous fringing reef at each area. The majority of spearfishing in the region occurs between the crest and the 10 m depth contour on the reef slope, and all surveys were conducted in this reef zone. Within each area surveyed, benthic complexity was assessed visually using 8-10 replicate 50m transects (to control for availability of potential refuge for fishes between areas). Each transect was given a benthic complexity score between 0 and 5 (Polunin & Roberts

1993): 0 = no vertical relief; 1 = low and sparse relief; 2 = low but widespread relief; 3 = moderately complex; 4 = very complex; and 5 = exceptionally complex. This method is highly correlated with the linear versus contour complexity measure, reef height and abundance of holes 10 - 70 cm diameter when conducted by experienced observers (Wilson et al. 2007), and captures the important characteristics of coral reef substrates as refuge.

# 3.2.2 Selection of focal families

I selected focal families based on records of fishery catches by local communities in Kavieng (Kaly & Opnai 2005) and other areas of PNG (McClanahan & Cinner 2008). Focal families were also tractable to investigation (i.e., diurnally active, reef resident), and were present in sufficient abundance at the study areas to meet power requirements. Six families/subfamilies were chosen for this research: Acanthuridae (surgeonfish), Balistidae (triggerfish), Lutjanidae (snapper), Mullidae (goatfish), Scaridae (parrotfish) and Serranidae (groupers, subfamily Epinephelinae). Acanthuridae and Scaridae make up the majority of the spear gun catch in PNG, while the Balistidae, Lutjanidae and Serranidae are primarily caught by hook and line (Kaly & Opnai 2005; McClanahan & Cinner 2008). Mullidae are caught by both gears at approximately the same frequency (McClanahan & Cinner 2008). FID was measured for 680 coral reef fishes that ranged in size from 10 to 50 centimetres total length (cm TL), encompassing 54 species across the six families.

#### 3.2.3 Behaviour and flight initiation distance

Although previous studies on FID of reef fishes have used SCUBA divers as predation stimuli (Cole 1994; Guidetti et al. 2008; Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011), all FID surveys within this work were based on free diving as my interest was in how fishes respond to local spearfishers (who do not use SCUBA) (NFA 2007). I used the methodology outlined in Chapter 2 (Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2012) to estimate fish FID. The maximum FID obtained by Feary et al. (2011) in Papua New Guinea was approximately 8 m; consequently, in order to avoid beginning trials within FID of target fishes, all trials began outside this distance, and were conducted only when visibility was  $\geq$  10m.

Fishes were only targeted for approach if they exhibited normal daily behaviour (i.e., were not obviously alert to observer presence, fleeing from predators, or engaged in competition with con- or hetero-specifics). If line of sight between myself and the target fish and observer was broken prior to flight, or if during the approach the target fish was chased by another fish, the trial was abandoned. Only fishes greater than 10 centimetres TL were approached because spearfishers will rarely target fishes under this size (FAJ, personal observation). For each fish, size (cm TL), behaviour exhibited prior to flight (hereafter "pre-flight behaviour"), group size, life-history phase (for Scaridae only) and refuge choice were recorded. Pre-flight behaviour was assigned into five broad types of behavioural response, ranging from most wary to least-wary behaviour, based on perceived increase in vulnerability to fishers. These were: "none" – the fish fled without changing behaviour; "tacking" – the fish halted activity and slowly swam away tacking from side to side before fleeing; "orientation" – the fish orientated to flee to a refuge; "watch" – the fish stopped current activity and turned towards the observer; and "inspect" – the fish moved towards the observer prior to flight.

To minimize the chance of approaching a target fish that had been disturbed by previous surveys, consecutive trials in the same area were conducted a minimum of 10 m apart. A pilot study found that after approximately 20 minutes of repeated FID surveys, most target fishes had vacated an area of approximately 30 linear metres of reef. Therefore, I moved steadily along the reef front during each sampling session, and did not revisit areas on consecutive days, in order to avoid both this response and habituation of fishes to my non-threatening presence in areas where I was the only free-diver (e.g., in no-take areas).

#### 3.2.4 Data analysis

All data analyses were performed using MINITAB Version 14, with a significance level of  $P \le 0.05$ . FID data was inspected for normality through quantile-quantile plots, while homogeneity of variance was determined using Levene's test. It was necessary to square root transform Acanthuridae FID data in order to meet assumptions of normality and homogeneity. To investigate FID for each family between areas, I used analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), with fish body size, group size and life history stage (Scaridae only) as covariates in the model. Where differences in FID were significant, I used a post-hoc Tukey's test to identify where FID differed. Regression slopes were homogenous for all families. Where fish size or group size was significant in the model, I analysed the effect of these continuous variables across all areas and independently within each area, using linear regression. This was done in order to partition the effects of fishing pressure from either body size or group size. In addition, separate one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) were conducted to investigate whether there were differences in substrate rugosity between survey areas. Lastly, pre-flight behaviour and refuge choice were analysed using Pearson's Chi-squared to test the hypothesis that fishes in more heavily fished areas would show more wary behaviour when confronted with a spearfisher. For the purposes of analysis the "watch" and "inspect" behaviours were merged.

## 3.3 RESULTS

Fishing pressure was highest at Mongol ( $147 \pm 38$  trips km<sup>-1</sup> week<sup>-1</sup>), followed by Nusa ( $110 \pm 23$  trips km<sup>-1</sup> week<sup>-1</sup>), then Ungakum ( $29 \pm 8$  trips km<sup>-1</sup> week<sup>-1</sup>). FID increased with fishing pressure in the Acanthuridae, Scaridae, Balistidae and Mullidae (Table 3.1). Acanthuridae and Balistidae showed significant increases in FID at the highest fishing pressure (Mongol) when compared to all other areas (Fig. 3.1). Scaridae and

Mullidae showed a steady trend of increasing FID, with low FID at unfished and lightly fished areas (Kavulik and Ungakum), moderate FID at intermediate fishing pressure (Nusa) and the highest FID at the highest fishing pressure (Mongol). FID did not significantly vary with fishing intensity for Lutjanidae or Serranidae. Rugosity did not differ significantly between grounds (One-way ANOVA;  $F_{3,36} = 1.74$ , P = 0.176), with a mean value across all areas of 2.83, indicating moderately complex reef systems in each area.

**Table 3.1**Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) results of flight initiation distance(cm) with fishing pressure as a fixed factor and fish body size (cm TL) and group size ascovariates

Family (d.f.)	Factor	$oldsymbol{F}$	$R^2$	Р
Acanthuridae (3, 158)	fishing pressure	35.38	0.618	***
	body size	43.88		***
	group size	10.94		**
Scaridae (3, 234)	fishing pressure	47.65	0.504	***
	body size	66.81		***
	group size	1.05		0.306
	life history stage	1.79		0.149
Balistidae (3, 56)	fishing pressure	5.26	0.357	**
	body size	22.51		**
	group size	0.04		0.845
Lutjanidae (3, 75)	fishing pressure	1.86	0.074	0.143
	body size	3.17		0.079
	group size	0.14		0.709
Mullidae (3, 76)	fishing pressure	18.08	0.487	***
	body size	10.70		**
	group size	2.01		0.160
Serranidae (3, 41)	fishing pressure	2.30	0.224	0.092
	body size	10.15		**
	group size	1.20		0.965

a \*\*\* = p < 0.001; \*\* = p < 0.01 and; \* = p < 0.05

Overall, FID ranged from 27 to 722 cm. When compared to the maximum effective range of spear guns used in this region (310 cm) (Feary et al. 2011) only the Lutjanidae had a mean FID greater than spear gun range at all levels of fishing pressure, while Serranidae mean FID was never greater than spear gun range (Fig. 3.1). Only at the highest fishing pressure did other families show mean FID greater than maximum effective spear gun range (Fig. 3.1).



**Figure 3.1** Mean flight initiation distance (FID) (cm  $\pm$  S.E) at each fishing ground for six coral reef fish families. FID was estimated for individuals of six families of coral reef fishes at four different fishing pressures. From left to right within each family, bars are: Kavulik NTR (no fishing); Ungakum (low fishing pressure); Nusa (intermediate fishing pressure); and Mongol (high fishing pressure). If significant differences existed in FID within families at different fishing grounds, grounds were grouped by similarity (a, b and c). Dashed line is maximum distance at which rifle-style spear guns used in New Ireland province are considered effective [approximately 310 cm, Feary et al. (2011)].

All families except Lutjanidae showed a significant effect of fish body size on FID (Table 3.1). Linear regression analysis across all areas indicated that for all families, greater body size was predictive of greater FID (Fig. 3.2). When linear regression analysis was conducted for each family partitioned by fishing area, there was no significant relationship between fish body size and FID for the majority of families surveyed in unfished and lightly fished areas (Table 3.2). The heavily spearfished Acanthuridae and Scaridae, showed a significant relationship between body size and FID at higher fishing pressures, while the less heavily spearfished families only showed a significant relationship with intermediate fishing pressure (Balistidae and Serranidae), and at the highest fishing pressure (Mullidae) (Table 3.2). Group size only had a significant effect on FID for Acanthuridae (Table 3.1). Linear regression analysis for group size and FID for Acanthuridae indicated a significant relationship for all areas combined (R2 = 0.091,  $F_{1,162}$  = 17.28, P < 0.001) (Fig. 3.3), but not within grounds (Table 3.2). There was no effect of life history stage on FID of Scaridae (Table 3.1). Preflight behaviour varied among families (Fig. 3.4), but only Acanthuridae and Mullidae showed changes in pre-flight behaviour with increasing fishing pressure. Chi-squared tests indicated that least-wary behaviour ("inspect/ watch") showed significant differences among areas for Acanthuridae ( $\chi 2 = 39.36$ , d.f. = 9, P < 0.001). Within this family, focal fishes least-wary behaviours ("watch/inspect") became less frequent as fishing pressure increased, while the more-wary behaviours ("orientation" and "tacking") became more frequent (Fig. 3.4a). Mullidae showed a similar response to increased fishing pressure ( $\chi 2 = 39.55$ , d.f. = 9, P < 0.001), with least-wary behaviour decreasing as fishing increased (Fig. 3.4e). Although there was no significant difference in pre-flight behaviour between fishing areas for Serranidae, this family exhibited lesswary behaviours, even at the highest fishing pressures (Fig. 3.4f).



**Figure 3.2** Effect of body size (cm TL) on flight initiation distance (cm). Flight initiation distance plotted against fish body size for: (a) Acanthuridae; (b) Scaridae; (c) Balistidae; (d) Mullidae; and (e) Serranidae. Black circles, open circles, inverted red triangles and upright green triangles represent Kavulik NTR (no fishing), Ungakum (low fishing pressure), Nusa (intermediate fishing pressure) and Mongol (high fishing pressure) fishing grounds, respectively. Solid lines are significant linear regression across all grounds and dotted lines are 95% confidence intervals. For significance and  $R^2$  values see Table 3.2. Note that scales differ on both X and Y-axes.

	Kavulik	Ungakum	Nusa	Mongol	All
Body Size					
Acanthuridae	0.055	0.296**a	0.347***	0.139**	0.216***
Scaridae	0.156**	0.038	0.435***	0.188***	0.179***
Balistidae	0.245	0.060	0.762***	0.295	0.243***
Mullidae	0.024	0.173	0.047	0.244*	0.155***
Serranidae	0.415	0.026	0.315**	0.151	0.190**
Group Size					
Acanthuridae	0.015	0.027	0.064	0.060	0.091***

**Table 3.2** $R^2$  values of linear regression analysis of flight initiation distance with<br/>body size (cm TL) and group size reported by family and fishing ground

a \* \* \* = P < 0.001; \* = P < 0.01 and; \* = P < 0.05



**Figure 3.3** Effects of group size on flight initiation distance of Acanthuridae. Group size (number of individuals) plotted against FID (cm) for Acanthuridae. Black circles, open circles, red triangles and green triangles represent Kavulik NTR (no fishing) Ungakum (low fishing pressure), Nusa (intermediate fishing pressure) and Mongol (high fishing pressure) fishing grounds respectively. Solid line is significant linear regression across all grounds and dotted lines are 95% confidence intervals. For significance and  $R^2$  values see Table 3.2.



**Figure 3.4** Pre-flight behaviour of six reef fish families across four fishing grounds with different fishing pressures. Total occurrence (%) of fishes displaying each category of pre-flight behaviour for: (a) Acanthuridae; (b) Scaridae; (c) Balistidae; (d) Lutjanidae; (e) Mullidae; and (f) Serranidae across four reef areas in Papua New Guinea. Darkest shading indicates no notice behaviour, followed by tacking away, orientating towards refuge, watching, and inspecting as shading becomes lighter

# 3.4 DISCUSSION

Predator escape theory predicts that as intrinsic level of threat increases in an organism's surroundings, wariness (e.g., FID) will also increase (Cooper & Frederick 2007). This is supported by both experimental studies (Huntingford & Wright 1989; Botham et al. 2008) and field observations (Thiel et al. 2007; Feary et al. 2011) I found that this prediction also holds true in the context of increasing human predation on coral reef fishes, although the behavioural response of fishes to increasing fishing pressure varied by family, and with target status. For example, Acanthuridae and Scaridae, which are the 1st and 3rd most commonly spearfished families in the region (McClanahan & Cinner 2008), showed the highest sensitivity to increased fishing pressure, while Lutjanidae and Serranidae, both of which are primarily caught by hook and line and more rarely caught by spear gun, showed no significant changes in FID between fishing pressures. This concurs with FID estimates for *Lutjanus gibbus* in a previous study in PNG (Feary et al. 2011). Serranidae, by contrast, showed a FID less than the effective range of spear guns at all sites. This lack of wariness may be due to the Serranidae being some of the predominant natural predators on coral reefs, and the low number of natural predators for this family (Parrish 1987), or due to territorial defence postures to perceived competitors (Shpigel & Fishelson 1991).

I found little difference in FID between Kavulik NTR and the low fishing pressure area (Ungakum) across all families in this study, which could have several plausible explanations. First, these similarities could be explained by poaching occurring in the Kavulik NTA. However, the NTA is situated directly in front of the village, which facilitates monitoring (McClanahan & Cinner 2008), and community members report high compliance. Consequently poaching is an unlikely explanation for the similarities in FID between Kavulik and Ungakum. A second, alternative explanation could be the low levels of fishing at Ungakum. Both Ungakum and Kavulik are exposed to the northwest monsoon, which blows from November to April. During this time, fishers rarely venture beyond sheltered lagoonal waters (FAJ personal observation); fishing grounds at Ungakum may only be fished for six months of the year, and may not have been regularly fished prior to the study commencing due to unseasonably bad weather. Therefore, the impact of fishers within the Ungakum fishing area may not be high enough for wariness of fishes to be impacted, and subsequently FID to be affected. A third likely, but unconfirmed explanation is that similarities in FID between the two areas may be associated with the age of the Kavulik NTR (~2 years at the time of this

study) relative to age of the fish population. Prey fishes are able to gather information about the threat context in which they are present through both experience and social learning (Brown & Laland 2003), and recall of predator attributes has been shown to occur after a gap of two years between encounters in minnows (Magurran 1990). *Ctenochaetus striatus* individuals surveyed at Kavulik would be between 5 and 10 years of age (Trip et al. 2008), while the species of Scaridae surveyed are predicted to be from 3 to 5 years old (Choat et al. 1996). Thus, the relatively recent no-take status at Kavulik means that fishes with previous experience of human predation, and consequently higher FID, were likely to still be present within its boundaries. At this point, it is not known how long fishes recall threats and adjust their FID accordingly. Future research into recall of appropriate flight response will be necessary to confirm this potential explanation.

The broad results from this study (that FID in fishes increased with fishing intensity) are consistent with previous research, but some details differ. In particular, Feary et al. (2011) reported relatively greater FID within areas open to fishing for all target fishes than estimated in the present study (with the exception of the Acanthuridae). Likewise, estimates of Scaridae FID were lower than either this study or by Feary et al. (2011), both inside and outside a 26 year old NTA in Barbados (Gotanda et al. 2009); the latter may be explained by low exploitation pressure in fished areas near the Barbados NTA (Chapman & Kramer 1999) compared to fished areas in Papua New Guinea. Differences in approach technique may make direct comparisons between studies difficult. The methods of approach used in this study were designed to emulate a spearfisher. These included descending away from the target fish and keeping flat and close to the substrate. These techniques may reduce the distance at which a fish becomes aware of the approaching observer and therefore initiates flight; such techniques were not used in either Gotanda et al. (2009) or Feary et al. (2011). Although I found no differences in FID between SCUBA and free diving in Chapter 2 (Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011),

reports show that fishes can learn to associate the noises generated by SCUBA equipment, or the appearance of divers, with increased food availability (Chapman et al. 1974; Cole 1994). Differences in exploitation history, tourism use and human density between geographic locations could be driving these inter-site differences.

At no/low fishing pressures, size was not a factor explaining variation in FID, but at higher fishing pressures this factor became significant in explaining FID. The role of body size in determining FID in fish remains poorly understood (Domenici 2010). Optimal fitness theory predicts an increase in an animal's FID with increasing levels of initial fitness at the start of an encounter (Warner 1998; Cooper & Frederick 2007). In fishes, greater fitness (residual reproductive value) is closely related to size, and a larger individual should therefore flee earlier in an encounter with a predator than smaller individuals. However, there is still conflicting evidence for the application of this theory to coral reef fishes. For example, body size in Caribbean parrotfish was the largest single determinant of increases in FID (Gotanda et al. 2009), while within Indo-Pacific reef fishes body size was unimportant in determining FID (Feary et al. 2011), and has been shown to be negatively correlated with reaction distance (the distance at which an animal shows awareness of a predator, not flight - Helfman 1998). Here I have reported results that, while supporting the theoretical role of body size on FID, indicate that the relationship between body size and FID varies with fishing pressure.

The eco-morphology of predator/prey relationships should be taken into account when considering how body size may impact FID (Gill 2003). Smaller prey is more cryptic, harder to identify, and metabolically less profitable to target than larger sized prey (Gill & Hart 1994). These attributes are likely to reduce attractiveness of prey to predators, and result in lower prey FID (Ydenberg & Dill 1986). As fishes grow larger, their locomotive ability grows, and their ability to avoid a predator increases, which potentially decreases FID (Domenici 2002). Predator prey-size preference is also

influential; fishes generally tend to consume prey whole (Gill 2003), which places restrictions on the upper limit of prey size they can ingest. For example, a study on the reaction of a small coral reef fish (*Dascyllus trimaculatus*) to models of a predator, demonstrated that larger individuals were less wary (Helfman 1989), possibly because they are larger than can be handled by the size of predator.

The optimal size of prey for a predator is when prey body depth ~ 0.6 gape width (Gill & Hart 1994), although during a food deficit, predators may take larger prey (Gill 2003). Therefore, I hypothesize that FID will slowly increase with body size until body depth exceeds 0.6 gape width of the largest predator before: 1) remaining constant; or 2) decreasing as predation becomes less common due to increased handling time. Due to depletion of reef sharks (Robbins et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2010), predation escape via increased body size in coral reef fishes may be increasingly common, or may be occurring at lower prey body sizes. Given this assumption, I would not expect a significant impact of body size on FID in NTRs, a hypothesis supported by both this study and Feary et al. (2011). In fished areas however, humans may play a similar role to sharks by targeting larger fishes. Thus, FID would likely increase with body size, as reported here and in the Caribbean (Gotanda et al. 2009). This may explain the nonsignificant impact of FID where fishes' exposure to fishing is low, but the increased impact when exposure to fishing is higher. In fact, spearfishers may preferentially target larger fishes due to increased body depth providing a greater target area. This may partially explain why the "taller" bodied Acanthuridae make up a large proportion of the spearfishing catch (McClanahan & Cinner 2008). While body-depth may not be a limiting factor in human predation, there are other limits of handling capacity (e.g., power of spear gun, preference for fish size) that may afford a size refuge for fishes in fished areas, but most likely at larger body sizes than found for fishes surveyed in the present study.

There are alternative explanations for increasing FID with increased body size (discussed in Gotanda et al. 2009), including the importance of observer starting distance and increased visual acuity of prey fishes. Observer starting distance can be positively correlated with FID, because prey individuals are aware of predator focus earlier, and for longer (Blumstein 2003). As larger individuals are more easily identified from distance, compared to smaller prey, this may positively bias FID. In my study I controlled for this factor by standardizing starting distance across all fish sizes. Visual acuity of prey fishes may impact FID due to physiological changes with maturity, with visual acuity increasing with body size (McGill & Mittelbach 2006). Similar to Gotanda et al. (2009), I do not believe my results were impacted by differences in visual acuity between different sized fishes, due to all studies being accomplished in clear tropical waters and target fishes being close to or mature adults.

Theoretically, as animals form larger groups both their field of view and total time spent scanning for predators increase (Elgar & Catterall 1981). This leads to higher alertness, identification of predators at greater distances, and a correspondingly increased FID (Ydenberg & Dill 1986). However, within fishes increased group size tends to reduce FID (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005), with risk dilution the primary benefit (Godin 1986; Krause & Godin 1994). Within the present study only Acanthuridae showed increasing FID with increasing group size. This response only occurred across, and not within areas, and could indicate an independent antipredation response to increased fishing pressure.

This is the first study to examine pre-flight behaviour in the context of increased fishing pressure. I demonstrated that pre-flight behaviour varies by family, but that variance with fishing pressure is not universal, with both trophic group and life history mediated responses. Lower trophic level families (i.e., Acanthuridae, Scaridae) displayed a higher proportion of wary behaviours (i.e., swimming away or immediate flight), while the highest trophic level family (Serranidae) showed almost exclusively less-wary
behaviour. The prevalence of immediate flight - the most wary behaviour - in Scaridae may stem from fishes in this study generally being close to, or of terminal phase size, with correspondingly higher initial fitness rewarding increased wariness although life history stage did not influence FID. In addition, while both the Acanthuridae and Mullidae showed the most obvious changes in behaviour across fishing pressure, both families may have different vulnerabilities that drive change in behaviour. Acanthuridae are one of the most heavily targeted families by spearfishers (McClanahan & Cinner 2008), and this status militates against non-wary behaviours being retained at even low fishing pressures. In comparison, Mullidae will rest on corals or rocks during the day, and in the Kavulik NTA one species, Parupeneus crassilabris, would often watch and not flee until the observer was within 100 cm, and would return to their perch within 30 seconds, often while the observer was still in the immediate area (FAJ, personal observation). This lack of wariness would make Mullidae an attractive target, despite being arguably a more difficult to target family due to relatively small body depth. Any reduction in the occurrence of this behaviour, making them even more difficult to catch, is likely to have a large impact on frequency of targeting by spearfishers.

The basic prey model of optimal foraging theory predicts that a predator (i.e., in the present case a spearfisher) chooses prey based on profitability (potential energy gain per unit of handling and search time) (Sih & Christensen 2001). This theory suggests that predators will concentrate on the most profitable prey, and as prey abundance decreases (and thus search/handling time increases) will switch to primarily targeting what was previously the next most profitable prey. However, this assumes that all prey are equally vulnerable to capture, which is rarely the case, while profitability will change with consideration of prey attributes (Sih & Christensen 2001). Theoretically, increases in FID in target fishes represent increasing difficulty of capture by spearfishers; therefore as FID increases, reducing the profitability of targeting a

particular prey type, fishers will shift target preferences. As preferentially targeted families show higher FID, families with lower catchability due to smaller target areas (e.g., Mullidae) or greater intrinsic wariness (i.e., Mullidae or Lutjanidae) may play a greater role in the fishery; one speculative interpretation of my results may point to some preliminary support for this theory. FID for all but one family exceeded the effective range of spearguns at the highest fishing pressure, while Mullidae and Balistidae FID only differed when the FID of Scaridae or Acanthuridae equalled or exceeded this distance. Whether this is due to prey switching by spearfishers is unclear from my data, but presents an interesting avenue for future research. Currently, knowledge of how subsistence fishers prioritize which fishes they target is lacking. In order to better understand how changes in fish behaviour may influence fisher behaviour, factors that are important in fisher decision making, such as catchability, size, taste preference, cultural factors and ownership rights (Carrier 1981) will need to be explored more thoroughly. I have presented some interesting results that hint at prey switching by fishers due to fish behaviour influencing catchability, and complement predictions that changing FID of fishes can influence the prey choice of fishers.

Here I have presented the most comprehensive assessment to date of fishes' FID in relation to human predation. I have shown that fishes' FID varies with both fishing pressure and target status. Fish body size appears important in determining FID, however the relationship between size and FID of coral reef fishes is more complex than has previously been presented, and both prey and predator eco-morphology needs to be taken into account. While the data I present here indicates that pre-flight behavioural mechanisms may show promise in assessing fished status of some families of coral reef fishes, this behaviour differs markedly across families and trophic groups. There may be scope to integrate FID into assessment of compliance and effectiveness of management of reef fisheries; however, variation in FID between species and

geographic location requires local validation of FID prior to implementation as a successful management tool.

# **3.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I thank the people and community leaders of Kavulik, Mongol, Nusa and Ungakum for allowing us to work in their communities and on their reefs. Thanks to Andrew and Jude Rigby and Kate Holmes for their assistance in Papua New Guinea. J. Kuange, R. Lahari, and J. Ben contributed towards data collection.

# 3.6 SUMMARY

- Prey flight decisions in response to predation risk are increasingly being considered in conservation and management decisions in the terrestrial realm, but are rarely considered in marine systems.
- This field-based study was conducted along a gradient of subsistence fishing pressure in Papua New Guinea to examine how fishing pressure was related to pre-flight behaviour and flight initiation distance (FID), and whether FID was influenced by body size (centimetres total length), group size (including both con- and hetero-specific individuals), or life-history phase.
- Fishing pressure was positively associated with higher FID, but only in families that were primarily targeted by spear guns. Among these families, there were variable responses in FID; some families showed increased FID monotonically with fishing pressure, while others showed increased FID only at the highest levels of fishing pressure.
- Body size became a more significant influence on FID at higher levels of fishing pressure. Although family-level differences in pre-flight behaviour were reported, such behaviour showed low concordance with fishing pressure.
- FID shows promise as a tool by which compliance and effectiveness of management of reef fisheries can be assessed.

# CHAPTER 4: SPILLOVER OF FISH NAÏVETÉ FROM MARINE RESERVES<sup>3</sup>

## 4.1 INTRODUCTION

Evidence from both temperate and tropical marine ecosystems suggests that fish behaviour can be substantially altered as a direct response to fishing and protection from fishing (Handegard et al. 2003; Guidetti et al. 2008; Gotanda et al. 2009). Although natural fish behaviours such as aggregation for spawning have been exploited to increase fishery catches (Hamilton et al. 2012), knowledge of how human-induced changes in fish behaviour may influence fisheries and conservation science is sparse. Evidence from recreational angling suggests that learned hook-avoidance behaviour can develop in previously unexploited fishes (Askey et al. 2006). Similarly, lower fish flight initiation distance [FID - how close a human or natural predator can approach a fish before it flees (Ydenberg & Dill 1986)] has been found within no-take marine reserves (NTRs) than in fished locations, suggesting that fishes may be more easily caught by spearfishing within marine reserves (Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011). Given that NTRs are a frequently proposed management tool for coral reef fisheries (Russ 2002), it is imperative to understand how alterations in the behaviour of fish targeted by fisheries may influence fishery success.

An important fishery benefit from NTRs is likely to be spillover of adult fish biomass across reserve boundaries into adjacent fishing grounds (Russ 2002). Indeed, there is ample theoretical (Kramer & Chapman 1999; Pérez-Ruzafa et al. 2008) and empirical (McClanahan & Mangi 2000; Abesamis & Russ 2005; Francini-Filho & Moura 2008; Halpern et al. 2009; Goñi et al. 2010) support for density-dependent spillover of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Published as: Januchowski-Hartley FA, Graham NAJ, Cinner JE, Russ GR (2013) Spillover of fish naïveté from marine reserves. *Ecology Letters* **16**, 191-197. FA Januchowski-Hartley collected all data, analysed and interpreted data, and wrote the paper.

fishable biomass. For example, predictions of gradients of decreasing fish abundance from inside to outside NTR boundaries, based on fish home-range size and mobility (Kramer & Chapman 1999), have been observed in the field (Kaunda-Arara & Rose 2004; Abesemis et al. 2006b). However, recent diffusion models predicting fish abundance, biomass and fishery yields across boundaries of reserves (Halpern et al. 2009) assume that fishes do not vary in catchability, an assumption challenged by differences in FID both inside and outside NTRs, and at different levels of fishing pressure (Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011; Chapters 2, 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011, 2012). I hypothesize that fish FID is also likely to vary in a predictable way across NTR boundaries. I predict that FID will increase, as one moves from reserve to fished areas. Consequently, export of fish naïve to exploitation, and therefore with greater catchability, from NTRs to fished areas may increase access to fishery benefits from reserves.

In this study, I quantify spatial patterns of fishes' naïve behaviour and biomass across the boundaries of three NTRs, and utilise a suite of candidate models (Table 4.1) to describe these patterns. Specifically, I surveyed FID and biomass of two key families targeted by local fishers (Acanthuridae and Scaridae) and one non-target family (Chaetodontidae) across the boundaries of three NTRs and three control 'boundaries' in nearby fished areas in the Philippines. I then compare the spatial extent to which fishes' FID and biomass extend beyond NTR boundaries into fished areas for both real reserves and "control" (fished) areas.

Model	Equation	<b>Ecological Explanation</b>
Linear	b +md	FID increases continuously from a minimum FID ( <i>b</i> ) at a constant rate ( <i>m</i> ) without limit
Logistic	$\frac{FID_m}{\left(1 + \left(\frac{FID_m - FID_0}{FID_0}\right)e^{-rd}\right)}$	FID reaches a maximum $(FID_m)$ at a maximum rate $(r)$ through an initial exponential phase; FID <sub>0</sub> is minimum FID inside the NTR
Asymptotic	$FID_m + (FID_0 - FID_m)e^{-rd}$	FID reaches a maximum at a constant rate ( <i>r</i> )
Exponential	$FID_0 * e^{rd}$	FID increases from an initial minimum ( <i>a</i> ) at an exponential rate <i>r</i> without limit
Piecewise Linear	$b_1 + m_1 d \text{ if } d < s_1;$ $(b_1 + m_1 s_1) + m_2(d - s_1) \text{ for } d > s_1$	FID increases continuously from a minimum FID ( $b_1$ ), at rate $m_1$ until distance $s$ , after which it increases at rate $m_2$

**Table 4.1**Candidate ecological equations used to model fish flight initiationdistance response across the boundary of marine reserves.

#### 4.2 METHODS

#### 4.2.1 Study sites

Fish FID and biomass of three fish families (Acanthuridae, Scaridae, and Chaetodontidae) were surveyed from 200m inside to 200 m outside one boundary at each of three 6-10 hectare NTRs in the Bohol Sea area of the Philippines: Apo Island (9°84' N, 123° 81' E), Tandayag (9° 27' N, 123° 14' E), and Tubod (9° 8' N, 123° 30' E); and across artificial "boundaries" at three fished control areas (Fig. 4.1). At Apo Island and Tubod NTRs, I chose control areas that were situated on continuous reef within the fishing grounds of the communities adjacent to the NTRs, separated by at least 750 m from the NTR. Tandayag has no suitable adjacent fished reefs because reefs on the coastline of Negros Oriental are patchy, and often under protection (Stockwell et al. 2009). Thus I chose the closest available fished site down the coast (~ 40 km) with sufficient contiguous habitat.



**Figure 4.1** Schematic of one example NTR/control pair. The red dotted line is a artificial boundary established within a fished area, the dotted blue lines are boundaries of the extant NTR.

The spatial extent of the sampling was chosen based on previous work on Philippine reefs for these families, which showed that NTR effects can dissipate at scales of hundreds of metres (Abesemis et al. 2006b). At the time of the study, fishing had been effectively excluded from these NTRs for twenty-nine (Apo), six (Tubod) and five (Tandayag) years. While "drive-in" gill nets (where swimmers attempt to scare fish into a net) and hook and line are the primary fishing gears in these areas, spear guns are also commonly used (Abesamis et al. 2006a). Acanthuridae and Scaridae are both abundant on these reefs, targeted by local fisheries (Alcala et al. 2005; Abesamis et al. 2006a) and have shown increases in FID in response to increased fishing pressure (Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). While there are life history and behavioural differences between the target and non-target families (e.g., the dependence of Chaetodontidae on live coral as a resource), fisheries in the region encompass the majority of families on coral reefs limiting my choice of control families. I chose the Chaetodontidae because they rarely occur in fishery catches (although Chaetodontidae may be harvested for the aquarium trade, semi-formal interviews with fishermen did not reveal any aquarium harvest operations in my study areas), and are sufficiently abundant on reefs to use as a control fish group.

#### 4.2.2 Fish behaviour and reef community surveys

I estimated fish FID via free diving, imitating spearfisher behaviour as described in Chapter 2 (Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2012). I recorded FID, species and total length (TL) for fishes > 15 cm TL in the fishery target families. This minimum size limit for the FID estimation was adopted because fishes smaller than this are unlikely to be targeted by the fishery. For the Chaetodontidae, individuals were targeted within the size range 10-18 cm TL. It was not feasible to survey only individuals > 15 cm TL due to the smaller maximum attainable sizes of species within this family. I considered flight to have occurred when the fish increased its swim speed to greater than my approach speed, either away, or into a refuge in the substrate. In order to estimate distance from the NTR or control boundary, each area was delineated into eight 50 m long sections (0-50 m, 50-100 m, 100-150 m and 150-200 m inside and outside the boundary) using 50 m tapes. FID estimates took place within visual distance of the tape, and distance from the boundary was estimated by drawing a perpendicular line from the marker at the point at which the fish fled, to the tape. FID was estimated for a minimum of four

individuals of each family per 50 m section of reef (see Table 4.2 for sample sizes and species list).

I counted all individuals > 15 cm TL of the Acanthuridae and Scaridae and > 10cm TL of the Chaetodontidae within three 7 m radius point counts (Jennings et al. 1996) at nine distances from the boundary at each area (200 m, 100 m, 50 m, 25 m from the boundary both into and out of the NTR, and at the boundary). Fish were identified to species and size was estimated to the nearest cm TL. Larger mobile species and individuals were counted first, and any individual that left and re-entered the point count area was only counted once. Reef topology resulted in only two point counts being conducted at some sites. All data were collected by the same observer (FAJ). I converted fish length and abundance data to biomass using published length-weight relationships (Froese & Pauly 2011). Because habitat complexity and coral cover can affect both FID (Gotanda et al. 2009) and fish biomass (Friedlander & Parrish 1998), I assessed topographic complexity of the reefs and coral cover using a six point scale for the former (Polunin & Roberts 1993), and line intercept transects for the latter at the location of each fish point count.

#### 4.3.3 Data analysis

Prior to testing the suite of models across NTR boundaries, I first established whether there was a significant relationship between distance from the NTR boundary and fish FID by performing linear regressions for each family inside and outside each NTR. FID was weighted using the residuals of a linear regression of FID and fish length at each area in order to control for increased FID with size (Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011) prior to regression. I found that for all families at all NTRs there was no relationship of FID with distance inside the reserves. For both Acanthuridae and Scaridae I found a significant effect of distance on FID outside the NTR at two of the three NTR areas (Table 4.3). Five potential models were

	Ν	lo-take rese	erve		Control	
	Apo	Tandayag	Tubod	Apo	Tandayag	Tubod
ACANTHURIDAE						
Acanthurus leuococheilus	-	1	-	-	-	-
Acanthurus lineatus	-	1	-	1	-	-
Acanthurus nigricauda	12	3	10	-	2	-
Acanthurus pyroferus	1	7	-	-	5	1
Ctenochaetus striatus	18	20	25	30	17	28
Naso lituratus	-	-	2	9	-	2
Naso unicornis	1	-	-	3	1	1
Naso vlamingii	2	1	-	-	-	-
Total	34	33	<b>3</b> 7	43	25	32
CHAETODONTIDAE						
Chaetodon adiergastos	2	2	-	-	1	-
Chaetodon auriga	6	-	-	-	2	1
Chaetodon baronessa	1	6	6	4	1	5
Chaetodon ephippium	2	-	-	-	-	-
Chaetodon kleinii	1	2	2	2	2	2
Chaetodon lineolatus	2	-	-	-	-	-
Chaetodon lunula	2	2	1	2	3	1
Chaetodon lunulatus	1	2	9	4	-	10
Chaetodon melanotus	3	-	-	3	-	-
Chaetodon ocellicaudus	-	4	1	1	-	-
Chaetodon ornatissimus	-	-	-	-	2	-
Chaetodon oxycephalus	-	-	1	-	-	-
Chaetodon octofasciatus	-	2	-	-	-	-
Chaetodon punctatofasciatus	-	-	1	-	-	1
Chaetodon rafflesii	3	5	3	2	-	3
Chaetodon reticulatus	-	-	-	-	-	2

**Table 4.2**Species and number of individuals for which flight initiation distancewas estimated at each area.

### Table 4.2 cont.

	Ν	lo-take rese	erve		Control	
	Apo	Tandayag	Tubod	Apo	Tandayag	Tubod
Chaetodon speculum	1	-	-	-	-	-
Chaetodon trifascialis	1	-	-	1	-	-
Chaetodon ulietensis	2	-	-	1	-	-
Chaetodon unimaculatus	1	1	-	4	2	-
Chaetodon vagabundus	3	1	3	5	7	5
Heniochus varius	1	5	4	5	5	2
Total	32	32	32	34	25	32
SCARIDAE						
Chlorurus bleekeri	27	14	20	17	11	18
Chlorurus bowersi	5	-	-	1	-	1
Chlorurus sordidus	2	7	-	2	1	1
Scarus dimidiatus	7	3	8	10	9	5
Scarus flavipectoralis	-	-	-	1	-	-
Scarus forsteni	-	-	-	1	-	1
Scarus frenatus	-	-	-	1	-	-
Scarus ghobban	-	0	1	-	-	1
Scarus niger	8	8	5	19	1	5
Scarus prasiognathos	2	-	-	-	1	-
Scarus psittacus	-	-	-	2	1	-
Scarus rivulatus	-	-	1	1	1	-
Scarus rubroviolaceus	-	-	1	-	-	-
Total	51	32	36	54	25	32

assessed to describe the spatial pattern of FID change across the boundaries of marine NTRs: linear, logistic, asymptotic, exponential and piecewise linear (Table 4.1).I fitted nonlinear models using maximum likelihood of the nonlinear regression (nls) routine in R 2.13.1, and piecewise models using the segmented function which tests for the existence of possible breakpoints and differences in slopes of linear models (R Development Core Team 2011). The starting value of the parameter  $FID_{0}$  (FID of a fish never exposed to fishing) was estimated as the minimum FID of the innermost 50 m section at each area, and fitted using a non-parametric bootstrap method (R = 9999). The parameter  $FID_m$  was the maximum FID for a specific area and family. If a breakpoint was evident in the piecewise models, I used the Davies Test to examine significant differences in slope. If a breakpoint was not evident, or if differences between slopes were not significant, the piecewise model was removed from further analysis. For each model, I calculated the proportion of the variation explained using an approximation for  $R^2$ , where  $R^2$  is equal to 1 minus the residual sum of squares of the model over the total sum of squares. I also calculated a goodness of fit statistic (GOF) using a likelihood ratio test: LRT =  $-2[\log_e(L_0) - \log_e(L_M)]$  which is approximately  $\chi^2$  with k - 1 degrees of freedom, where k is the number of parameters in the model,  $L_0$  is the likelihood of the null model (no parameters) and  $L_M$  is the likelihood given the model used (McClanahan et al. 2007b). If GOF < 0.05 and if the percentage variation explained was > 10%, I considered the model to fit appropriately. I selected the best-fitting model using Akaike's Information Criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AICc), where the model returning the lowest AICc value was considered to have the majority of support if it was > 2 AICc values lower than the next lowest model (Burnham & Anderson 2002). If two or more models were within 2 AAICc of the highest ranked models, I selected the model with the highest R<sup>2</sup> value. Each model fit was plotted using the loess smoother function in R.

Family	Area	Location	F	р	$R^2$	d.f.
Reserve						
Acanthuridae	Аро	Inside	1.43	0.241	0.087	1, 16
		Outside	5.06	0.042	0.280	1,14
	Tandayag	Inside	0.03	0.871	0.002	1,16
		Outside	0.09	0.770	0.007	1, 14
	Tubod	Inside	0.34	0.570	0.021	1, 17
		Outside	13.44	0.002	0.442	1, 18
Scaridae	Аро	Inside	1.11	0.302	0.046	1, 24
		Outside	4.66	0.041	0.163	1, 25
	Tandayag	Inside	0.48	0.499	0.033	1, 15
		Outside	6.53	0.023	0.318	1, 15
	Tubod	Inside	0.00	0.959	0.000	1, 16
		Outside	1.71	0.209	0.097	1, 15
Chaetodontidae	Аро	Inside	2.15	0.164	0.133	1, 15
		Outside	0.49	0.494	0.034	1, 15
	Tandayag	Inside	0.03	0.856	0.002	1, 15
		Outside	1.04	0.326	0.069	1, 15
	Tubod	Inside	0.35	0.562	0.027	1, 15
		Outside	2.99	0.106	0.176	1, 15
Control						
Acanthuridae	Apo	Inside	0.91	0.350	0.038	1, 24
	Control	Outside	2.32	0.147	0.127	1, 17
	Tandayag	Inside	0.20	0.668	0.028	1, 8
	Control	Outside	0.63	0.442	0.042	1, 15
	Tubod	Inside	1.29	0.274	0.085	1, 15
	Control	Outside	0.73	0.407	0.050	1, 15
Scaridae	Apo Control	Inside	0.25	0.618	0.008	1, 34
		Outside	1.25	0.273	0.041	1, 30

**Table 4.3**Results of linear regression of fish flight initiation distance weighted bysize inside and outside of no-take reserves and control areas for all families

Family	Area	Location	F	р	R <sup>2</sup>	d.f
Control						
Scaridae	Tandayag	Inside	0.00	0.954	0.000	1, 15
	Control	Outside	1.33	0.268	0.087	1, 15
	Tubod	Inside	0.15	0.706	0.001	1, 15
	Control	Outside	0.57	0.462	0.039	1, 15
Chaetodontidae	Apo Control	Inside	0.18	0.677	0.015	1, 15
		Outside	0.21	0.651	0.012	1, 19
	Tandayag	Inside	0.48	0.501	0.033	1, 15
	Control	Outside	0.7	0.414	0.048	1, 15
	Tubod	Inside	0.12	0.734	0.009	1, 15
	Control	Outside	4.39	0.056	0.253	1, 14

#### Table 4.3 cont.

I used a randomisation-based multi-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) to determine if there were differences in biomass of Acanthuridae and Scaridae due to NTR locations, management status and benthos. NTR location was treated as a random factor with three levels (Apo, Tandayag, Tubod); management status as a fixed factor (three levels: NTR, adjacent to NTR, control), with rugosity and hard coral cover as covariates. Each recorded fish biomass value was randomly re-sampled with replacement 4999 times to produce an F-value distribution curve based on my data. I then compared the observed F-statistic to this distribution curve. A randomisationbased ANOVA avoids violating assumptions of the theoretical F-value distribution curve and is a more powerful statistical tool (Manly 1997). Where differences were found between management statuses I conducted post-hoc pairwise comparisons using randomized t-tests with a Bonferroni correction.

I fitted logistic decay and linear regression models to fish biomass data for both target families, and selected the best-fit model using the methods described above. The logistic decay model was fitted using the nls routine in R:  $B = 1/(1 + e^{S(I-d)})$ , where B is the proportion of the mid-reserve biomass, S is the slope of the logistic decay, I is the inflection point, and d is the distance from the NTR boundary (Kaunda-Arara & Rose 2004). I estimated 95% confidence intervals (CI) of parameters (S, I) from nonparametric nls bootstrap methods (R=9999) for each model. B was calculated for each NTR-family combination separately, prior to inclusion in the model. The mean biomass of each control area was also converted to a proportion of the mid-NTR biomass of its paired NTR. The model and CI were plotted using a loess smoother using the loess function in R. To determine the spatial extent of spillover of biomass and FID outside the NTR, I estimated the distance at which the modelled FID or biomass reached the mean FID or proportional biomass of the control fished areas. This is likely to be a more realistic measure of the spatial extent of NTR enhancement of fisheries adjacent to NTRs than estimated in other studies, which used the inflection point of a logistic decay curve of catch rate or biomass (Kaunda-Arara & Rose 2004; Abesemis et al. 2006b), or a proportion of the maximum or range of catch/biomass at the NTR centre to infer the spatial extent of spillover (Halpern et al. 2009). Using the mean biomass of control (fished) areas more accurately approximates the level of biomass that is maintained by normal fishing activities in these habitats.

#### 4.3 RESULTS

Both fish families targeted by the fishery showed linear or weakly exponential increases in FID across the boundaries (from NTR to fished) at all three marine NTRs, demonstrating that naïveté of coral reef fishes to fishing extends outside marine NTR boundaries (Fig. 4.1, Table 4.4). In contrast, the non-target family, Chaetodontidae, showed no change in FID across NTR boundaries (Fig. 4.1, Table 4.3), and none of



**Figure 4.2** Fish flight initiation distance (FID) from 200 m inside to 200 m outside marine no-take reserve (NTR) boundaries for: (A) Acanthuridae; (B) Scaridae; (C) Chaetodontidae. FID is weighted by the residuals of the FID  $\sim$  Size relationship and rescaled by mean total length for the family and reserve. Lines represent best-fit models for each family at each NTR; solid lines represent significant relationships between FID and distance, while dashed lines indicate no significant relationship. Black, grey and blue circles and lines represent Tubod, Tandayag and Apo Marine Reserves, respectively. Dotted vertical line indicates marine reserve boundary. See Table 4.3 for results of linear regressions for all families at both reserve and control sites.

the sampled families displayed any trends at any control (fished) "boundary" (Table 4.3). FID for both Acanthuridae and Scaridae reached mean values for control (fished) areas approximately 140 m outside the NTR boundaries (Fig. 4.2, Table 4.5).

Both Acanthuridae and Scaridae biomass showed significant effects of NTR location (multi-way ANCOVA, Acanthuridae:  $F_{2,148} = 16.42$ , P < 0.001; Scaridae:  $F_{2,148} = 11.05$ , P < 0.001) and management status (Acanthuridae:  $F_{2,148} = 6.49$ , P < 0.005; Scaridae:  $F_{2,148} = 4.37$ , P < 0.05). Post-hoc t-tests indicated that for both of the target families there was significantly more fish biomass inside NTRs than in fishing grounds adjacent to NTRs (t-test, Acanthuridae: P < 0.01, Scaridae P < 0.05), but no differences in fish biomass between fished control areas and NTRs or fished control areas and areas adjacent to reserves.

Fish biomass fitted a logistic decay model across NTR boundaries for Acanthuridae, and a linear regression for Scaridae. (Fig. 4.2, Table 4.5). The mean biomass of control areas ranged from 54% of the mid-NTR biomass (Tubod) to 72% (Tandayag) for Acanthuridae, and from 59% (Apo) to 79% (Tubod) for Scaridae. The distance at which NTR biomass declined to a proportion of the mid-NTR biomass that was similar to the control area mean biomass was 89 m inside the NTR boundary for Acanthuridae, and 57 m inside the NTR boundary for Scaridae (Table 4.5). 95% confidence intervals for the spatial extent of FID spillover and biomass spillover did not overlap (Fig. 4.2).

Linear Acanthuridae Tandaya Scaridae Tandaya	es R²	AICc	GOF			Paran	neters			
Linear Acanthuridae Tandaya Scaridae Tandaya		Weight	•	q	95	% CI	т		95% C	
Acanthuridae Tandaya Scaridae Tandaya					( F)				900 0)	
Scaridae Tandaya	lg 0.447	0.433	< 0.0001	180.7	21	-3-/4, 7.60)	0.404		0.572)	
	ıg 0.315	0.424	< 0.001	247	(2C) 29	00.89, 3.09)	0.359		(0.162 0.556)	
Exponential			•	$FID_o{}^*$	$FID_o{}^{\dagger}$	$95\% \mathrm{CI}^{\circ}$	$R^{\dagger}$		95%	CI⁺
Acanthuridae Apo	0.438	0.485	< 0.001	165.7	169.3	(145.6, 194.3)	00.00	140	(0.00 0.001	97)
Scaridae Apo	0.587	0.638	< 0.0001	178.3	189.3	(167.4, 212.0)	00.0	183	(0.00 0.002	140, :27)
Tubod	0.487	0.503	< 0.0001	258.7	266	(234.1, 299.2)	00'0	137	(0.00 0.002	.091, (99)
Acanthuridae All	0.404	0.799	< 0.0001	175.3	181.7	(162.6, 201.0)	00.0	169	(0.00 0.002	130, 110)
Scaridae All	0.470	0.566	< 0.0001	208.1	219.1	(200.7, 238.3)	00.0	165	(0.00 0.001	134, 98)
Piecewise Linear				$b$ $b_{i}$	$5\%$ CI $m_1$	95% CI	$m_2$	95% CI	$S_{I}$	95% CI
Acanthuridae Tubod	0.632	0.656	< 0.0001	247.2 (1) 30	85.67, -0.15 18.82) -0.15	0 (-0.797, 0.498)	0.979	(0.620, 1.399)	-33.8	(-102.25, 34.70)

Chapter 4: Spillover of naïveté

<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> estimates derived from a non-parametric bootstrap (R = 4999)



**Figure 4.3** Fitted models for flight initiation distance (FID) and fish biomass across no-take reserve (NTR) boundaries. Loess smoothed best-fit models for flight initiation distance (blue lines), and biomass (black lines) against distance from NTR boundary for all NTRs combined (dotted lines are 95% confidence intervals) for: (*A*) Acanthuridae; (*B*) Scaridae. FID is weighted by the residuals of the FID ~ Size relationship and rescaled by mean total length for the family across all NTRs. Vertical black dashed line indicates the NTR boundary; dashed horizontal lines indicate mean FID (blue) and mean proportion of mid-NTR biomass (black) at the control sites. Grey shaded areas indicate where best-fit models intersect with mean  $\pm$  SE for control FID and biomass.

for extent of spil	lover for	both bio	mass and	FID.					
Family (model)	R²	Ρ	GOF*	Slope	SE of Slope	Distance at which biomass model = biomass of control (m) †	95% CI biomass intersection (m) <sup>†</sup>	Distance at which model FID = control FID (m)	95% CI of FID intersection (m)
Acanthuridae (Logsitic decav)	0.155	0.006	0.002	-0.0076	0.0027	-89	$(-200^{\pm}, 10)$	142	(116, 191)
Scaridae (Linear)	0.101	0.006	0.006	-0.0014	0.0005	-57	$(-200^{\pm}, 117)$	142	(118, 172)
	,								

Details of best-fit models for pooled Acanthuridae and Scaridae biomass across marine reserve boundaries, and estimates Table 4.5

\* GOF stands for goodness of fit + negative values are distance inside the boundary of the marine reserve #limit of the spatial scale of this study

Chapter 4: Spillover of naïveté

#### 4.4 DISCUSSION

I found that there were significant differences in both fish biomass and FID across the boundaries of three NTRs. A key and surprising finding from this study is that the reductions in FID extended beyond NTR boundaries, whereas the increases in biomass did not. For both targeted families, FID increased from inside to outside the reported maximum effective range for spearguns in a similar artisanal fishery in Papua New Guinea (310 cm) (Feary et al. 2011). The lack of a similar trend for the non-fishery family (Chaetodontidae), suggests the observed increase in FID is related to fishing. While increased fish density and larger fishes in areas adjacent to NTRs are mechanisms by which catch per unit effort (CPUE) can be increased (Russ 2002), I provide evidence of a previously overlooked mechanism that may also increase CPUE; increased catchability of naïve fishes.

Increasing FID with distance across the boundary (from NTR to fished) was found at all NTRs, and for both targeted families, suggesting that the export of naïve behaviour may be a general benefit of marine NTRs. A further interesting finding is the suggestion from biomass models that the fishing grounds immediately adjacent to NTRs had lower biomass than control areas. If fishes leaving marine reserves are more catchable, and density of fishes adjacent to reserves is low, any potential increases in fish biomass within reserves may being exported and captured rapidly, which may explain the relatively low biomass observed within the reserves in this study. This result is consistent with "fishing the line" behaviour observed in some NTRs, whereby fishing pressure is heaviest immediately outside NTR boundaries (Kellner et al. 2007; Francini-Filho & Moura 2008; Goñi et al. 2008). While spillover of biomass almost certainly occurs on Philippine reefs, evidence to date is limited to highly vagile fishes (e.g., Carangidae, Scaridae, *Naso vlamingii*) and to relatively few locations (Abesamis & Russ 2005; Alcala et al. 2005; Abesamis et al. 2006b). I suggest that the lack of biomass spillover in my study, and reduced near-NTR biomass compared to fished

control areas, may be exaggerated by naïve fishes with lower FID being more easily caught.

Increased wariness outside NTRs could be facilitated through direct experience of a non-fatal encounter with a spearfisher, or through the linking of the visual image of a predator with olfactory cues (i.e., chemical alarm cues released when a spear pierces a fish), with repeated exposures resulting in larger effects (Brown 2003). An alternative mechanism increasing FID outside NTRs could be preferential removal of naïve fishes in fished areas, with density-dependent export of non-wary fish from the NTR maintaining lower FID closer to the NTR boundary. Indeed, spillover of fishes through density dependent mechanisms has previously been demonstrated from my study location (Abesamis & Russ 2005; Abesamis et al. 2006b). However, as distance from a NTR increases, the proportion of the fish population that will have escaped/witnessed a fishing event is expected to increase, leading to FID increasing more gradually with distance away from the NTR boundary. Furthermore, my results suggest that individuals may be highly susceptible to capture if they are exposed to fishing, but have a significant proportion of their home range inside NTRs, thus reducing their FID. As such, anticipated increases in biomass may be slower than predicted by many marine NTR models, especially for more vagile species and in smaller NTRs (Kramer & Chapman 1999).

Interestingly, for at least one target family (Acanthuridae), observed FID changes across NTR boundaries appear to be related to other processes besides short-term boundary crossings related to home range size. The selection of linear and weakly exponential models for Scaridae FID suggests wariness increases proportionally to risk over a spatial scale that is consistent with the moderate vagility of this family (Abesemis et al. 2006b; Welsh & Bellwood 2012). However, the distance from the NTR boundary that Acanthuridae continue to display naïve behaviour is similar to that of Scaridae, despite species in this family being considerably less mobile. For example,

Acanthurid species typically have home range diameters < 100 m (Kramer & Chapman 1999; Claydon et al. 2012), compared with home range diameters of several hundred meters for Scarid species (Afonso et al. 2008; Welsh & Bellwood 2012). Although some highly vagile Acanthurid species included in this study (e.g., *Naso* spp.) might be expected to increase the distance outside the NTR that FID is reduced, visual inspection of the data indicated that individuals of these species showed similar FID to other Acanthurids regardless of distance from the NTR boundary. An alternative mechanism for the greater than expected distance that lower FID extends beyond the NTR boundaries for Acanthuridae is density-dependent home-range relocation whereby competitive interactions cause individuals to be displaced towards lower abundances (Kramer & Chapman 1999). Indeed displacement of the home range of fishes from NTRs to adjacent fished areas has been documented from the same location as the current study (Abesamis & Russ 2005), suggesting this is a plausible explanation.

Recent modelling and empirical studies of biomass spillover imply that NTRs can help maintain sustainable fisheries outside their borders (Alcala et al. 2005; Abesamis et al. 2006a; Halpern et al. 2009; Goñi et al. 2010). The spatial extent of this reported spillover has generally been estimated as the distance at which mid-NTR biomass is halved (Kuanda-Arara & Rose 2004; Abesamis et al. 2006b), while here I estimate the extent of spillover by comparison with biomass at adjacent control fished areas. It is likely that the metric I use to estimate spillover is more conservative as fished area biomass appears to generally be greater than 50% of the mid-NTR biomass. Furthermore, little notice has been paid to how behaviour may influence export or accessibility of fishes to a fishery. My results indicate that robust predictions of expected NTR benefits require fish behaviour to be addressed explicitly. Most models assume the rate of fishing mortality (a function of fishing effort, modified by a coefficient of catchability) is constant, or may vary in response to fisher behaviour or

management actions (Pérez-Ruzafa et al. 2008; Halpern et al. 2009). While fishing effort can be estimated with some degree of certainty, estimates of how catchability changes are less certain, hindering the adoption of a varying coefficient of catchability into models. While I did not directly measure catchability, I are confident that there is a relationship between FID and catchability based on other studies that have quantified FID changes with fishing pressure (Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). For spear guns I hypothesize that the approximately linear increases in FID with distance away from the centre of NTRs will be accompanied by a proportional decrease in catchability until FID exceeds the maximum effective range of spearguns. Incorporating behaviourally mediated catchability into population diffusion models should enable a more accurate estimate of how much NTRs enhance nearby fisheries, and what level of fishing effort is sustainable.

Another possible implication of my results is that fish abundance estimates in and around NTRs could be influenced by FID related behaviour. For example, given the assumption that lower FID increases catchability, some CPUE data could overestimate fish abundance near marine NTRs (Rakitin & Kramer 1996; Goñi et al. 2010). Specifically, the efficiency of spearguns is likely to be improved by reduced FID adjacent to NTRs, with high catches possible despite relatively low abundances. However, passive gears such as fish traps are less likely to be affected by FID. Conversely, results from this study and another (Feary et al. 2011) show that the distance at which reef fish are surveyed using UVC (~ 9 m) exceeds that at which targeted fishes flee (generally < 5 m). Thus, when water clarity provides > 5 m visibility, underwater fish counts should not be affected by differences in FID between NTRs and adjacent fished areas. Clearly, the likelihood that FID related behaviour will influence abundance estimates will depend on both survey methodologies and fishing gears in use.

Reductions in fishing ground area and perceived lost fishing opportunities can make fishers unwilling to support marine NTRs (McClanahan 1999). Indeed, resource user perceptions and access to initial and continuing benefits are key to the sustainability of management projects (Pollnac & Pomeroy 2005). Changes to the catchability of fishes, whether through learning or increased intrinsic wariness, may be particularly important where the utility and/or efficiency of widely utilised management tools (e.g., NTRs) and fishery gears (e.g., spear guns/drive nets) are potentially sensitive to fish behaviour (Cinner et al. 2005; Feary et al. 2011). I have demonstrated that reduced FID spills over NTR boundaries, and thus may provide a previously undocumented benefit to local fishers through greater access to catchable fish. While significant increases in biomass in NTRs may take several years, or even decades, to manifest (McClanahan et al. 2007b), the consistent behavioural response of fishes from NTRs of different ages suggests that behavioural changes may occur more quickly.

My results are primarily applicable to reefs where active gears such as spear guns are common, although these results may also be pertinent to the effectiveness of other active gears such as drive-in gill nets. Spearguns are a widely used, and there are substantial artisanal and recreational fisheries that use this gear. For example, approximately 90% of registered artisanal fishers surveyed in Chile rated spearguns as a highly important fishing gear (Godoy et al. 2010), while the quantity of fish harvested by recreational spearfishing in parts of the Mediterranean is equivalent to 40% of the commercial catch (Lloret et al. 2008). Furthermore, spearguns are an important gear relied upon by communities throughout the Pacific Islands (Cinner et al. 2006; Gillet & Moy 2006; Stoffle & Allen 2012). The results presented here have implications for both predicting accessible fishery benefits from NTRs, and how NTRs and adjacent fisheries should be managed. FID may not be the only anthropogenically induced behavioural change pertinent to fisheries. Changes in refuge choice, or in behaviour prior to flight (Guidetti et al. 2008; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011), may act to increase

catchability of fishes, while other behaviours (e.g., "spill-in" of fishes fleeing high fishing pressures) may reduce diffusion of fishes from marine NTRs (Eggleston & Parsons 2008; Jupiter et al. 2012). I recommend explicit consideration of fish behaviour when predicting fishery impacts of NTRs and gear restrictions on local fisheries, in concert with careful monitoring of fisheries adjacent to NTRs to ensure that the fishery benefits of NTRs are appropriately quantified and managed.

#### 4.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank R Abesamis, A Alcala, and Silliman University Angelo King Center for Resources and Environmental Management for local knowledge and assistance, and Apo Island Protected Area Management Board, Tubod and Tandayag Marine Sanctuaries, and the municipalities of San Juan (Siquijor), and Amlan (Negros Oriental) for allowing me to conduct this research on their reefs. Kookoos Nest, Coco Grove Beach Resort, Liberty's Lodge and M Pascobello are acknowledged for logistical assistance. MA MacNeil and SR Januchowski-Hartley gave guidance on the statistical analysis. The Australian Research Council funded this work.

# 4.6 SUMMARY

- Spillover of adult fish biomass is an expected benefit from no-take marine reserves to adjacent fisheries.
- Here I show how fisher-naïve behaviour in reef fishes also spills over from marine reserves, potentially increasing access to fishery benefits by making fishes more susceptible to spearguns.
- The distance at which two targeted families of fishes began to flee a potential fisher (flight initiation distance FID) was lower inside reserves than in fished areas, and this reduction extended outside reserve boundaries.
- Reduced FID persisted further outside reserves than increases in fish biomass.
- This finding could help increase stakeholder support for marine reserves and improve current models of spillover by informing estimates for spatial changes in catchability.
- Behavioural changes of fish could help explain differences between underwater visual census and catch data in quantifying the spatial extent of spillover from marine reserves, and should be considered in the management of adjacent fisheries.

# CHAPTER 5: FISHERY BENEFITS FROM BEHAVIOURAL MODIFICATION OF FISHES IN PERIODICALLY HARVESTED FISHERIES CLOSURES<sup>4</sup>

# 5.1 INTRODUCTION

Allowing resource users a greater say in the development and enforcement of rules is thought to contribute toward both social and ecological dimensions of successful fisheries management (Brooks et al. 2012; Cinner et al. 2012). Consequently, there is an increasing movement to engage communities in collaborative management arrangements that allow resource users to develop rules that are appropriate for local social, cultural, and ecological conditions. As part of these collaborative management arrangements, a number of coastal communities have implemented periodically harvested fisheries closures (PHCs) and other temporal area restrictions (Govan 2009; Cohen & Foale 2012). PHCs are areas of fishing grounds where fishing is normally prohibited, but is occasionally permitted for a short period (as opposed to periodic closures, where areas of fishing grounds are normally open, and occasionally closed, or rotational harvests where the area open to fishing rotates on a fixed cycle). Critical questions remain as to whether periodically harvested closures can provide both social and ecological benefits.

There is empirical evidence that periodically harvested or rotational closures can maintain higher fish biomass and larger individuals, particularly of targeted species, than open fished areas (Meyer 2003; Cinner et al. 2005; McClanahan et al. 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Published as: Januchowski-Hartley FA, Cinner JE, Graham NAJ. 2013. Fishery benefits from behavioural modification of fishes in periodically harvested fisheries closures. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine & Freshwater Ecosystems*. DOI: 10.1002/aqc.2388. FA Hartley designed the study, collected and analysed data, interpreted the results and wrote the paper.

However, additional information about the mechanisms and immediate effects of harvests are needed, particularly as there is potential for periodic harvests to remove a large proportion of standing biomass [e.g., up to 10% of the standing fish biomass in a single day (Cinner et al. 2005)]. If the fish community does not recover in the period between openings, many potential benefits from marine reserves such as spillover of biomass, recruitment subsidy, and increased resilience to stressors may be minimized (Russ 2002; Bellwood et al. 2004). For example in Hawai'i, the 2-year open/2-year closed cycle (later 1-year open/1-year closed) within the Waikiki-Diamond Head Fisheries Management Area probably led to an overall decline in fish biomass in the rotational area over the 24 years of monitoring, despite maintaining higher biomass than open areas (Meyer 2003; Williams et al. 2006). In contrast to Hawai'i, customary periodically harvested closures in Melanesia are often open to fishing for significantly less time (half a day to several weeks (e.g., Cinner et al. 2005; Jupiter et al. 2012)), and some have demonstrated similar or better ecological benefits (e.g., higher fish biomass) than comparable no-take reserves (NTRs) (McClanahan et al. 2006; Bartlett et al. 2009). However, the frequency and intensity of harvest, and the type of fishing activities (i.e., gear choice, target species) may affect different sections of the fish community (McClanahan & Cinner 2008; Jupiter et al. 2012). Understanding which parts of the fish community will be affected, and why, are necessary in order for the effective use of PHCs as a management tool.

Many communities that implement PHCs do so for utilitarian social goals (such as a short-term increase in harvests), which, in addition to metrics such as fish biomass or coral cover, require consideration as indicators of success. For example, some PHCs have the explicit goal of improving harvests by making fishes more approachable (Cinner et al. 2005; Macintyre & Foale 2007). Fishers expect that fishing success (catchability) will increase after an area has been closed as they can now readily approach fish that have lost their wariness to spearfishers (Cinner et al. 2005). This

belief is supported by significant evidence from studies of fish flight initiation distance (FID) showing that fishes are less wary of divers in customary PHCs and recently (< 2 years) closed areas than in open fished areas (Feary et al. 2011, Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). This change in behaviour results in fish that remain outside maximum effective range (MER) of spearguns in fished areas allowing approaches to within MER in closed areas (Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 2, 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011, 2012). This implies that these species of fish would be more easily approached and caught in a PHC, than in open fishing grounds. If increased catchability is a product of reduced wariness, rapid depletion of fish biomass that was built-up during the closed period may result during harvests, because fishing pressure is often intense (Cinner et al. 2005; Jupiter et al. 2012). Ecological functions associated with higher fish biomass may also be degraded if biomass fluctuates significantly (McClanahan et al. 2011). Clearly a better understanding of changes in fish behaviour and catch dynamics is important to assessing the efficacy of these PHCs to fulfil both utilitarian and conservation objectives, temporarily increasing fishing efficiency during openings, while maintaining high levels of fish biomass.

Here, I investigate the effect of harvesting events in PHCs in light of these unresolved questions regarding the role of fish behaviour, benefits that can be realized from changes in behaviour, and the effects of periodic harvests on fishery targeted families and total fish biomass. I conducted surveys of FID of two fishery-target families and one non-target family, as well as biomass of all fishes in two PHCs, two NTRs, and two open-access fished areas prior to and after harvest of the PHCs. Specifically, I investigated the following questions. 1) Do PHCs have an effect on fish FID? If so, 2) what is the effect of a harvest on FID? 3) What is the effect of management strategies (NTR; PHC; open fished area) and harvest on biomass of the fish community? 4) Is fish biomass significantly diminished after a harvest event? 5) Is catch per unit effort higher

during a harvest event than in normal fishing in open fished areas? And 6) are there impacts on fish catches that can be related to changes in fish behaviour?

#### 5.2 METHODS

#### 5.2.1 Study sites and management context



**Figure 5.1** Study area in North Efate, Vanuatu, South Pacific. Large dark green areas are the islands of Nguna and Pele, open polygons are open fished areas, green polygons periodically harvested closures, and orange polygons permanent no-take marine reserves.

The six management areas in this study are situated on fringing coral reefs under the customary ownership (i.e., marine tenure) of two communities in the Nguna-Pele Marine Protected Area Network, North Efate, Vanuatu (17º29'S, 168º23'E). Each community has a permanent NTR that has been completely closed to all fishing for at least 6 years (since 2005), a PHC that is open to exploitation for between 1 and 3 days approximately every 6 months (species harvested during this time may be restricted), and areas open to fishing (Fig. 5.1). One of the PHCs in this study had been established since 2006 while the other had been under periodic harvest status for approximately 18 months (since mid-2010) prior to this study. Both areas had been harvested for either 3 or 7 days approximately 6 months prior to this study. All NTRs and PHCs enclosed between 8 and 10 hectares of fringing reef, while open fished areas enclosed between 14 and 16 hectares of reef. In both communities fished areas of at least 300m of linear reef separated NTRs and PHCs. During the study period (November – December 2012) both PHCs were opened for 3 days to spearfishers targeting all fish species. To answer the research questions above, surveys of fish behaviour and fish and benthic communities were conducted in all management areas pre and post-harvest of the PHCs, using a before-after-control-impact-pairs design (summarized in Table 5.1). Creel (fishery landings) surveys were conducted during regular fishing activities and periodic harvest events. The research agreement with the communities stipulates that resultant publications would not directly identify or name the communities. Therefore, the communities will be referred to as "Community 1" and "Community 2" when necessary.

#### 5.2.2 Effects of periodically harvested closures on fish behaviour

All in-water surveys were conducted between 8:30 am and 5:00 pm. I estimated FID for individuals in three families (two fishery targets: Acanthuridae and Scaridae; one non-target: Chaetodontidae) in each of the three types of management in both communities, prior to openings of PHCs, and immediately after the harvests were completed. I only sampled species that occurred in the fishery catch for each target family, and sampled similar species from each area/time combination. A pre-study power analysis conducted on FID data for Acanthuridae and Scaridae obtained from similar reefs in Papua New Guinea (Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011) indicated a sample size of 12 fishes per area/time combination would have a power of > 0.9 for both families. For the non-fishery target Chaetodontidae, power analysis on FID of this family from Philippine no-take reserves and fished areas (Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b) indicated over 300 individuals would need to be surveyed per area /time combination to obtain a similar power. Due to the non-target status of this family, the small effect of protection demonstrated from a relatively large sample size (> 100 individuals) in the Philippines, and time constraints, I sampled same number (12) of fishes per area/time combination as for the target families.

Indicator	Method	Analysis	<b>Research Questions</b>
Flight initiation distance (FID)	FID surveys of target and non- target families in all areas pre- and post harvest	Three-way orthogonal ANOVA	1, 2, 6
Fish biomass and abundance	UVC of fish community in all areas pre- and post-harvest	Three-way orthogonal ANOVA	3, 4, 6
Catch per unit effort	Creel surveys of normal and periodic harvest fishing trips	Two-way ANOVA	5, 6
Catch composition	Creel surveys of normal and periodic harvest fishing trips	χ-squared test of number of individuals of families in the catch	6

**Table 5.1** Summary of indicators and methods used to answer research questions.

I obtained all estimates of FID through free diving. I identified a focal fish from the surface, before descending to approximately the same depth at > 8m distance. I than swam towards the fish at a steady speed. When the fish fled, I placed a marker on the substrate directly below my face, and then on the substrate directly below where the fish was when it fled. The distance between these markers was measured, and considered to be FID (see Chapter 2 & Januchowski-Hartley *et al.* 2012 for further details). Fishes were not selected for FID estimates if they were engaged in territorial, mating or predator escape behaviour, or were obviously aware of observer presence prior to approach (e.g., had turned to look at the observer). Trials were abandoned if line of sight between the diver and fish was broken prior to flight, or another fish chased the target fish during the approach.

Prior to approach, I estimated fish total length (cm TL), and only individuals larger than 15 cm TL for Acanthuridae and Scaridae, and 10 cm TL for Chaetodontidae were sampled; there was no upper limit on body size. Acanthuridae and Scaridae smaller than 15 cm TL were highly unlikely to be targeted by fishers in the study area. Due to the rarity of individual Chaetodontidae > 15 cm TL, a lower minimum size for this family was adopted. Observer fish TL estimates were validated daily by estimating lengths of PVC pipes (between 5 and 60 cm length) until estimates were consistently within 2 cm of actual length. In order to try and minimize the likelihood of repeated observations on the same individual, I noted size, group size and other characteristics (e.g., scars), and individuals with similar characteristics were not sampled. All FID estimates in an area were conducted on the same day.

# 5.2.3 Impact of periodically harvested closures on fish and benthic communities

Fish and benthic community surveys were conducted by two divers along eight 50 x 5 m transects at 6-8 m depth across all areas both before and after the harvest in the appropriate PHC. The first diver unrolled the transect tape and counted and estimated

the size of all non-cryptic reef fishes > 10 cm TL to the nearest centimetre. Size estimation was validated as above. Fish biomass was calculated using published lengthweight relationships (Froese and Pauly 2011). The second diver followed the first, classifying the benthic habitat directly beneath the transect tape at intervals of 0.5 m as: hard coral, soft coral, turf algae, macroalgae, crustose coralline algae, bare substrate, sand, rubble or other. The second diver also scored the rugosity of the reef for each transect between 0 and 5: 0= no vertical relief; 1 = low and sparse relief; 2=low but widespread relief; 3= moderately complex; 4= very complex; and 5=exceptionally complex (Polunin & Roberts 1993). This scoring approach shows high correlation with other methods of estimating reef rugosity, including the abundance of holes of appropriate size for fish refugia (Wilson et al. 2007).

#### 5.2.4 Effects of periodically harvested closures on catch

I collected data on the abundance, species composition and lengths of fish landings in both villages. I estimated catch per unit effort (CPUE) and composition of the regular fishery by sampling as many fishing trips as possible to the open fishing grounds on fringing reefs over 10-12 days at each village. During the 3-day opening of the PHC, I surveyed all fishing trips to the closure to obtain estimates of the periodic harvest CPUE and composition. Although each community has access to other lagoon and reef areas, these areas were rarely fished during the study period, and I did not record catches from these areas. The time at which fishers entered the water, the time at which they returned to shore, number of fishers, gear used and location fished were all recorded. During the study period all fishing on surveyed reefs was conducted with spearguns. Standard length (cm SL) was measured for all fish caught, and fishes were identified to species level where possible. Holocentridae (squirrel and soldierfish) were grouped at the family level. Published length-weight conversion factors were used as above to calculate CPUE in kg hr-1 for each fisher per trip.
Through discussion with community leaders I identified all fishers in each community who regularly fished on the fringing reefs, and then approached them for interviews. A few fishers were unavailable for interview, as they were visiting relatives elsewhere in Vanuatu. Of fishers who regularly fished in the areas studied, I interviewed 9 out of 11 fishers at Community 1, and 5 out of 6 at Community 2. I asked the following questions were asked of each fisher: how many times a week, and at what time did you fish? Where do you normally fish? What fishing gears do you use and how frequently do you use them? Which families of fishes do you normally catch and with which gear? Following Feary et al. (2011), when fishers were interviewed (while on land) they were asked to visually indicate the maximum distance at which they would shoot at an average-sized fish while holding their spear gun as they would in the water. They were then asked to place a stone at this distance and return to where they were originally standing. The distance between the stone and the fisher's face was estimated as the maximum effective range (MER) of spearguns, because it is likely fishes respond to the spearfisher, rather than the speargun (Chapter 2 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2012). The MER of spearguns across the study areas was  $337 \pm 9.5$  cm (1 SE).

#### 5.2.5 Data analysis

I assessed differences in FID, fish biomass and density, and benthic communities using three-way orthogonal analysis of variance (ANOVA), with community as a random factor, and management status (fished, PHC, NTR) and pre/post harvest status nested within management status as fixed effects. Tukey's post-hoc tests were used to identify where differences between management statuses occurred pre- and post-harvest. I assessed homogeneity of variances using Levene's test and normality of the data through histograms and normal probability plots. Biomass data were log(x + 1) transformed in order to meet assumptions where necessary (apart from Scaridae, which were log(x + 2) transformed). I used two-sample t-tests to compare the mean FID in each management type pre- and post-harvest with MER of spearguns for each

family. I analysed CPUE data using a two-way ANOVA, comparing CPUE during regular fishing activities to CPUE during periodic harvests, with community as a random factor. I compared relative proportions of each focal family in the catch from normal fishing activities with catch from the periodic harvest using Chi-squared tests. All analyses were conducted in Minitab version 14.

#### 5.3 RESULTS

#### 5.3.1 Effects of periodically harvested closures on fish behaviour

Acanthuridae FID differed significantly between communities ( $F_{1,140} = 18.36, P < 18.36$ 0.001), with management status ( $F_{2,140} = 32.19$ , P < 0.001) and pre-versus post-harvest  $(F_{3,140} = 5.08, P = 0.002)$ . Between communities, mean FID was lower in fished areas in Community 2 compared to Community 1. Post-hoc Tukey's test showed that preharvest, mean Acanthuridae FID inside NTRs and PHCs were similar (NTRs: 257.2 cm  $\pm$  11.5 [1 SE]; PHCs: 293.8 cm  $\pm$  13.0). Mean FID in both managed areas were significantly lower than mean FID in open fished areas (Fig. 5.2a). Post-harvest, mean Acanthuridae FID in PHCs was  $374.0 \text{ cm} \pm 13.3$ , which was not significantly different to fished areas  $(387.5 \text{ cm} \pm 19.8)$ . These were significantly higher than mean FID in NTRs (269.8 cm  $\pm$  20.3) (Fig. 5.2a). Scaridae FID also differed significantly between communities ( $F_{1,140} = 9.40$ , P = 0.003) and management status (Fig. 5.2b;  $F_{2,140} =$ 46.93, *P* < 0.001), but not pre- to post-harvest. Similar to Acanthuridae, mean FID of Scaridae in fished areas was generally lower in Community 2 than community 1. Mean Scaridae FID in NTRs was significantly lower than in PHCs, which in turn was significantly lower than in fished areas (Fig. 5.2b). Although there was a significant difference in FID between communities for these target families, the effects of management were consistent across both communities. There was no effect of



**Figure 5.2** Pooled mean flight initiation distance pre-harvest (dark bars) and postharvest (grey bars) for no-take reserves (NTR), periodically harvested closures (PHC) and fished areas. (a) – Acanthuridae; (b) – Scaridae; and (c) – Chaetodontidae. Error bars are  $\pm 1$  SE. The solid horizontal line indicates the mean maximum effective range of spearguns, and the dotted lines the 95% confidence intervals around the mean. Asterisks indicate significant changes in FID after harvest.

community or harvest on Chaetodontidae FID, but mean FID in NTRs was significantly lower than in fished areas (Fig. 5.2c;  $F_{2,137} = 5.12$ , P = 0.007). Mean FIDs of Scaridae and Chaetodontidae did not vary pre- versus post-harvest. For targeted families, mean FID in NTRs at all times was significantly less than MER; while in fished areas mean FID was significantly greater (Table 5.2). Acanthuridae mean FID in PHCs increased from less than MER pre-harvest to greater than MER post-harvest (Fig. 5.2a). Mean FID of Scaridae was not significantly different from MER either pre- or post-harvest in the PHCs (Fig. 5.2b).

**Table 5.2**Results of 2-sample t-tests between mean FID and maximum effectiverange of speargun for target families at each village and management areacombination, pre- and post-harvest.

Management	Pre/post	Family	T-value	Р	Relative
area	harvest				to MER
Fished	Pre	Acanthuridae	2.22	0.036	+
		Scaridae	5.22	< 0.001	+
	Post	Acanthuridae	2.26	0.032	+
		Scaridae	4.86	< 0.001	+
No-take reserve	Pre	Acanthuridae	5.40	< 0.001	-
		Scaridae	2.69	0.011	-
	Post	Acanthuridae	3.03	0.005	-
		Scaridae	3.10	0.005	-
Periodically	Pre	Acanthuridae	2.73	0.012	-
harvested closure		Scaridae	0.00	0.996	=
	Post	Acanthuridae	2.23	0.036	+
		Scaridae	1.69	0.104	=

# 5.3.2 Impact of periodically harvested closures on fish and benthic communities

Total biomass varied between communities ( $F_{1,89} = 43.84$ , P < 0.001), and with management status ( $F_{2,89} = 17.73$ , P < 0.001) but did not change pre- to post-harvest ( $F_{3,89} = 1.86$ , P = 0.598). Post-hoc Tukey's test demonstrated that total biomass was lower in fished areas than in NTRs and PHCs, which were not significantly different (Fig. 5.3a). Acanthuridae biomass showed differences in biomass between



**Figure 5.3** Pooled biomass of fishes pre-harvest (dark bars) and post-harvest (grey bars) at no-take reserves (NTR), periodically harvested closures (PHC), and open fished areas. (a) – all fishes; (b) – Acanthuridae; (c) – Scaridae; and (d) – Chaetodontidae. Error bars are  $\pm 1$  SE.

communities ( $F_{1,89}$  = 33.06, P < 0.001), and with management status ( $F_{2,89}$  = 11.05, P < 0.001) and was significantly higher in NTRs than either PHCs or fished areas, which had similar levels of biomass (Fig. 5.3b). Neither Scaridae nor Chaetodontidae showed any significant differences in biomass between communities, or management areas (Fig 5.3b,c). Abundance of fish only differed significantly between management areas for Acanthuridae, which showed higher abundance in the NTRs than fished areas both pre ( $F_{2,44}$  = 6.23, P = 0.004) and post-harvest ( $F_{2,44}$  = 6.96, P = 0.002). Differences between communities in total biomass were primarily attributable to reefs in one

community having a significantly greater Acanthuridae abundance ( $F_{1,44} = 6.32$ , P = 0.016). There was no effect of the harvest on biomass or abundance for any biomass category.

PHCs were significantly more rugose than fished areas ( $F_{2,44} = 9.48$ , P < 0.001), but rugosity did not differ between communities. Benthic cover was dominated by crustose coralline algae and sediment-laden turf algae, which when combined accounted for 58.9 - 84.3% of benthic cover at all areas. The combined percent benthic cover of crustose coralline algae and sediment-laden turf algae did not differ either between management regime or community tenure. Turf algae cover was slightly higher in fished areas than NTRs ( $F_{2,44} = 3.38$ , P = 0.043). There was higher hard coral cover in community 1 than in community 2 ( $F_{1,44} = 18.31$ , P < 0.001), but hard coral cover was low in all areas, ranging between 1 and 7.5%. There were no differences found postharvest for either rugosity or benthic composition.

#### 5.4.3 Effects of periodically harvested closures on catch

Interviews with 14 out of the 17 regular fishers in the two communities indicated that during normal fishing activities there were 5.6 fishing trips/hectare/week to the fished area in community 1 (total number of trips/week = 84.5), while in community 2 there were 1.6 trips/hectare/week (total number of trips/week = 34.4) across both day and night. During the weeks of this study, less than the average number of trips to the fringing reef fishing grounds were observed, and several fishers indicated that this was due to community and family duties in the lead up to Christmas limiting opportunities for fishing. All fishers interviewed reported they primarily used spearguns on the reefs in this study; only one reported using a different gear (gill net), and then only once or twice a month. All fishing on the fringing reefs during the study period was conducted using spearguns. Primary target families were Acanthuridae (particularly *Naso* species) and Scaridae, although other families would be targeted opportunistically.



**Figure 5.4** Catch data for normal and periodic harvest fishing trips. (a) Pooled catch per unit effort data (kg person-1 hour-1), and (b) average weight of individual fish (kg) in the catch from regular fishing trips (dark bars) and during period harvest trips (grey bars). Error bars are  $\pm 1$  SE.

A total of 153 fish consisting of 89 species from 20 families were caught by speargun during 16 fishing trips to open areas, and 122 fish from 12 fishing trips during the periodic harvest (Table 5.3). Twenty-two trips were conducted during daylight hours, and six at night. However, there was no significant difference in CPUE with time of day for either trips to the PHCs or normal fishing trips (2-way t-test, normal fishing: t = 0.96, P = 0.37; periodic harvest: t = 0.97, P = 0.40), and night-time and daytime fishing trips were pooled. CPUE (kg person<sup>-1</sup> hour<sup>-1</sup>) for all fishes differed significantly between regular fishing trips to open grounds, and fishing trips for the periodic harvest (two-way ANOVA;  $F_{1,27} = 5.92$ , P = 0.022), with periodic harvest trips having a CPUE almost double that of regular fishing activities (Fig. 5.4a). Acanthuridae CPUE during periodic fishing harvests was almost 2.5 times greater than Acanthuridae CPUE during

normal fishing trips ( $F_{1,27} = 4.82$ , P = 0.038). However, there was no difference in CPUE for Scaridae between normal fishing activities and harvest of the periodic closure. There was no effect of community on CPUE. The average size (kg) of individual fishes in catches from the PHCs was 45% greater than fishes from open areas (Fig 5.4b;  $F_{1,272} = 16.28$ , P < 0.001), and there was a significant difference in the average size of fishes in the catch between tenure areas ( $F_{1,272} = 14.98$ , P < 0.001). There was no significant difference in the average size of Acanthuridae in the catch (Fig. 5.4b). However, the average size of Scarids in the catch from PHCs was significantly greater (~ 26%) than in catch from open areas ( $F_{1,96} = 7.66$ , P = 0.007), and differed significantly between communities ( $F_{1,96} = 10.62$ , P = 0.002).

**Table 5.3**Composition of catches by fish family during normal fishing activitiesand periodic closure harvests (n = number of fishing trips).

	N	ormal fishi	ng	Pe	riodic harv	est
	Village 1	Village 2	Average	Village 1	Village 2	Average
Family	n = 12	<i>n</i> = 7	(% 10tal Catch)	<i>n</i> = 7	<i>n</i> = 5	(% Total Catch)
Acanthuridae	27	16	22.8	29	25	38.8
Balistidae	0	1	0.8	-	-	0
Caesonidae	2	-	0.8	2	-	1.4
Carangidae	1	2	1.9	2	1	2.15
Haemulidae	1	2	1.9	2	5	5.15
Holocentridae	26	3	12.8	3	2	3.6
Kyphosidae	1	3	2.7	7	2	6.35
Labridae	3	2	2.7	2	3	3.65
Lethrinidae	2	1	1.6	1	1	1.45
Lutjanidae	2	-	0.8	2	2	2.9
Monocanthidae	1	-	0.4	1	1	1.45
Mullidae	0	5	3.8	2	1	2.15
Scaridae	48	27	39.5	15	20	25
Serranidae	2	3	3.1	4	4	5.8
Siganidae	1	-	0.4	-	-	0
Sphyraenidae	1	-	0.4	-	-	0
Squid/ Cuttlefish	6	1	3.2	-	-	0
Total	124	67		72	67	

Acanthuridae and Scaridae dominated fish landings during both regular and periodically harvested closure fishing trips, combined accounting for 60 - 70% of all fishes caught. However, relative proportions of these families differed between regular fishing and periodic harvests at both communities, with Acanthuridae becoming more numerous in the catch during the periodic harvests, and the Scaridae less so (Table 5.3;  $\chi^2$  test: community 1,  $\chi^2 = 24.35$ , d.f. = 1, *P* < 0.001; community 2,  $\chi^2 = 4.63$ , d.f. = 1, *P* = 0.031).

#### 5.4 DISCUSSION

A major obstacle to the success of co-management of near-shore artisanal fisheries is a mismatch in perceptions of benefits gained from measures such as marine protected areas (Gelcich et al. 2009; McClanahan et al. 2012). Despite this, because marine protected areas are known to be successful in increasing and maintaining fish biomass within their borders (Lester et al. 2009), as well as providing spillover of more catchable adults (Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b) and larval subsidy (Harrison et al. 2012) they are commonly implemented as a management tool. In this study, evidence is presented that lightly harvested PHCs are an alternative tool that can maintain similar levels of biomass to marine protected areas, while increasing fishing efficiency for at least one highly targeted family when opened for harvesting. This increase in efficiency appears to arise primarily through changes in the behaviour of fishery target reef fishes. This suggests that short-term openings of previously closed areas of fishing grounds can meet utilitarian goals of local communities (i.e., temporarily increasing fishing efficiency) through locally customary envisaged mechanisms (i.e., changing behaviour of fishes). PHCs can provide ecological benefits such as increased fish biomass, which in addition to providing fisheries benefit through adult and larval spillover (Halpern et al. 2009; Harrison et al. 2012) can aid in

maintaining ecosystem functions such as herbivory. In addition, fishing efficiency may also be improved near PHCs through spillover of more catchable fishes (Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b) and these effects may help to ensure local support of conservation actions when placed within a co-management framework.

Prior to harvest, mean FID of Acanthuridae and Scaridae were lower in the PHCs than fished areas, while CPUE during harvest of the closures was almost double that of normal fishing activities. Importantly, the increase in mean fish size in the catch from periodic harvest would only account for less than 50% of the increase in CPUE for all fishes combined, and for only approximately 33% of the increase in CPUE for Acanthuridae. Notably, the Acanthuridae exhibited mean FID in PHCs that was considerably lower than MER of spearguns pre-harvest, strongly suggesting that the increase in CPUE was a result of increased catchability. Presuming that FID after the previous harvest events would be similar to that shown after this event, this implies that the reduction in FID and increase in catchability occurred over a relatively short temporal scale ( $\sim 6$  months), and more rapidly than biomass would be expected to increase in NTRs (McClanahan et al. 2007b). This is a considerably shorter duration of protection from fishing than reported in earlier studies that showing reductions in FID in areas under protection (Gotanda et al. 2009; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). However, the time-scale for the full effect of protection to be realized may vary among families. For example, here the FID of Scaridae was still higher in PHCs than NTRs pre-harvest, whereas Acanthuridae FID did not differ. In general, Scaridae appear to be intrinsically more flighty than Acanthuridae, with higher FID than Acanthuridae at almost all levels of exploitation (Feary et al. 2011; Chapters 3, 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011, 2013). This higher intrinsic wariness may dampen the effect of protection on FID, leading to changes in Scaridae behaviour taking longer to manifest.

The lack of post-harvest increase in Scaridae FID may be explained by substantial inter-family differences in FID. The pre-harvest mean FID of Acanthuridae in the PHCs was significantly below the MER of spearguns used on these reefs. In contrast, mean FID of Scaridae was at the limit of speargun MER. Therefore Acanthuridae may have attracted the majority of effort because Acanthurids were more likely to allow a closer approach by fishers than Scaridae, substantially increasing the likelihood of a successful shot. Change in the composition of the catch between regular harvesting and periodic closure harvesting support this theory. The increase in Acanthuridae as a proportion of the catch, while relative abundances of Acanthuridae and Scaridae between PHCs and fished areas pre-harvest did not vary, suggests fishers are taking advantage of differences in catchability. Similar changes in catch composition have been reported elsewhere after periodic harvests (Cinner et al. 2005). Significantly, post-harvest Acanthuridae FID increased to beyond MER of spearguns, even with the relatively low fishing intensity experience during the periodic closure harvest (~18 hours of fishing effort over ~18 hectares of reef).

The effects of protection on Acanthuridae behaviour were rapidly lost, and this has important implications for benefits from PHCs. First, if PHCs remained open to fishing for longer periods of time, fishers might start targeting Scaridae more frequently, and FID for this family would likely increase. Catch composition would then more closely resemble that of regular fishing activities. Second, reductions in FID are fragile, and potential benefits from changes in behaviour could be lost if there is low compliance with the periodic harvest schedule, or the boundaries of the area under protection are not well known. Third, this observed sensitivity to fishing of a popular fishery target family raises the possibility that FID can be used as a metric to assess compliance within protected areas, when compared to FID in nearby open fished areas (Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011).

Relative to fished areas lightly fished periodically harvested areas can maintain higher total fish biomass, comparable to the effects of NTRs. FID related vulnerability might explain that while PHCs maintain similar total biomass to NTRs, they did not do so for Acanthuridae biomass. The lack of effect of either form of protection on Scaridae is possibly because the protected areas in this study were not large enough to protect the relatively vagile Scaridae (Welsh & Bellwood 2012). Both families are generally targeted by spearguns (McClanahan & Cinner 2008), the primary gear used on these fringing reefs, while the total biomass category includes fish families which are not speargun targets in the region [e.g., Serranidae (McClanahan & Cinner 2008)], or where FID is generally greater than speargun MER [e.g., Lutjanidae (Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011)]. This study highlights that behaviour may also play a critical role in how vulnerable fishes are to depletion. Unlike the more wary Scaridae, Acanthuridae appear to be vulnerable to pulse-fishing, or rotational harvesting events. For example, in harvests of previously closed areas in Fiji (Jupiter et al. 2012) and Papua New Guinea (Cinner et al. 2005), Acanthuridae were a major portion of the harvest and, similar to here, were a larger proportion of the catch than during normal fishing trips. Jupiter et al. (2012) speculate Acanthuridae schooling in the upper water column drove increased prevalence in the catch, because this behaviour resulted in fishes being immediately visible to spearfishers entering the water. While aggregating is known to increase vulnerability of fishes to artisanal fishing (Hamilton et al. 2012), and has been implemented in fisheries vulnerability assessments (Cheung et al. 2005), other behavioural based characteristics may also need to be considered, particularly in the context of small-scale artisanal fisheries.

There is ample evidence that unrestricted harvesting of a previously closed area can reduce biomass of fish to levels below that of normally fished areas, from which recovery may require several years (Russ & Alcala 2003; Jupiter et al. 2012). This study shows that even low and infrequent harvesting intensity may diminish some effects of protection, particularly for targeted families. The standing biomass of fishes is critically important for the maintenance of ecosystem states and processes, and although total fish biomass in the PHCs were at levels similar to NTRs, this level is below several thresholds leading to the loss of ecosystem processes for coral reefs in the Indian Ocean (McClanahan et al. 2011). If, as discussed above, there is a ratcheting down effect on biomass of frequent and intense harvests (Cohen & Foale 2012), thresholds at lower biomasses will be approached. At these lower levels of biomass, further small reductions may lead to several thresholds being crossed, and further degradation of ecosystem processes. A study in the Nguna-Pele Marine Protected Area network five years prior to this one, found similar relative proportions of no-take reserve and PHCs biomass (Bartlett et al. 2009). This implies that this low-intensity harvesting strategy, in this reserve network, is not leading to a ratcheting down effect. However, in PHCs, traditional taboos or other forms of management where harvesting is more intense or of longer duration (e.g., Cinner et al. 2005; Williams et al. 2006; Jupiter et al. 2012), biomass may be reduced below critical thresholds. Importantly, total biomass of fishes in fished areas in this network was found to be only slightly above the level of total biomass on Indian Ocean coral reefs below which thresholds leading to degraded ecosystem function are rapidly crossed (McClanahan et al. 2011). While threshold levels of biomass are unlikely to be exactly the same on Pacific Ocean coral reefs, given similarities between dominant species, functional groups and food webs, these thresholds are probably generally applicable. In both communities, the recent establishment of the NTRs, and the closure of additional reef to establish PHCs, have concentrated fishers on smaller areas of reef (< 50% the area pre-management), and potentially will result in total biomass in these areas dropping below the level of these thresholds in future years.

Although a number of studies have explored whether and how PHCs can provide social and ecological benefits (e.g., Cinner et al. 2005; Bartlett et al. 2009; Jupiter et al.

2012), their potential role in contemporary conservation has been questioned due to origins for other social and cultural purposes (Cinner and Aswani 2007; Foale et al. 2011). Periodically harvested fisheries closures are likely provide many of the benefits (spillover, recruitment subsidy) that are expected from permanent no-take areas because they maintain similar levels of biomass. This study demonstrates that periodic harvests can also be associated with a short-term increase in fishing efficiency, that this is likely due as much, if not more so, to behavioural change than to increases in fish size within PHCs. It is likely that similar strategies would result in similar outcomes through the same mechanisms in near shore artisanal fisheries in other parts of the world. Local context, including community involvement, strength of local institutions, economic and nutritional reliance on the resource, expectations from harvest events and integration with markets will all have a bearing on the success of customary PHCs (Brooks et al. 2012; Cinner et al. 2012). It should be emphasized that these benefits are documented only where harvesting is extremely light and considerable research is required to better understand the sustainable limits of PHCs.

#### 5.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to the Nguna-Pele MPA Network for allowing us to conduct this study in their fishing grounds and marine reserves. Special thanks to J. Ronneth, K. Nash and R. Lawton for field support during this work, and Paunvina, Napanga and Wora-Namoa Guesthouses. This study was funded through a James Cook University Graduate Research Scheme Award, and from the Australian Research Council through N. Graham and J. Cinner.

#### 5.6 SUMMARY

- Periodically harvested fisheries closures are widely implemented across the South Pacific as a conservation and fisheries management tool. There is a lack of information on the mechanisms and effectiveness of this management system in meeting fisheries and ecosystem sustainability goals.
- A before-after-control-impact (BACI) pair design, was used to quantify flight initiation distance (FID), and biomass of two fishery-target (Acanthuridae and Scaridae) and one non-target (Chaetodontidae) families in two periodically harvested closures, two no-take marine reserves, and two open fished areas, prior to and after harvest of the periodically harvested closures. Creel surveys were used to quantify catch per unit effort (CPUE) in open fishing grounds, and during the periodic harvests.
- Prior to harvest, FID of targeted families was higher in fished areas than
  periodically harvested areas. Post-harvest, Acanthuridae FID increased
  significantly to beyond the maximum effective range of spearguns. Total
  biomass of fishes was lower in fished areas than areas under either type of
  management. Acanthuridae biomass in the periodically harvested closures was
  similar to fished areas, and lower than in the no-take reserves. There was no
  difference post-harvest for either total or Acanthuridae biomass.
- CPUE was higher for fishing trips inside the periodically harvested closures than regular fishing activities. Fishes were generally larger in catches from periodically harvested closures, but this was not sufficient to account for the increase in CPUE, particularly of the Acanthuridae, which were significantly more abundant in the harvest catch.
- When fishes are protected temporarily from fishing, their wariness decreases which makes them more easily catchable when fishing is reinstated. This study

shows that fish behavioural change is an important and overlooked benefit of periodically harvested closures. However, differences in the magnitude of behavioural changes between fishery-target families may result in contrasting outcomes of periodically harvested management regimes.

# CHAPTER 6: VARIATION IN FISH FLIGHT INITIATION DISTANCE WITH PROTECTION ACROSS A GRADIENT OF FISHING PRESSURE

#### 6.1 INTRODUCTION

Fishing is a major factor shaping the structure and function of coral reef fish communities globally (Pandolfi et al. 2003), and a number of studies have shown that biomass and density of targeted fishes, particularly high trophic level predatory species, decline along a gradient of fishing intensity (Jennings & Polunin 1996; Friedlander & DeMartini 2002). In contrast, the effects that fishing has on fish behaviour, and resulting implications for conservation and fisheries management have been largely overlooked. There is mounting evidence that fish inside marine reserves are less wary of humans, while outside reserves wariness increases with fishing pressure (Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 2, 3, 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011, 2012, 2013). Importantly, these behavioural responses to fishing can potentially affect both fisheries yields and ecosystem functions. Fish can be less wary immediately outside marine reserves than in control areas further away, potentially increasing their catchability for gears such as spear guns (Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b). In addition, herbivorous fish with higher levels of wariness may spend more time near shelter or flee from predators earlier, reducing time spent grazing (Madin et al. 2010b).

Substantial research has shown the potential for marine reserves to help rebuild fish assemblages (Babcock et al. 2010), but their effects on behaviour are unknown. Knowing how wariness changes with protection and fishing pressure has important implications for both fisheries sustainability and the ability of fishes to perform key ecological functions (such as herbivory) that help sustain coral reefs. Here, I present the results of behavioural surveys of target fish families inside and outside marine reserves along a wide gradient of fishing intensity. I ask the following questions: 1) does fish wariness outside marine reserves change with increasing fishing pressure? And 2) does fish wariness inside marine reserves change with increasing fishing pressure in the surrounding seascape?

#### 6.2 METHODS

#### 6.2.1 Study sites

I estimated Acanthuridae (surgeonfish) and Scaridae (parrotfish) flight initiation distances (FID) at 13 areas where fishing was restricted through either permanent notake reserves or traditional management practices (protected), and 10 open fished areas (fished) across four countries in the Indo-Pacific between 2009 and 2011 (Chagos - 3 large 'pristine' protected atolls; Papua New Guinea - 3 protected, 5 fished areas; Philippines - 3 protected, 3 fished; and Vanuatu - 4 protected, 2 fished). Protected areas were either remote (Chagos), or compliance with protection was considered to be high by communities in which areas were situated (FA Januchowski-Hartley, personal communication). FID was measured on both SCUBA and by free diving. Results from Chapter 2 (Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2012) showed no significant difference between FID recorded while free diving versus SCUBA, and I included data collected by observers using both of these techniques. The technique used to collect data while on SCUBA closely resembled the free diving methodology, including starting approaches from distances well beyond maximum recorded FID (> 10 m from the target fish), horizontal body position and steady speed approaches at the same depth as the fish (see Feary et al. 2011). In addition to fish species, size to the nearest centimetre total length and refuge availability (using reef complexity as a proxy), were recorded for all

fishes, because both have been shown to be significantly associated with FID (Gotanda et al. 2009; Chapters 2, 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011, 2012).

#### 6.2.2 Fishing Pressure

I estimated fishing pressure as the number of fishers per kilometre of fringing reef. In the Philippines and Vanuatu, number of fishers within each fished area was estimated through key informant interviews with village leaders and chairmen of local fisher groups, conducted concurrently with estimates of FID. I asked interviewees how many fishers regularly (at least once per week) fished the fringing reefs in the fishing grounds. Where possible, I validated my results either through comparison with the number of fishers obtained by previous studies or with scientists and managers working independently in the same areas (R Weeks unpublished data; Abesamis & Russ 2006; Pascal 2011). For Papua New Guinea, estimates of number of fishers for each area were taken from household surveys at each area in 2009 (J Cinner, unpublished data), where respondents were asked the average number of days per week that each member of the household engaged in fishing. FID estimates were conducted concurrently with household surveys in two reserves and two fished areas in 2009, FID for the other four areas (1 unfished, 3 fished) were estimated in 2010, but at the same time of year (June-August) as the household surveys. I calculated the length of fringing reef in each fishing area, excluding fringing reef under protection, by digitally tracing the reef crest using Google Earth, using either known geographic features, or GPS co-ordinates to delineate the edges of the community fishing grounds.

#### 6.2.1 Data analysis

Differences in FID between fished and unfished areas are well known and large and were not the subject of this study, so I analysed FID from fished and unfished sites separately because the large impact of protection (Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 2 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2012) is likely to obscure relationships between FID and other explanatory variables. I used linear mixed effect models to assess relationships between fish FID and the following explanatory variables: fish size, fishing pressure, substrate complexity and life-history stage (initial or terminal stage - parrotfishes only). I also included ecologically meaningful interactions between explanatory variables in the models if interactions were indicated in co-plots of the explanatory variables. Country and genus were included as random effects, and prior to finding the optimal fixed structure for each protection/family combination I first examined the random effect structure for a model with all explanatory variables as recommended by Zuur *et al.* (2009). This comparison was performed with restricted likelihood estimation within the lmer function of the lme4 package in R (R Development Core Team 2011). I selected the models with the lowest Akaike information criterion adjusted for small sample size (AIC<sub>c</sub>). Variances of the full models (all explanatory variables) were found to be homogenous, and residuals normally distributed.

I found the optimal fixed structures for effects of explanatory variables by using likelihood ratio tests of nested models. Statistical significance was evaluated by testing -  $2 \log_e$ (likelihood) against the  $\chi^2$  distribution with 1 degree of freedom between each nested model and the full model (Zuur et al. 2009). I then dropped the explanatory variable with the lowest significant difference, and continued until all remaining explanatory variables were important in the model (likelihood ratio test *P* < 0.05). The 'best' set of models for each family/protection group were considered all those within 2 AIC<sub>c</sub> units of the model with the lowest AIC<sub>c</sub> score. These models were averaged to identify the effects of each explanatory variable on FID, and their normalised Akaike weight ( $\omega_{ip}$ ) for each predictor calculated. All analyses were performed within the lmer function of the lme4 and model.avg function of the MuMIn packages in R (R Development Core Team 2011). Variances of the full models (all explanatory variables) were found to be homogenous, and residuals normally distributed.

#### 6.3 RESULTS

In general there was strong evidence for a relationship between FID and predictor variables, with four models representing more than 90% of the cumulative AIC<sub>c</sub> model weight in all family/protection combinations (Table 6.1). Fishing pressure was included in every model within the 90% AIC<sub>c</sub> model weight cut-off across all groups. Fish size and reef structural complexity were also well represented, but occurred less frequently than fishing pressure, while life-history stage was of variable importance between parrotfish subsets (Table 6.1). The interaction between fishing pressure and fish size was not important for surgeonfish FID in protected areas, but was in every other group.

	Fishing Pressure (FP)	Fish Size (FS)	Reef Complexity (RC)	Life- history stage	FP: RC	FP:FS
Protected						
Acanthuridae	0.251 ***	-0.043 <sup>NS</sup>	0.007 <sup>NS</sup>			
$\omega_{ip}$	1.00	0.29	0.19			
Scaridae	0.704 ***	0.201 ***	-0.101 **	0.061 <sup>NS</sup>		-0.387 ***
$\omega_{ip}$	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.64		1.00
Fished						
Acanthuridae	0.757 *	0.474 **	-0.381 **		0.501 <sup>NS</sup>	-0.420 <sup>NS</sup>
ω <sub>ip</sub>	1.00	1.00	1.00		0.42	0.62
Scaridae	3.808 ***	0.761 ***	0.174 <sup>NS</sup>	0.022 <sup>NS</sup>	-2.793 ***	-0.855 ***
$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{ip}$	1.00	1.00	0.67	0.19	1.00	1.00

**Table 6.1**.Ranked best sets of models predicting fish flight initiation distance inprotected and fished areas for Acanthuridae and Scaridae.

\* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, P < 0.001

The interaction between fishing pressure and reef complexity was important for both parrotfish and surgeonfish in fished areas. The null model did not account for more than 0.001% of the cumulative model weight in any subset.



**Figure 6.1** Flight initiation distance standardised by country in relation to fishing pressure. (a) Acanthuridae; (b) Scaridae. Blue triangles are protected areas, black circles are fished areas, error bars are 95% confidence intervals. Black lines are regression lines for the univariate relationship between adjusted FID and fishing pressure with 95% confidence intervals (grey shading).

<b>Table 6.2</b> Scaridae.	Ranked t	oest sets of n	nodels predicting	g fish flight	initiation dist	ance in pro	tected a	nd fished	areas for A	canthuridae and
Model Rank	Fishing pressure (FP)	Fish size (FS)	Reef Complexity (RC)	Life- history stage	FP: FS	FP: RC	df	AAICe	ωAICc	Cumulative ωAICc
PROTECTED	_									
Acanthuridae										
1	-			Х		Х	2	0.0	0.451	0.451
0	•			X		X	9	1.2	0.252	0.703
3	•		•	X		Х	9	2.0	0.166	0.869
4	•		•	X		Х		3.2	0.092	0.961
NULL							4	19.0	<0.001	1.000
Scaridae										
1	•	•	•	•		Х	8	0.0	0.627	0.627
0	•		•			Х		1.2	0.352	0.979
NULL							3	66.1	<0.001	0.999
FISHED										
Acanthuridae										
1	•	•	•	Х			8	0.0	0.338	0.338
0	•		•	X	•	•	6	0.3	0.287	0.625
33	•	•	•	Х			~	0.7	0.238	0.863
4	•	•	•	Х		•	8	1.8	0.137	0.999
NULL							4	110.4	<0.001	1.000
Scaridae										
1	•		•		•	•	8	0.0	0.418	0.418
2	•	•				•	~	0.7	0.295	0.713
3	•		•	•		•	6	1.8	0.169	0.882
4							8	2.5	0.117	0.999



**Figure 6.2**. Random intercept coefficients by Country for: A) Acanthuridae protected; B) Acanthuridae fished; C) Scaridae protected; and D) Scaridae fished. Ch: Chagos, PNG: Papua New Guinea, Ph: Philippines, Van: Vanuatu. Error bars are 95% CI.

The averaged models indicate fishing pressure had moderate to strong positive relationships with FID for both parrotfish and surgeonfish in fished and protected areas (Fig. 6.1, Table 6.2). Fish size similarly showed a moderate and positive relationship with FID except for surgeonfish in protected areas while reef complexity primarily exhibited a weak negative relationship with FID for two of the groups (Table 6.2). Life-history stage only showed weak effects on FID.

Country explained between 50 and 75% of the variance within groups, while genus accounted for less than 15%. Examination of the random coefficients for country indicated that fishes in Chagos will generally have a considerably lower FID than any other country, while in Vanuatu will have a higher FID (Fig. 6.2).

#### 6.4 DISCUSSION

My study demonstrates that fishing pressure was positively related to FID in key fishery-target families. A key and surprising finding is that this same relationship held inside protected marine reserves as well, despite all these areas having high levels of compliance. Specifically, fish inside well-protected managed areas (both no-take reserves and periodically harvested closures) became more wary of humans as fishing pressure in the surrounding seascape became more intense. These results reinforce other work indicating that behavioural responses to predation (in this case fishing) are scaled to overall levels of chronic predation risk in the wider landscape, but higher where predation risk is more acute (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005; Madin et al. 2010a, b; Holmes & McCormick 2011). This agrees with reviews of FID in other taxa, which showed increased FID during hunting seasons and with prey experience (Walther 1969; de Boer et al. 2004; Theil et al. 2007; Stankowich 2008). Additionally, I show that fish size and reef complexity, while important in predicting FID, have less of an effect than predation risk. These findings have potentially important implications for the role of marine reserves in conserving key functions of coral reefs. Specifically, parrotfishes and surgeonfishes are herbivores that play an important role in maintaining reef functions (Bellwood et al. 2004). Studies on indirect fishing effects show that where predation

risk is high, foraging effort by herbivores becomes patchy (Madin et al. 2010b), and my results imply higher fishing pressure is likely to evoke similar responses.

Behaviour in fishes has a distinct genetic component (Giles & Huntingford 1984; Sutter et al. 2013). My results imply that in addition to influencing size, growth rates and reproductive schedules (Enberg et al. 2009), fishing selective pressure has the potential to influence fish behaviour. If fishing preferentially removes less-wary fishes from a population, the average fish that succeeds in reproducing will have higher levels of intrinsic (i.e., unlearned) wariness than fishes from an unfished population. This theory could explain the lower FID of fishes in Chagos, because fishes recruiting to Chagossian atolls originate from an isolated, unfished population (Graham & McClanahan 2013), unlike the rest of protected areas in this study. However, this is somewhat contradicted by results from Vanuatu, where fishes had greater than expected FID despite relatively low fishing pressure. It should be noted that my fishing pressure estimates are from reefs immediately adjacent to marine reserves, while the natal reefs of fishes can be up to 200 km from the reefs to which they recruit (Hogan et al. 2011).

An alternative explanation for this pattern is the import of learned responses to predation into the reserves from fished populations (Holmes & McCormick 2011; Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b). Frequent exposure to acute predation events and presence of olfactory alarm cues in the water are likely to lead to visual association by fish of divers with predation (Brown 2003). Increases in FID inside protected areas could subsequently result through social transmission of anti-predator behaviour to fishes in low-risk environments by fishes habituated to higher-risk environments (Brown et al. 1999; Brown 2003). Most reserves in this study are small (< 25 hectares) and in reserves or wilderness areas many times larger than target species home ranges, social transmission of behaviour could be limited to a zone near the reserve borders.

The relative influence of the above potential mechanisms influencing fish behaviour could be important for the function of marine reserves. If social transmission is the dominant mechanism, small reserves may be effective at lower fishing pressures, but offer fewer benefits for reef health at higher fishing intensities due to potential inhibition of herbivore foraging under higher predation regimes (Madin et al. 2010a,b). Importantly, in the developing country context most marine reserves are small, and occupy a small proportion of a larger fished seascape (Wood et al. 2008). If genetically based intrinsic wariness is dominant, reserve size is unlikely to matter when considering behavioural effects of fishing. To accurately account for behaviourally mediated impacts on coral reef ecosystems, research is needed to assess learning capability of coral reef fishes, and how grazing fluctuates with protection and fishing intensity. My results show that conservation practitioners and scientists need to be aware of the influence of local external factors (such as adjacent fishing pressure) to marine reserve function when planning new reserves or assessing reserve success.

#### 6.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank numerous colleagues field assistants for support during fieldwork, including Tau Morove, Elliot Tovaboda, Rebecca Lawton and Kirsty Nash. The Australian Research Council and James Cook University Graduate Research Scheme supported the work. Karen Chong-Seng gave invaluable help during the statistical analysis.

### 6.6 SUMMARY

- Fishing is a major factor that shapes fish communities, changing species composition, biomass and influencing fish behaviour.
- Behaviour can play an important role in mediating ecosystem functions, highlighting the need to identify behavioural responses of fishes to increasing fishing intensity.
- I collected fish flight initiation distance (FID) in fished areas and protected across four countries (Chagos, Papua New Guinea, Philippines and Vanuatue) and a wide gradient of fishing intensity from near-pristine sites to heavily fished areas.
- Using linear mixed effect models and model averaging, I assessed the support for fishing pressure, fish size, reef rugosity and life-history stage (Scaridae only) determining FID of Acanthuridae and Scaridae .
- Fishing pressure had the strongest support for explaining FID for both families in both fished and protected areas embedded within fished seascapes, with increasing fishing pressure predicting increases in FID.
- Body size and rugosity both had moderate support for explaining FID, but operated in different directions; larger fishes have higher FID, but in more rugose areas FID decreases. There was no effect of life-history stage on FID.
- These results show that fishing effects such as increases in wariness can be imported into marine reserves, and supports predictions of increases in FID with increased predation risk and reproductive value.
- The import of fishery effects into protected areas may occur through either population level increases in wariness through fishery preference for non-wary

fishes, or through import of learned behaviours, and provides further evidence that large marine reserves maximise benefits from protection more so than smaller reserves.

## **CHAPTER 7: GENERAL DISCUSSION**

Fishing is one of the major sources of mortality of large-bodied, adult coral reef fishes, particularly within the Indo-Pacific (Newton et al. 2007). The majority of studies on how fisheries affect coral reef function and processes concentrate on the influence of fisheries on density and/or biomass of key functional groups, in addition to the direct effect of fisheries on coral reef fish communities (e.g., McClanahan et al. 2011;Mumby et al. 2012). However, processes that can be impacted by anthropogenic exploitation can go beyond those mediated by density and biomass or changes in abundance of key functional species (Peckarsky et al. 2008; Madin et al. 2010b). The results of this thesis suggest that both fishing and protection from fishing can have significant effects on the behaviour of some coral reef fishes (Chapter 3), which not only improve fishing efficiency (Chapter 5), but also provide unexpected benefits from no-take marine reserves (NTRs) (Chapter 4). There are also indications that no-take reserves are porous to behavioural changes caused by fishing. As fishing pressure increases, fishes within NTRs that are embedded within the fished seascape show higher levels of wariness (Chapter 6). This brings into question how ecosystem processes such as herbivory are maintained in NTRs because foraging can often be constrained by perceived risk in the environment (Madin et al. 2010a). This present chapter aims to 1) discuss how the results of this thesis contribute to and fit within our current knowledge of predator escape behaviour, 2) discuss the implications of fisher-escape behaviour for reef management and conservation, and 3) propose future directions of research on fish behaviour to provide insights into mechanisms, functions and consequences of fishing.

#### 7.1 PREDATOR ESCAPE BEHAVIOUR

How human disturbance impacts animal behaviour is an important topic in the management of animal populations (Weston et al. 2012; Cromsigt et al. 2013). In human dominated systems, the effects of human activities on animal behaviour can exceed that of natural predators or environmental conditions, potentially carrying a considerable fitness penalty (Ciuti et al. 2012). There is a plethora of theoretical, observational and experimental evidence underlying predator-escape behaviour in terrestrial systems, but the field is somewhat less developed in the marine realm. Chapters 2, 3 and 6 explore the effects of predator characteristics (Chapter 2), levels of predation risk and prey and environmental conditions (Chapters 3 & 6) on predictions made by optimal and economic theories of flight initiation distance (FID) in regard to marine fishes, and provide important insights into the ecology of predator escape behaviour as it relates to human exploitation.

As the danger posed by a predator increases, FID should also increase (Cooper & Frederick 2009). However, flight from a predator comes with associated costs (Ydenberg & Dill 1986; Cooper & Frederick 2007), so prey may consider certain cues (i.e., indications that the predator is satiated, or that it is otherwise not a threat) in deciding whether to flee. The particular factors that are important in a given predator encounter may vary, because prey are likely to have imperfect knowledge of environmental and predator conditions, and may use 'rules of thumb' to assess costs and benefits and make flight decisions (Bouskila & Blumstein 1992). There is some evidence that mammals are able to discriminate between potential predatory species that pose different levels of threat (e.g., lions versus hyenas, or humans versus wolves), and make decisions accordingly (Walther 1969; Proffitt et al. 2009). Experimental studies have confirmed that fishes use visual cues based on predator behaviour to determine intent (Murphy & Pitcher 1997; Smith & Belk 2001), can distinguish between piscivorous and non-piscivorous species (Coates 1980), between sympatric

species (Gerlai 1993) and may use distance between eyes and the shape of the mouth to identify predatory species (Karplus & Algom 1981). The ability to discriminate intent, or at least cues that may indicate intent, extends in some taxa to human 'predators'. For example, both birds and iguanas will respond to directness of gaze of an intruding human showing lower FID if gaze is averted or obscured (Burger & Gochfield 1993; Bateman & Fleming 2011).

Despite this potential ability of fishes to discriminate subtle predator characteristics, and evidence of such from other taxa, I found little evidence that coral reef fishes respond to key predator characteristics that determine intent of human predators. Neither the presence/absence of a simulated spear gun, nor that of observers using SCUBA versus free diving resulted in a significant influence on FID for parrotfishes (Chapter 2 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2012). Other studies conducted on SCUBA (Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011) show FID values within the range of those collected while free diving during this thesis, as does Miller et al. (2011) which was conducted by free-diving (although only within a NTR). The response of fishes to SCUBA apparatus is not clear, with a number of studies showing attraction (Chapman et al. 1974; Cole et al. 2006), while some show repulsion when compared to observers on snorkel/re-breathers (Dearden et al. 2010; Welsh & Bellwood 2012). It has been hypothesised that movement rather than shape is a primary visual cue for threat assessment (Wisenden & Harter 2001), and these results, where an approaching large intruder initiates flight irrespective of whether it is displaying benign/malign intent supports this hypothesis. It is further evidence that selection favours paying attention to a limited set of factors to increase the speed of decision-making (Bouskila & Blumstein 1992; Bernays & Weislo 1994), which may result in flight from nonthreatening stimuli (such as a recreational SCUBA diver) when in an environment where similar sized predators are present (Thiel et al. 2007; Chapter 2 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2012). However, in Chapter 4 I show that in NTRs with high levels of non-

predatory human disturbance (tourism), FID is still significantly lower than in fished areas, indicating that fishes can alter their response to potential predators depending on knowledge of local predation risk on relatively small spatial scales (Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b).

The degree of exposure to predation influences the degree to which prey animals perceive danger in their environment. In areas where predator density is relatively high (i.e., an encounter with a predator is more likely), the majority of studies show decreased FID compared to low-density areas (reviewed in Stankowich & Blumstein 2005). This counter-intuitive result may be because the majority of studies that have investigated predator density used humans as a surrogate predator, with the potentially problematic assumption that animals would respond to humans as they would to other types of predators (Frid & Dill 2002). In contrast, I studied reef fisheries, where humans are key predators, and my research showed that FID increases with fishing pressure (increasing density of predators) across a wide gradient (Chapter 3, 6 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). This agrees with results from other studies that show that FID is greater in areas where animals are hunted by humans, compared to those areas where they are not (Walther 1969; de Boer et al. 2004; Matson et al. 2005; Thiel et al. 2007; Reimers et al. 2009; Gotanda et al. 2009; Feary et al. 2011). However, coral reef fishes do not exhibit perfect knowledge of the local risk environment, with FID being depressed immediately around NTRs (Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b), and significant evidence that predation in the surrounding seascape can have effects on FID within NTRs (Chapter 6). Furthermore, the ability of fishes to recall appropriate responses to predators, previously demonstrated in minnows in laboratory conditions (Magurran 1990) is here confirmed in fished species on coral reefs (Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a).

While experience of predation is the predominant factor influencing FID of coral reef fishes, physical/reproductive condition and natural history traits have significant

influences on flight decisions and FID (Gotanda et al. 2009; Chapters 2, 3, 6 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011; 2012). In fishes, the size of individuals is often closely related to reproductive value (Warner 1998). Larger individuals are therefore likely to flee earlier due to the lower potential benefits of remaining relative to their probable higher individual fitness (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005; Cooper & Frederick 2007, 2010) Parrotfishes are protogynous hermaphrodites, many species of which exhibit a harem system of reproduction, where large terminal phase males will mate with several initial phase females (Choat & Robertson 1975). If initial fitness is a significant determinant of FID, terminal phase parrotfishes and larger fishes should flee earlier (show higher FID) than smaller fishes or fishes with lower initial fitness with access to the same potential benefits (Cooper & Frederick 2007, 2010).FID could potentially decrease, or plateau at larger sizes if an individual attaining a large enough body size escapes predation by other fishes (Gill 2003), particularly with the reduction in the abundance of large predators on coral reefs (Graham & McClanahan 2013). Interestingly, parrotfish reproductive stage shows little predictive effect on FID in response to fishers (Chapter 3, 6 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011), while fishes that are large enough to be targeted by fishers show a significant increase in FID with size, and this is consistent across fish families (Cole 1994; Gotanda et al. 2009; Miller et al. 2011; Chapters 2, 3, 6 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011, 2012; but see Feary et al. 2011). Moreover, in fished areas, this relationship tends to be stronger (Gotanda et al. 2009; Chapters 2, 6 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). This may indicate either lower levels of predation on smaller parrotfishes as the fishery has removed their predators, or larger parrotfishes being unable to escape human predation.

While the effect of reproductive value on FID cannot be ruled out, because size is often linked to reproductive value in fishes, it is likely that other mechanisms, such as the energetic costs of escape are playing a role (Miller et al. 2011). In order to achieve sufficient speed to escape predators, smaller parrotfishes tend to use body and caudal

fin locomotion, which is less energetically efficient than pectoral fin locomotion used by larger fishes (Drucker 1996; Domenici 2010). While the costly swimming motion of smaller fishes induces a lower FID, a more efficient but slower gait may increase the attraction of fleeing early and spending less energy (Miller et al. 2011). Fishes in NTRs tend to be larger (Lester et al. 2009), and with size and protection exhibiting different effects on FID, it is essential to include both size and fishery status as covariates in studies of FID (Gotanda et al. 2009).

In contrast to these effects seen for non-predatory families such as Acanthuridae and Scaridae, predatory fish such as the Epinephelinae (groupers), Lutjanidae (Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowksi-Hartley et al. 2011) or Sparidae (Cole 1994) show little evidence of altering FID due to increased fishing pressure. Carnivorous animals are hypothesized to be more flighty due to high levels of attention to their environment, a result seen among birds (Blumstein 2006), but my results indicate this may not be consistent among fishes. Lutjanidae tend to be significantly more wary than all other families studied, and are less common as a spearfisher target family (Kaly 2005; McClanahan & Cinner 2008), potentially due to remaining beyond the effective range of spear guns (Feary et al. 2011; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011). In contrast, neither Sparids nor groupers are particularly flighty, and groupers often inspect intruders (Cole 1994; Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011), potentially due to higher levels of territoriality than non-territorial fishes.

The quality of the territory in which a fish forages and spawns, and the availability of refuge within that territory are hypothesised to have significant influence on FID. However, only the latter quality (availability of refuge) is considered to have a ubiquitous and significant effect on FID (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005). Gotanda et al. (2009) and Miller et al. (2011) demonstrated that the distance to the nearest visual relief can have significant predictive influence on FID, a result driven predominantly by fishes that took refuge in holes in the reef. This contrasts to my results that indicate

mixed evidence of refuge importance on predictions of FID, both inside and outside marine reserves (Chapter 6). However, where refuge availability was found to be important, the general trend was for increased availability of refugia to be associated with declines in FID [similar to findings of Gotanda et al. (2009) and Miller et al. (2011)]. In the context of coral reef fisheries this is a difficult metric to measure, because deep water can also provide a refuge from human predation – two-thirds of the fish used distance or deep water as a refuge in Miller et al. (2011) - and the reef structure may not be utilised as a refuge, particularly in fished areas (Guidetti et al. 2008). The role that patch quality (food/mating availability) may play is yet to be assessed.

Studies on terrestrial taxa, and two on coral reef fishes, have shown increases in FID with hunting, a result confirmed here for coral reef fishes and spearfishing. The results here suggest that as predicted by theory, FID is significantly influenced by experience of predation, as well as some prey conditional and environmental factors. In contrast, little evidence was found that FID was influenced by other factors such as predator type or group size. In general, I found that the level of predation risk in the environment tends to have the largest effect on FID, while predator characteristics showed little to no effect on FID (Chapters 2 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2012). Prey condition and environmental variables had small but significant effects (Chapters 3, 5, 6 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b). Prey fishes' response to predation threat varied significantly between fish families, and is likely to be mediated by life-history and other traits, or intrinsic levels of wariness (Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011).

#### 7.2 IMPLICATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT

This thesis has advanced our knowledge about the importance of changes in fish behaviour to the vulnerability of fishes to fishing, and how fish can be expected to
respond to management actions. This has important implications for local fisher buy-in for NTR implementation, for the design of marine protected areas, for species-specific vulnerability assessments (particularly at the local level) and for the effects of periodically harvested closures (PHCs) on coral reef ecosystems. While fishery-induced changes in behavioural traits have generally been overlooked (Alós et al. 2012), links between behaviour and selectivity of fishing gears have often been noted (Kallavil et al. 2003; Suski & Philipp 2004; Allendorf & Hard 2009). Research on behavioural shifts within fished populations has often concentrated on susceptibility to fishing of particular behavioural phenotypes (Suski & Philipp 2004; Uusi-Heikkilä et al. 2008; Alós et al. 2012), and does not take account of potential changes in behaviour that may take place at the level of the individual fish. The work in this thesis demonstrates behavioural change that can occur due to management tools and within a relatively short time frame may influence how management of fisheries can increase catchability of fishes, and has implications for the vulnerability of different species to fishing. Both fishery and ecosystem benefits of NTRs and PHCs may be influenced by changes in fish escape behaviour across limited temporal and spatial scales (Chapters 4, 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a,b).

Climate change, overfishing and other anthropogenic impacts on coral reefs have led to loss of biodiversity (Hughes et al. 2003) and exploitation of reef resources beyond that considered sustainable (Newton et al. 2007). Subsequently, there have been considerable efforts to place significant proportions of reef area under protection (e.g., US Coral Reef Task Force 2003; Coral Triangle Initiative 2008). One of the most commonly proposed tools to protect coral reef systems are NTRs, with PHCs often recommended as an alternative in areas where NTRs may not be culturally appropriate (Govan 2009). Both of these types of management can have significant ecological benefits (McClanahan et al. 2006; Lester 2009; Bartlett et al. 2009), and are expected to contribute towards both fishery sustainability and conservation. NTRs, through the

preservation of large, fecund individuals can replenish local reefs through larval export (Harrison et al. 2012), and adjacent reefs through density-dependent spillover of adult fish biomass (Russ 2002). Chapters 3 and 5 (Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011; 2013a) of this thesis show that in NTRs and PHCs flightiness of reef fishes can be greatly reduced after only a few months, and potentially this behaviour can be exported outside NTRs (Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b). This provision of fish that are potentially more catchable to reefs surrounding a NTR or PHC represents a benefit to local fishers that has previously not been demonstrated. It is a conceptually simple mechanism that agrees with local expectations of outcomes of protection in some areas (Macintyre & Foale 2004; Feary et al. 2011), and can be easily explained and demonstrated (spearfishers will notice being able to approach a target fish more easily). This may aid in engendering support for NTRs, and increasing compliance. However, the spatial scale at which this occurs is relatively small, and undesirable results, such as increased fishing the line near NTR boundaries may result in penetration of fishing effects further into a reserve (Kellner et al. 2007; Chapter 6), and on smaller reserves the possible loss of any potential enhancement of biomass (Claudet et al. 2008).

Chapter 6 further demonstrates the permeability of reserve boundaries to behaviour with fishes in protected areas in a heavily fished seascape (~ 80 fishers km<sup>-1</sup> reef front) demonstrating similar FID to fish in fished areas at low (< 5 fishers km<sup>-1</sup> reef front) levels of fishing. This difference in behaviour may mean that fishes in NTRs surrounded by heavily fished areas may change foraging behaviour, with potential impacts on cover of algae (Madin et al. 2010b). There is evidence suggesting that fishing can preferentially remove fishes demonstrating less-wary behaviours (Suski & Philipp 2004), with the result that fish populations recruiting within a heavily fished seascape could be intrinsically more flighty. Alternatively, socially transmitted behaviour from fishes that have experienced fishing may be penetrating fully into the protected areas (Pitcher et al. 1986; Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b),

which are all relatively (< 1 km reef front) small. If this latter hypothesis is the mechanism that is at work, it provides further evidence that larger marine reserves are required in order for full benefits of protection to be realised (Claudet et al. 2008).

Temporal and spatial variability in FID implies that catchability of fishes also varies both temporally and spatially. Furthermore, differences between fish families in intrinsic wariness and temporal change in behaviour may result in some families having considerably higher vulnerability to fishing than others (Alós et al. 2012). In the context of PHCs, this may mean that even if overall fish biomass appears relatively high, certain families that are significantly more catchable due to PHCs may be disproportionately low in biomass when compared to NTRs (Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a). This has primarily been seen for Acanthuridae, which appear particularly vulnerable to spearfishing after opening of a PHC, potentially due to behavioural characteristics, including reduced FID (Jupiter et al. 2012; Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a). However, in PHCs that have experienced several opening/closing cycles, Acanthuridae showed a significant increase in FID to above the mean effective range of spear guns in just three days of low fishing intensity (Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a). Other families such as groupers, which show little change in behaviour with fishing pressure (Chapter 3 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011)), may not be able to respond as quickly to fishing events may be more at risk. This is particularly concerning for groups or species of fish that may play a key role in the trophic structure of some coral reefs such as *Bolobometapon muricatum* and large predatory species (Dulvy et al. 2004). Fishing on top level predators such as groupers may lead to increases in mesoconsumer abundance leading to reductions in abundance of targeted species (Heithaus et al. 2008) or reef degradation through release of crown of thorns starfish (Dulvy et al. 2004) or eroding urchins (McClanahan & Muthiga 1988; McClanahan et al. 1995). These results have important implications for using catch data to examine the condition of a fishery. Hyperstability, where catch rates remain

high even as abundance declines (Hilborn & Walters 1992) has been shown for aggregating species (Erisman et al. 2011). Similar patterns may be present for species that show slow changes in behaviour, particularly groupers, which due to the reliability of the spatial location and timing of aggregations are already potentially highly vulnerable to fishers (Hamilton et al. 2012). Hyperstability may also occur in fished areas that receive an influx of fishes from unfished populations (e.g., through spillover), where high catch rates in fishing grounds near NTRs may mask both local depletion, and slower than expected build-up of biomass within the reserve, if fishes crossing reserve boundaries are highly catchable.

## 7.3 FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

The role of fish behaviour in ecosystem processes, conservation and management of coral reef fisheries is becoming increasingly recognised (Madin et al. 2010a, b; Hamilton et al. 2012; Chapters 4, 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b, in press). There are many avenues for future research directions that have become apparent during my thesis and will likely prove fruitful. In the remainder of this chapter I will highlight four of these potential avenues, elaborating on their value to research and how they build upon work in this thesis.

Firstly, from a behavioural perspective, two aspects of research that may be fruitful: species-specific traits, and further investigation of environmental factors that influence flight decisions. The applied and observational nature and focus of this thesis on assessing behavioural changes of coral reef fish on fished reefs within a management framework limited my ability to accurately assess some important factors that may influence FID. Due to the limited spatial extent of areas over which much of the research was conducted, I was unable to estimate FID for fishes at the species level without potentially violating independence of samples, or sampling the same fish on

more than one occasion. This required grouping fishes at the family level, despite lifehistory traits having been shown to be important in other taxa (e.g., birds - Stankowich 2006), and differences in FID between species within families having been observed (over 100 cm difference in mean FID between *Scarus niger* and *Chlorurus sordidus* in fished areas – Feary et al. 2011). Further work on species-specific differences in flight response, potentially looking at life-history traits and other behaviours such as preflight behaviour or refuge choice would be important to fill out our theoretical knowledge of FID in the marine environment, identify which species are likely to be vulnerable on the basis of their behaviour and relate this to current knowledge of fishery vulnerability.

While patch quality, territoriality and mating opportunities have shown relatively weak overall predictive ability for FID in terrestrial animals (Stankowich & Blumstein 2005), coral reef fishes proved a potential model system to investigate some of these factors. The relative flightiness of animals is likely to be somewhat dependent on activity, and resource availability. To control for activity, I specifically avoided fishes that were engaged in territorial aggression or spawning/mating, which may reduce FID of a prey animal (Walther 1969; Ydenberg & Dill 1986; Cooper 2003b; Cooper et al. 2003, 2009). Hypothetically, in broadcast spawning coral reef fishes it is possible that total lifetime benefits are increased if a mating opportunity is taken, even if it results in death, because it results in the production of offspring that do not require parental care (Cooper & Frederick 2007). In this thesis I did not assess patch quality, with the exception of refuge availability. While the evidence for significant effects of refuge availability on FID of coral reef fishes is suggestive if inconsistent (see above), I am not aware of any work that has been conducted on other aspects of patch quality such as food availability for reef fishes, leaving this a good candidate for further research.

A second potentially fruitful avenue of research would be into the potential of FID as a tool to measure compliance within NTRs and other areas under protection. The effect

of protection on FID is significant (Chapters 2, 3, 5, 6 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011, 2012, in press) and is consistent between NTRs and adjacent fished areas at even very low fishing pressures (Chapter 6). Moreover, it shows relatively low instantaneous variation or variation between observers, unlike underwater visual census of reef fish communities (McClanahan et al. 2007a), and differences in FID between fished and well-protected areas potentially can develop within months of protection (Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a) rather than years as documented for fish abundance and biomass (Alcala et al. 2005). FID has also been shown to be relatively sensitive with significant changes after only a few days of low intensity fishing (Chapter 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013a). Furthermore, detection of FID should be relatively easy to teach to community monitors of protected areas, who are often spearfishers, can be conducted rapidly with no specialised gear (~ 12-15 measurements can be made in one hour by an experienced observer, and power analysis suggests this is a sufficient number of replicates per area to detect an effect (Chapters 2, 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011, in press) and requires little post-data collection analysis. Two major caveats to the use of FID as a compliance indicator are: 1) FID can vary substantially by family and with natural history traits, therefore selection of focal families is important; and 2) FID will not show significant differences between NTRs and fished areas if poachers are concentrating on a group that does not vary in FID with fishing pressure (e.g., groupers) or are using a gear which does not select for low FID fishes or provide a stimulus for flight (e.g., hook and line). In this study I selected areas that I had reason to believe were well protected. In order to properly implement or assess FID as a tool to assess compliance, future research on how FID is influenced in NTRs with low compliance, as well as further refining the techniques to assess to what degree known covariates such as fish size and refuge availability are required.

The third potential avenue for research would be to assess how changing fish behaviours interact with fishing gears other than spear guns and management

strategies. Other active gears, such as drive nets may have similar effects on FID as spearfishers, but possibly trigger flight through different cues, for example sound (Parrish 1999). If changes in behaviour (for example, loss of wariness due to protection) can make fish temporarily more susceptible to fishing gears, it is important to know which gears take advantage of these changes, and how these influence the vulnerability of fishes to fishing and the sustainability of coral reef fisheries. During this thesis, I found that where spear guns were often a secondary or tertiary gear, significant changes in FID compared to inside NTRs were still recorded (Chapter 4 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2013b). It is well established that selection by fishing gears other than spear guns is likely to have a behavioural component; experimental fishing of captive bred populations has indicated that large-mouth bass (Micropteres salmoides) that are more aggressive when defending nests are more likely to be caught when using hook and line (Suski & Philipp 2004) and fishes that show higher levels of activity are more likely to be caught by passive gears such as gill nets (Alós et al. 2012; Olsen et al. 2012). The use of management tools or fisheries strategies on coral reefs that take advantage of behaviour can result in dramatic declines in the abundance of some species and exceptionally high effectiveness of some fishery gears (Hamilton et al. 2012; Jupiter et al. 2012). Research on how observed differences between fish families in behavioural responses to management and fishing (Feary et al. 2011; Chapters 3, 5 & Januchowski-Hartley et al. 2011 in press), and gears may be important in assessing vulnerability to overexploitation and in forming sustainable management plans on local scales.

Finally, the fourth avenue is to investigate whether changes in fish flight behaviour in and surrounding NTRs result in trophic effects. The decline in abundance of higherlevel marine predators, particularly on coral reefs, has led to a call for research on behaviourally mediated consequences of fishing (Heithaus et al. 2008). We know that trophic cascades through overfishing higher trophic level species on coral reefs can result in mesoconsumer release and ecosystem degradation (McClanahan et al. 1995; McClanahan 2000). However, there is evidence from the Caribbean that protection can result in desirable cascades, with increased grazing of macroalgae due to higher abundance of grazers facilitating coral recruitment (Mumby et al. 2007). Fishery induced trophic cascades have been observed on coral reefs (McClanahan & Muthiga 1988; Dulvy et al. 2004), but are far from ubiquitous (Mumby et al. 2006; Newman et al. 2006, Bruno et al. 2009), and the mechanisms by which fishing influences ecosystem processes such as grazing are generally less well understood in the speciesrich Indo-Pacific (Mumby et al. 2013). Alterations in predation risk due to human removal or reintroduction of predators can influence spatial distribution of prey foraging and per capita consumption rates (e.g., Ripple et al. 2001, Schmitz et al. 2004; Madin et al. 2010b). Importantly, these non-consumptive effects of predators can be independent of any numerical changes in the prey species while playing a key role in driving observed patterns in predator-prey interactions (Dill et al. 2003; Heithaus et al. 2008; Peckarsky et al. 2008).

Recent research in the Line Islands identified fear-release of herbivorous fishes when predator biomass was reduced through fishing, leading to herbivores foraging for longer and further from shelter (Madin et al. 2010a). Ecosystem mediated consequences of changes in behaviour have been identified in in other ecosystems within the marine realm (Dill et al. 2003; Heithaus et al. 2008). For example, in Alaska changes in the diet preferences of killer whales reduced the abundance and distribution of sea-otters (which would move shoreward), reducing predation pressure on urchins, which increase in abundance, giving rise to urchin barrens (Peckarsky et al. 2008). While changes in density of otters certainly decreased predation on urchins, nonconsumptive effects on otter behaviour is likely to have increased the magnitude of the trophic cascade on kelp forests (Peckarsky et al. 2008). Changes in fish behaviour driven by fishing could similarly influence the ecosystem consequences of fishing (Dill

et al. 2003; Madin et al. 2010b). Future research on the behavioural consequences of fishing for processes such as grazing, coral predation and bioerosion is necessary to uncover the potential consequences for the wider ecosystem. Changes in abundances and sizes of organisms can influence the magnitude of ecosystem processes on coral reefs (Bellwood et al. 2012), but an understanding of how behavioural changes further influence alterations in ecosystem processes is poorly understood.

## 7.4 CONCLUDING REMARKS

This study has shown that coral reef fishes targeted by subsistence fishers will change their flight behaviour significantly in response to protection from fishing. While agreeing with many of the predictions of FID theory about influential factors such as fish size and refuge availability, previous experience of fishing and the intensity of fishing had the strongest effects on FID (Chapters 2 & 3). Furthermore, I showed that there are several management implications from this work, including local accessibility of benefits from NTRs (Chapter 4), increased fishing efficiency in the immediate days following opening of a periodically closed area (Chapter 5), potential differences in vulnerability of different families of fishes to fishing driven by behaviour (Chapters 3 & 5) and possible effects of fishing on behaviour that may intrude into small NTRs (Chapter 6). These results indicate that behavioural responses to both protection and fishing will have influence across ecological, fisheries management and conservation disciplines. Furthermore, they highlight the need for more research on the drivers and consequences of behavioural change to predict future trajectories of coral reef health.

## LITERATURE CITED

- Abesamis RA, Russ GR. 2005. Density-dependent spillover from a marine reserve: long-term evidence. *Ecological Applications* **15**: 1798–1812.
- Abesamis RA, Alcala AC, Russ GR. 2006a. How much does the fishery at Apo Island benefit from spillover of adult fish from the adjacent marine reserve ? *Fisheries Bulletin* **104**: 360–375.
- Abesamis RA, Russ GR, Alcala AC. 2006b. Gradients of abundance of fish across notake marine reserve boundaries: evidence from Philippine coral reefs. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* **16**: 349–371.
- Abrahams MV. 1995. The interaction between antipredator behaviour and antipredator morphology: experiments with fathead minnows and brook sticklebacks. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **73**: 2209–2215.
- Afonso P, Fontes J, Holland KN, Santos RS. 2008. Social status determines behaviour and habitat usage in a temperate parrotfish: implications for marine reserve design. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **359**: 215–227.
- Alcala AC, Russ GR. 2006. No-take marine reserves and reef fisheries management in the Philippines: a new people power revolution. *Ambio* **35**: 245–254.
- Alcala AC, Russ GR, Maypa AP, Calumpong HP. 2005. A long-term spatially replicated experimental test of the effect of marine reserves on local fish yields. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **62**: 98–108.
- Allendorf FW, Hard JJ (2009) Human-induced evolution caused by unnatural selection through harvest of wild animals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**: 9987–9994.
- Alós J, Palmer M, Arlinghaus R. 2012. Consistent selection towards low activity phenotypes when catchability depends on encounters among human predators and fish. *PloS One* 7: e48030.
- Askey PJ, Richards SA, Post JR, Parkinson EA. 2006. Linking angling catch rates and fish learning under catch-and-release regulations. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **26**: 1020–1029.

- Aswani S, Albert S, Sabetian A, Furusawa T. 2007. Customary management as precautionary and adaptive principles for protecting coral reefs in Oceania. *Coral Reefs* **26**: 1009–1021.
- Babcock RC, Shears NT, Alcala AC, Barrett NS, Edgar GJ, Lafferty KD, McClanahan TR, Russ GR. 2010. Decadal trends in marine reserves reveal differential rates of change in direct and indirect effects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**: 18256–18261.
- Bartlett C. 2009. Emergence, evolution and outcomes of marine protected areas in Vanuatu: implications for social-ecological governance. PhD Thesis. James Cook University, Townsville, Australia.
- Bartlett CY, Manua C, Cinner J, Sutton S, Jimmy R, South R, Nilsson J, Raina J. 2009. Comparison of outcomes of permanently closed and periodically harvested coral reef reserves. *Conservation Biology* 23: 1475-1484.
- Bateman PW, Fleming PA. 2011. Who are you looking at? Hadeda ibises use direction of gaze, head orientation and approach speed in their risk assessment of a potential predator. *Journal of Zoology* **285**: 316–323.
- Bell JD, Kronen M, Vunisea A, Nash WJ, Keeble G, Demmke A, Pontifex S, Andréfouët
  S. 2009. Planning the use of fish for food security in the Pacific. *Marine Policy* 33: 64–76.
- Bellman KL, Krasne FB. 1983. Adaptive complexity of interactions between feeding and escape in crayfish. *Science* **221**: 779–781.
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nystro M. 2004. Confronting the coral reef crisis. *Nature* **429**: 827–833.
- Bellwood DR, Hoey AS, Hughes TP. 2012. Human activity selectively impacts the ecosystem roles of parrotfishes on coral reefs. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Science* **279**: 1621–9.
- Bernays EA, Weislo WT. 1994. Sensory capabilities, information processing, and resource specialization. *Quarterly Reviews in Biology* **69**: 187–204.
- Beschta RL. 2003. Cottonwoods, elk, and wolves in the Lamar Valley of Yellowstone National Park. *Ecological Applications* **13**: 1295–1309.

- Birkeland C. 1997. Symbiosis, fisheries and economic development on coral reefs. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **12**: 364–367.
- Blumstein DT. 2003. Flight-initiation distance in birds is dependent on intruder starting distance. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* **67**: 852–857.
- Blumstein DT, Anthony LL, Harcourt R, Ross G. 2003. Testing a key assumption of wildlife buffer zones: is flight initiation distance a species-specific trait? *Biological Conservation* **110**: 97–100.
- Blumstein DT, Fernádez-Juricic E, Zollner PA, Garity SC. 2005. Inter-specific variation in avian responses to human disturbance. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **42**: 943– 953.
- Botham MS, Hayward RK, Morrell LJ, Croft DP, Ward JR, Ramnarine I, Krause J. 2008. Risk-sensitive antipredator behavior in the Trinidadian guppy, *Poecilia reticulata*. *Ecology* **89**: 3174–3185.
- Bouskila A, Blumstein DT.1992. Rules of thumb for predation hazard assessment: predictions from a dynamic model. *American Naturalist* 139: 161–176.
- Brooks JS, Waylen KA, Borgerhoff Mulder M. 2012. How national context, project design, and local community characteristics influence success in communitybased conservation projects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**: 21265–70.
- Brown C, Laland KN. 2003. Social learning in fishes: a review. *Fish and Fisheries* **4**: 280-288.
- Brown GE. 2003. Learning about danger : chemical alarm cues and local risk assessment in prey fishes. *Fish and Fisheries* **4**: 227–234.
- Brown GE, Godin J-GJ, Pedersen J. 1999. Fin flicking behaviour: a visual anti-predator alarm signal in a characin fish (*Hemigrammus erythrozonus*). *Animal Behaviour* **59**: 469–476.
- Bruno JF, Sweatman H, Precht WF, Selig ER, Schutte VG. 2009. Assessing evidence of phase shifts to macroalgal dominance on coral reefs. *Ecology* **90**: 1478–1484.

- Burger J, Gochfeld M. 1981. Discrimination of threat of direct versus tangential approach to the nest by incubating herring and great black-backed gulls. *Journal of Comparative Physiology and Psychology* **95**: 676-684.
- Burger J, Gochfield M. 1993. The importance of the human face in risk perception by black iguanas, *Ctenosaura similis*. *Journal of Herpetology* **27**: 426–430.
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR. 2002. *Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. Springer, New York 488p.
- Carrier G. 1981. Ownership of productive resources on Ponam Island, Manus province. Journal de la Societe des Oceanistes **37**: 205-217.
- Castilla JC. 1999. Coastal marine communities: trends and perspectives from humanexclusion experiments. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **14**: 280–283.
- Chapman CJ, Johnstone ADF, Dunn JR, Creasey DJ. 1974. Reactions of fish to sound generated by divers' open-circuit underwater apparatus. *Marine Biology* **27**: 357– 366.
- Chapman MR, Kramer DL. 1999. Gradients in coral reef fish density and size across the Barbados Marine Reserve boundary: effects of reserve protection and habitat characteristics. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **181**: 81–96.
- Cheung WWL, Pitcher TJ, Pauly D. 2005. A fuzzy logic expert system to estimate intrinsic extinction vulnerabilities of marine fishes to fishing. *Biological Conservation* **124**: 97–111.
- Choat JH, Robertson DR. 1975. Protogynous hermaphroditism in fishes of the family Scaridae. In *Intersexuality in the Animal Kingdom*, Reinboth (ed). Springer, Berlin. p263–283.
- Choat JH, Axe LM, Lou DC. 1996. Growth and longevity in fishes of the family Scaridae. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **145**: 33-41.
- Cinner JE, McClanahan TR. 2006. Socioeconomic factors that lead to overfishing in small-scale coral reef fisheries of Papua New Guinea. *Environmental Conservation* **33**: 73–80.

- Cinner JE, Aswani S. 2007. Integrating customary management into marine conservation. *Biological Conservation* **140**: 201–216.
- Cinner JE, Marnane MJ, McClanahan TR. 2005. Conservation and community benefits from traditional coral reef management at Ahus Island, Papua New Guinea. *Conservation Biology* **19**: 1714–1723.
- Cinner JE, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Graham NAJ, Daw TM, Mukminin A, Feary DA, Rabearisoa AL, Wamukota A, Jiddawi N, *et al.* 2012. Comanagement of coral reef social-ecological systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**: 5219–22.
- Ciuti S, Northrup JM, Muhly TB, Simi S, Musiani M, Pitt JA, Boyce MS. 2012. Effects of humans on behaviour of wildlife exceed those of natural predators in a landscape of fear. *PloS One* 7: e50611.
- Claudet J, Osenberg CW, Benedetti-Cecchi L, Domenici P, García-Charton J-A, Pérez-Ruzafa A, Badalamenti F, Bayle-Sempere J, Brito A, Bulleri F, *et al.* 2008. Marine reserves: size and age do matter. *Ecology Letters* **11**: 481–9.
- Coates D. 1980. The discrimination of and reaction towards predatory and nonpredatory species of fish by humbug damselfish. *Dascyllus aruanus* (Pisces, Pomacentridae). *Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie* **52**: 347–354.
- Cohen PJ, Foale SJ. 2013. Sustaining small-scale fisheries with periodically harvested marine reserves. *Marine Policy* **37**: 278–287.
- Cole RG. 1994. Abundance, size structure and diver-oriented behaviour of three large benthic carnivorous fishes in a marine reserve in northeastern New Zealand. *Biological Conservation* **70**: 93–99.
- Cole RG, Syms C, Davey NK, Gust N, Notman P, Stewart R, Radford CA, Carbines G, Carr MH, Jeffs AG. 2006. Does breathing apparatus affect fish counts and observations? A comparison at three New Zealand fished and protected areas. *Marine Biology* **150**: 1379–1395.
- Connell SD, Samoilys MA, Lincoln S, Marcus P, Leqata J. 1998. Comparisons of abundance of coral reef fish: catch and effort surveys vs visual census. *Australian Journal of Ecology* **23**: 579–586.

Cooper WE. 1999. Escape behavior by prey blocked from entering the nearest refuge. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 77: 671–674.

- Cooper WE Jr. 2003a. Risk factors affecting escape behavior by the desert iguana, *Dipsosaurus dorsalis*: speed and directness of predator approach, degree of cover, direction of turning by a predator, and temperature. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 81: 979-984.
- Cooper WE Jr. 2003b. Effect of risk on aspects of escape behavior by a lizard, *Holbrookia propinqua*, in relation to optimal escape theory. *Ethology* **109**: 617-626.
- Cooper WE Jr, Frederick WG. 2007. Optimal flight initiation distance. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **244**:59–67.
- Cooper WE Jr, Frederick WG. 2010. Predator lethality, optimal escape behavior and autotomy. *Behavioural Ecology* **21**: 91–96.
- Cooper WE Jr, Pérez-Mellado V, Baird T, Baird TA, Caldwell JP, Vitt LJ. 2003. Effects of risk, cost, and their interaction on optimal escape by nonrefuging Bonaire whiptail lizards (*Cnemidophorus murinus*). *Behavioral Ecology* **14**:288–293
- Cooper WE Jr, Hawlena D, Perez-Mellado V. 2009. Effects of predation risk factors on escape behavior by Balearic lizards (*Podarcis lilfordi*) in relation to optimal escape theory. *Amphibia-Reptilia* **30**: 99–110.
- Coral Triangle Initiative. 2008. *Regional plan of action ("Manila draft"*). Coral Triangle Initiative, Manila.
- Cox SP, Walters C. 2002. Modelling exploitation in recreational fisheries and implications for effort management on British Columbia rainbow trout lakes. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **22**: 21–34.
- Creel S, Winnie J, Maxwell B, Hamlin K, Creel M. 2005. Elk alter habitat selection as an antipredator response to wolves. *Ecology* **86**: 3387–3397.
- Cromsigt JPGM, Kuijper DPJ, Adam M, Beschta RL, Churski M, Eycott A, Kerley GIH, Mysterud A, Schmidt K, West K. 2013. Hunting for fear: innovating management of human-wildlife conflicts. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **50**: 544–549.

- de Boer HY, van Breukelen L, Hootsmans MJM, van Wieren SE. 2004. Flight distance in roe deer *Capreolus capreolus* and fallow deer *Dama dama* as related to hunting and other factors. *Wildlife Biology* **10**: 35–41.
- Dearden P, Theberge M, Yasué M. 2010. Using underwater cameras to assess the effects of snorkeler and SCUBA diver presence on coral reef fish abundance, family richness, and species composition. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **163**: 531–538.
- Dickens LC, Goatley CHR, Tanner JK, Bellwood DR. 2011. Quantifying relative diver effects in underwater visual censuses. *PLoS One* **6**: e18965.
- Dill LM. 1974. The escape response of the zebra danio (*Brachydanio rerio*). 1. The stimulus for escape. *Animal Behaviour* **22**: 711–722.
- Dill LM, Heithaus MR, Walters CJ. 2003. Behaviorally mediated indirect interactions in marine communities and their conservation implications. *Ecology* **84**: 1151– 1157.
- Domenici P. 2002. The visually mediated escape response in fish: predicting prey responsiveness and the locomotor behaviour of predators and prey. *Marine and Freshwater Behavior and Physiology* **35**: 87–110.
- Domenici P. 2010. Context dependent variability in the components of fish escape response: integrating locomotor performance and behavior. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological Genetics and Physiology* **313**: 59–79.
- Domenici P, Blake R. 1997. The kinematics and performance of fish fast-start swimming. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **200**: 1165–1178.
- Drucker EG. 1996. The use of gait transition speed in comparative studies of fish locomotion. *American Zoologist* **36**: 555–566.
- Dulvy NK, Freckleton RP, Polunin NVC. 2004. Coral reef cascades and the indirect effects of predator removal by exploitation. *Ecology Letters* **7**: 410–416.
- Eggleston DB, Parsons DM. 2008. Disturbance-induced 'spill-in' of Caribbean spiny lobster to marine reserves. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **371**: 213–220.

- Elgar MA, Catterall CP. 1981. Flocking and predator surveillance in house sparrows: test of an hypothesis. *Animal Behaviour* **29**: 868–872.
- Enberg K, Jørgensen C, Dunlop ES, Heino M, Dieckmann U. 2009. Implications of fisheries-induced evolution for stock rebuilding and recovery. *Evolutionary Applications* **2**: 394–414.
- Erisman BE, Allen LG, Claisse JT, Ii DJP, Miller EF, Murray JH. 2011. The illusion of plenty : hyperstability masks collapses in two recreational fisheries that target fish spawning aggregations. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **68**: 1705–1716.
- Feary DA, Cinner JE, Graham NAJ, Januchowski-Hartley FA. 2011. Effects of customary marine closures on fish behavior, spear-fishing success, and underwater visual surveys. *Conservation Biology* 25: 341–9.
- Fernö A. 1993. Advances in understanding of basic behaviour: consequences for fish capture stuides. *ICES Marine Science Symposium* **196**: 5–11.
- Foale S, Cohen P, Januchowski-Hartley S, Wenger A, MacIntyre M. 2011. Tenure and taboos: origin and implications for fisheries in the Pacific. *Fish and Fisheries* **12**: 357–369.
- Fox AD, Madsen J. 1997. Behavioural and distributional effects of hunting disturbance on waterbirds in Europe: implications for refuge design. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **34**: 1–13.
- Francini-Filho RB, Moura RL .2008. Evidence for spillover of reef fishes from a no-take marine reserve: An evaluation using the before-after control-impact (BACI) approach. *Fisheries Research* **93**: 346–356.
- Frid A, Dill L. 2002. Human-caused disturbance stimuli as a form of predation risk. *Conservation Ecology* **6**: 11.
- Friedlander AM, Parrish JD. 1998. Habitat characteristics affecting fish assemblages on a Hawaiian coral reef. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **224**: 1–30.

- Friedlander AM, DeMartini EE. 2002. Contrasts in density, size, and biomass of reef fishes between the northwestern and the main Hawaiian Islands: The effects of fishing down apex predators. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **230**: 253–264.
- Froese R, Pauly D. 2012. *Fishbase*. Available at: http://www.fishbase.org. Last accessed 29 March 2012.
- Game ET, Bode M, McDonald-Madden E, Grantham HS, Possingham HP. 2009. Dynamic marine protected areas can improve the resilience of coral reef systems. *Ecology Letters* **12**: 1336–1346.
- Gelcich S, Godoy N, Castilla JC. 2009. Artisanal fishers' perceptions regarding coastal co-management policies in Chile and their potentials to scale-up marine biodiversity conservation. *Ocean and Coastal Management* **52**: 424-432.
- Gerlai R. 1993. Can paradise fish (*Macropodus opercularis*, Anabantidae) recognize a natural predator? An ethological analysis. *Ethology* **94**: 127–136.
- Giles N, Huntingford FA. 1984. Predation risk and inter-population variation in antipredator behaviour in the three-spined stickleback, *Gasterosteus aculeatus* L. *Animal Behaviour* **32**: 264–275.
- Gill AB. 2003. The dynamics of prey choice in fish: the importance of prey size and satiation. *Journal of Fish Biology* **63**: 105–116.
- Gill AB, Hart PJB. 1994. Feeding behaviour and prey choice of the threespine stickleback: the interacting effects of prey size, fish size and stomach fullness. *Animal Behaviour* **47**: 921–932.
- Gillett R, Moy W. 2006. *Spearfishing in the Pacific Islands*. Current status and management issues. FAO/FishCode Review No. 19. FAO, Rome. 72p.
- Glover HK, Weston MA, Maguire GS, Miller KK, Christie BA. 2011. Towards ecologically meaningful and socially acceptable buffers: response distances of shorebirds in Victoria, Australia, to human disturbance. *Landscape and Urban Planning* **103**: 326–334.
- Godin J-GJ. 1986. Risk of predation and foraging behaviour in shoaling banded killifish (*Fundulus diaphanus*). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **64**: 1675-1678.

- Godin J-GJ, Davis SA. 1995. Who dares, benefits: predator approach behaviour in the guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*) deters predator pursuit. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **259**: 193–200.
- Godin J-GJ, Dugatkin LA. 1996. Female mating preference for bold males in the guppy, Poecilia reticulata. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **93**: 10262–10267.
- Godoy N, Gelcich S, Vásquez JA, Castilla JC. 2010. Spearfishing to depletion: evidence from temperate reef fishes in Chile. *Ecological Applications* **20**: 1504–1511.
- Goñi R, Adlerstein S, Alvarez-Berastegui D, Forcada A, Reñones O, Criquet G, Polit S, Cadiou G, Valle C, Lenfant P, et al. 2008. Spillover from six western Mediterranean marine protected areas: evidence from artisanal fisheries. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **366**: 159–174.
- Goñi R, Hilborn R, Díaz D, Mallol S, Adlerstein S. 2010. Net contribution of spillover from a marine reserve to fishery catches. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **400**: 233–243.
- Gotanda KM, Turgeon K, Kramer DL. 2009. Body size and reserve protection affect flight initiation distance in parrotfishes. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **63**: 1563–1572.
- Govan H, et al. 2009. Status and potential of locally-managed marine areas in the South Pacific: meeting nature conservation and sustainable livelihood targets through wide-spread implementation of LMMAs. SPREP/WWF/WorldFIsh-Reefbase/CRISP, Suva. 95p.
- Graham NAJ, Mcclanahan TR. 2013. The Last Call for Marine Wilderness? *BioScience* **63**: 397–402.
- Graham NAJ, Spalding MD, Sheppard CRC. 2010. Reef shark declines in remote atolls highlight the need for multi faceted conservation action. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* **20**: 543-548.
- Graham NAJ, Ainsworth TD, Baird AH, Ban NC, Bay LK, Cinner JE, De Freitas DM, Diaz-Pulido G, Dornelas M, Dunn SR, *et al.* 2011. From microbes to people : tractable benefits of no-take areas for coral reefs. **49**: 105–136.

- Grau GA, Grau BL, 1980. Effects of hunting on hunter effort and white-tailed deer behavior. *Ohio Journal of Science* **80**: 150–156.
- Guidetti P, Vierucci E, Bussotti S. 2008. Differences in escape response of fish in protected and fished Mediterranean rocky reefs. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK* **88**: 625–627.
- Halofsky JS, Ripple WJ. 2008. Fine-scale predation risk on elk after wolf reintroduction in Yellowstone National Park, USA. *Oecologia* **155**: 869–77.
- Halpern BS, Lester SE, Kellner JB. 2009. Spillover from marine reserves and the replenishment of fished stocks. *Environmental Conservation* **36**: 268–276.
- Hamilton RJ, Matawai M, Kama W, Lahui P, Warku J, Smith AJ. 2005. Applying local knowledge and science to the management of grouper aggregation sites in Melanesia. *SPC Live Reef Fish Information Bulletin* **14**: 7–19.
- Hamilton RJ, Giningele M, Aswani S, Ecochard JL. 2012. Fishing in the dark-local knowledge, night spearfishing and spawning aggregations in the Western Solomon Islands. *Biological Conservation* **145**: 246–257.
- Handegard NO, Michalsen K, Tjøstheim D. 2003. Avoidance behaviour in cod (*Gadus morhua*) to a bottom-trawling vessel. *Aquatic Living Resources* **16**: 265–270.
- Harrison HB, Williamson DH, Evans RD, Almany GR, Thorrold SR, Russ GR, Feldheim KA, van Herwerden L, Planes S, Srinivasan M, Berumen ML, Jones GP. 2012.
  Larval export from marine reserves and the recruitment benefit for fish and fisheries. *Current Biology* 22: 1023–1028.
- Heithaus MR, Frid A, Wirsing AJ, Worm B. 2008. Predicting ecological consequences of marine top predator declines. *Trends in ecology & evolution* **23**: 202–10.
- Helfman GS. 1989. Threat-sensitive predator avoidance in damselfish-trumpet- fish interactions. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **24**: 47–58.
- Helfman GS, Winkelman DL. 1997. Threat sensitivity in bicolor damselfish: effects of sociality and body size. *Ethology* **103**: 369–383.
- Higgins RM, Vandeperre F, Perez-Ruzafa A, Santos RS. 2008. Priorities for fisheries in marine protected area design and management: implications for artisanal-type

fisheries as found in southern Europe. *Journal for Nature Conservation* **16**: 222–233.

- Hilborn R, Walters CJ. 1992. *Quantitative Fisheries Stock Assessment: Choice, Dynamics and Uncertainty*. Chapman & Hall, New York.
- Hogan JD, Thiessen RJ, Sale PF, Heath DD. 2011. Local retention, dispersal and fluctuating connectivity among populations of a coral reef fish. *Oecologia* **168**: 61–71.
- Holmes TH, McCormick MI. 2011. Response across a gradient: behavioural reactions of a newly settled fish to predation cues. *Animal Behaviour* **81**: 543–550.
- Hughes TP, Baird AH, Bellwood DR, Card M, Connolly SR, Folke C, Grosberg R, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Jackson JBC, Kleypas J, *et al.* 2003. Climate change, human impacts, and the resilience of coral reefs. *Science* **301**: 929–33.
- Hughes TP, Graham NAJ, Jackson JBC, Mumby PJ, Steneck RS. 2010. Rising to the challenge of sustaining coral reef resilience. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 25: 633–642.
- Hunter JR, Mitchell CT. 1966. Association of fishes with flotsam in the offshore waters of Central America. *United States Fishery Bulletin* **66**: 13–29.
- Huntingford FA, Wright PJ. 1989. How sticklebacks learn to avoid dangerous feeding patches. *Behavioural Processes* **19**: 181–189.
- Jackson JB, Kirby MX, Berger WH, Bjorndal KA, Botsford LW, Bourque BJ, Bradbury RH, Cooke R, Erlandson J, Estes JA, *et al.* 2001. Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. *Science* **293**: 629–37.
- Januchowski-Hartley FA, Graham NAJ, Feary DA, Morove T, Cinner JE. 2011. Fear of fishers: human predation explains behavioral changes in coral reef fishes. *PloS One* **6**: e22761.
- Januchowski-Hartley FA, Nash KL, Lawton RJ. 2012. The influence of spear guns, dive gear, and observers on estimating fish flight initiation distance on coral reefs. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **469**: 113–119.

- Januchowski-Hartley FA, Cinner JE, Graham NAJ. 2013a. Fishery benefits from behavioural modification of fishes in periodically harvested fisheries closures. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*.
- Januchowski-Hartley FA, Graham NAJ, Cinner JE, Russ GR. 2013b. Spillover of fish naïveté from marine reserves. *Ecology Letters* **16**: 191-197.
- Jennings S. 2000. Patterns and prediction of population recovery in marine reserves. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **10**: 209–231.
- Jennings S, Polunin NVC. 1996. Effects of fishing effort and catch rate upon the structure and biomass of Fijian reef fish communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **33**: 400–412.
- Jennings S, Boullé DP, Polunin NVC. 1996. Habitat correlates of the distribution and biomass of Seychelles' reef fishes. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **46**: 15–25.
- Johannes RE. 2002. The renaissance of community-based marine resource management in Oceania. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **33**: 317– 340.
- Jupiter SD, Weeks R, Jenkins AP, Egli DP, Cakacaka A. 2012. Effects of a single intensive harvest event on fish populations inside a customary marine closure. *Coral Reefs* **31**: 321–334.
- Kallayil JK, Jørgensen T, Engås A, Fernö A. 2003. Baiting gill nets: how is fish behaviour affected? *Fisheries Research* **61**: 125–133.
- Kaly U, Opnai J. 2005. Small Scale Fisheries in New Ireland Province: Landing, Market and Buyer Surveys in Kavieng. National Fisheries Authority of Papua New Guinea, Port Moresby. 76p.
- Karplus I, Algom D. 1981. Visual cues for predator face recognition by reef fishes. *Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie* **55**: 343–364.
- Kaunda-Arara B, Rose GA. 2004. Effects of Marine Reef National Parks on fishery CPUE in coastal Kenya. *Biological Conservation* **118**: 1–13.
- Kelley JL, Magurran AE. 2003. Learned predator recognition and antipredator responses in fishes. *Fish and Fisheries* **4**: 216–226.

- Krause J, Godin JGJ. 1994. Shoal choice in the banded killifish (*Fundulus diaphanus*, Teleostei, Cyprinodontidae): effects of predation risk, fish size, species composition and size of shoals. *Ethology* **98**: 128–136.
- Kellner JB, Tetreault I, Gaines SD, Nisbet RM. 2007. Fishing the line near marine reserves in single and multispecies fisheries. *Ecological Applications* 17: 1039– 1054.
- Kramer DL, Chapman MR. 1999. Implications of fish home range size and relocation for marine reserve function. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **55**: 65–79.
- Kulbicki M. 1998. How the acquired behaviour of commercial reef fishes may influence the results obtained from visual census. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **222**: 11–30.
- Lester SE, Halpern BS, Grorud-Colvert K, Lubchenco J, Ruttenberg BI, Gaines SD, Airame S, Warner RR. 2009. Biological effects within no-take marine reserves: a global synthesis. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **384**: 33–46.
- Licht T. 1989. Discriminating between hungry and satiated predators: the response of guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*) from high and low predation sites. *Ethology* **82**: 238–243.
- Lima SL, Bednekoff PA. 1999. Temporal variation in danger drives antipredator behavior: the predation risk allocation hypothesis. *American Naturalist* **153**: 649–659.
- Lloret J, Zaragoza N, Caballero D, Font T, Casadevall M, Riera V. 2008. Spearfishing pressure on fish communities in rocky coastal habitats in a Mediterranean marine protected area. *Fisheries Research* **94**: 84–91.
- Lord A, Waas JR, Innes J, Whittingham MJ. 2001. Effects of human approaches to nests of northern New Zealand dotterels. *Biological Conservation* **98**: 233–240.
- Louis S, Le Berre M. 2000. Ajustement des distances de fuite á l'homme chez *Marmota marmota*. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **78**: 556–563.
- Macintyre M, Foale S. 2007. Land and marine tenure, ownership, and new forms of entitlement on Lihir: changing notions of property in the context of a goldmining project. *Human Organization* **66**: 49–59.

- Madin EM, Gaines SD, Warner RR. 2010a. Field evidence for pervasive indirect effects of fishing on prey foraging behavior. *Ecology* **91**: 3563–3571.
- Madin EMP, Gaines SD, Madin JS, Warner RR. 2010b. Fishing indirectly structures macroalgal assemblages by altering herbivore behavior. *American Naturalist* **176**: 785–801.
- Magurran AE. 1990. The inheritance and development of minnow anti-predator behaviour. *Animal Behaviour* **39**: 834–842.
- Magurran AE, Pitcher TJ. 1987. Provenance, shoal size and the sociobiology of predator-evasion behaviour in minnow shoals. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biologcial Sciences* 229: 439–465.
- Magurran AE, Higham A. 1988. Information transfer across fish shoals under predator threat. *Ethology* **78**: 153–158.
- Manly BFG. 1997. *Randomization, bootstrap and Monte Carlo methods in biology*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. Chapman & Hall. London. 399p.
- Matson TK, Goldizen AW, Putland DA. 2005. Factors affecting the vigilance and flight behaviour of impalas. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research* **35**: 1–11.
- Maunder MN, Sibert JR, Fonteneau A, Hampton J, Kleiber P, Harley SJ. 2006. Interpreting catch per unit effort data to assess the status of individual stocks and communities. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **63**: 1373–1385.
- McCallum HI. 1988. Pulse fishing may be superior to selective fishing. *Mathematical Biosciences* **89**: 177–181.
- McClanahan TR. 1999. Is there a future for coral reef parks in poor tropical countries? *Coral Reefs* **18**: 321–325.
- Mcclanahan TR. 2000. Recovery of a coral reef keystone predator, *Balistapus undulatus*, in East African marine parks. **94**: 191–198.
- McClanahan TR, Muthiga NA. 1988. Changes in Kenyan coral reef community structure and function due to exploitation. *Hydrobiologia* **166**: 269–276.

- McClanahan TR, Mangi S. 2000. Spillover of exploitable fishes from a marine park and its effect on the adjacent fishery. *Ecological Applications* **10**: 1792–1805.
- McClanahan TR, Cinner JE. 2008. A framework for adaptive gear and ecosystem-based management in the artisanal coral reef fishery of Papua New Guinea. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* **18**: 493–507.
- McClanahan TR, Kamukuru AT, Muthiga NA, Gilagabher Yebio M, Obura D. 1995. Effect of sea urchin reductions on algae, coral and fish populations. *Conservation Biology* **10**: 136–154.
- McClanahan TR, Marnane MJ, Cinner JE, Kiene WE. 2006. A comparison of marine protected areas and alternative approaches to coral-reef management. *Current Biology* **16**: 1408–1413.
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Maina J, Chabanet P, Bruggemann JH, Polunin NVC. 2007a. Influence of instantaneous variation on estimates of coral reef fish populations and communities. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **340**: 221–234.
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Calnan JM, MacNeil MA. 2007b Toward pristine biomass: reef fish recovery in coral reef marine protected areas in Kenya. *Ecological Applications* **17**: 1055–1067.
- McClanahan TR, Hicks CC, Darling ES. 2008. Malthusian overfishing and efforts to overcome it on Kenyan coral reefs. *Ecological Applications* **18**: 1516–1529.
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, MacNeil MA, Muthiga NA, Cinner JE, Bruggemann JH, Wilson SK. 2011. Critical thresholds and tangible targets for ecosystem-based management of coral reef fisheries. *Proceedings of the National Acadamy of Sciences of the United States* **108**: 17230–17233.
- McClanahan TR, Abunge CA, Cinner JE. 2012. Heterogeneity in fishers' and managers' preferences towards management restrictions and benefits in Kenya. *Environmental Conservation* **39**: 357–369.
- McGill BJ, Mittelbach GG. 2006. An allometric vision and motion model to predict prey encounter rates. *Evolutionary Ecology Research* **8**: 691–701.
- McLean EB, Godin JGJ. 1989. Distance to cover and fleeing from predators in fish with different amounts of defensive armour. *Oikos* **55**: 281–290.

- Meyer CG. 2003. An empirical evaluation of the design and function of a small marine reserve (Waikiki Marine Life Conservation District). PhD Thesis, University of Hawai'i, United States of America.
- Meyer CG, Holland KN. 2005. Movement patterns, home range size and habitat utilization of the bluespine unicornfish, *Naso unicornis* (Acanthuridae) in a Hawaiian marine reserve. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **73**: 201–210.
- Miller BM, McDonnell LH, Sanders DJ, Lewtas KLM, Turgeon K, Kramer DL. 2011. Locomoter compensation in the sea: body size affects escape gait in parrotfish. *Animal Behavior* **82**: 1109–1116.
- Miller SG, Knight RL, Miller CK. 2001. Wildlife responses to pedestrians and dogs. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* **29**: 124–132.
- Moberg F, Folke C. 1999. Ecological goods and services of coral reef ecosystems. *Ecological Economics* **29**: 215–233.
- Mora C. 2008. A clear human footprint in the coral reefs of the Caribbean. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **275**: 767–773.
- Mora C, Myers RA, Coll M, Libralato S, Pitcher TJ, Sumaila RU, Zeller D, Watson R, Gaston KJ, Worm B. 2009. Management effectiveness of the world's marine fisheries. *PLoS Biology* **7**: e1000131.
- Mumby PJ, Dahlgren CP, Harborne AR, Kappel CV, Micheli F, Brumbaugh DR, Holmes KE, Mendes JM, Box S, Broad K, et al. 2006. Fishing, trophic cascades and the process of grazing on coral reefs. *Science* **311**: 98–101.
- Mumby PJ, Harborne AR, Williams J, Kappel CV, Brumbaugh DR, Micheli F, Holmes KE, Dahlgren CP, Paris CB, Blackwell PG. 2007. Trophic cascade facilitates coral recruitment in a marine reserve. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**: 8362–8367.
- Mumby P, Steneck R, Edwards A, Ferrari R, Coleman R, Harborne A, Gibson J. 2012. Fishing down a Caribbean food web relaxes trophic cascades. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **445**: 13–24.

- Mumby PJ, Bejarano S, Golbuu Y, Steneck RS, Arnold SN, Woesik R, Friedlander AM.
   2013. Empirical relationships among resilience indicators on Micronesian reefs.
   *Coral Reefs* 32: 213–226.
- Murphy KE, Pitcher TJ. 1997. Predator attack motivation influences the inspection behaviour of European minnows. *Journal of Fish Biology* **50**: 407–417.
- Newman MJH, Paredes GA, Sala E, Jackson JBC. 2006. Structure of Caribbean coral reef communities across a large gradient of fish biomass. *Ecology Letters* **9**: 1216– 1227.
- Newton K, Côté IM, Pilling GM, Jennings S, Dulvy NK. 2007. Current and future sustainability of island coral reef fisheries. *Current Biology* **17**: 655–8.
- NFA. 2007. A Review of Fisheries and Marine Resources in New Ireland Province, Papua New Guinea. National Fisheries Authority of Papua New Guinea, Port Moresby. 47p.
- Olsen EM, Heupel MR, Simpfendorfer CA, Moland E. 2012. Harvest selection on Atlantic cod behavioral traits: implications for spatial management. *Ecology and Evolution* **2**: 1549–1562.
- Pandolfi JM, Bradbury RH, Sala E, Hughes TP, Bjorndal KA, Cooke RG, McArdle D, McClenachan L, Newman MJH, Paredes G, et al. 2003. Global trajectories of the long-term decline of coral reef ecosystems. *Science* **301**: 955–958.
- Parrish JD. 1987. The trophic biology of snappers and groupers. In *Tropical Snappers and Groupers*, Polovina & Ralston. Biology and Fisheries Management. West view Press Inc: Boulder, Colorado. p405–464.
- Parrish JK. 1999. Using behaviour and ecology to exploit schooling fishes. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **55**: 157–181.
- Pascal N. 2011. Cost-benefit analysis of community-based marine protected areas: five case studies in Vanuatu. *SPC Fisheries Newsletter* **134**: 41–48.
- Peckarsky BL, Abrams P a, Bolnick DI, Dill LM, Grabowski JH, Luttbeg B, Orrock JL, Peacor SD, Preisser EL, Schmitz OJ, *et al.* 2008. Revisiting the classics: considering nonconsumptive effects in textbook examples of predator-prey interactions. *Ecology* **89**: 2416–2425.

- Pérez-Ruzafa A, Martín E, Marcos C, Zamarro JM, Stobart B, Harmelin-Vivien M, Polti S, Planes S, García-Charton JA, González-Wangüemert M. (2008) Modelling spatial and temporal scales for spill-over and biomass exportation from MPAs and their potential for fisheries enhancement. *Journal for Nature Conservation* 16: 234–255.
- Pitcher TJ, Hart PJB. 2000. Fisheries ecology. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht. p414.
- Pitcher TJ, Green DA, Magurran AE. 1986. Dicing with death: predator inspection behaviour in minnow shoals. *Journal of Fish Biology* **28**: 439–448.
- Philipp DP, Cooke SJ, Claussen JE, Koppelman JB, Suski CD, Burkett DP. 2009.
  Selection for Vulnerability to Angling in Largemouth Bass. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 138: 189–199.
- Pollnac RB, Pomeroy RS. 2005. Factors influencing the sustainability of integrated coastal management projects in the Philippines and Indonesia. *Ocean and Coastal Management* **48**: 233–251.
- Polunin NVC, Roberts CM. 1993. Greater biomass and value of target coral-reef fishes in two small Caribbean marine reserves. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **100**: 167–176.
- Proffitt KM, Grigg JL, Hamlin KL, Garrott RA. 2009. Contrasting effects of wolves and human hunters on elk behavioral responses to predation risk. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **73**: 345–356.
- Pyanov AI, Zhuykov AY. 1993. Conditioned reflex in fishes for avoidance of active fishing gear. *Journal of Ichthyology* **33**: 40–50.
- R Development Core Team. 2011. *R: a language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available at: http://www.R-project.org. Last accessed 29 November 2011.
- Rakitin A, Kramer DL. 1996. Effect of a marine reserve on the distribution of coral reef fishes in Barbados. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **131**: 97–113.
- Renee Lara M. 2001. Morphology of the eye and visual acuities in the settlementintervals of some coral reef fishes (Labridae, Scaridae). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **62**: 365–378.

- Ripple WJ, Beschta RL. 2004. Wolves, elk, willows, and trophic cascades in the upper Gallatin Range of Southwestern Montana, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **200**:161–181.
- Ripple WJ, Larsen EJ, Renkin RA, Smith DW. 2001. Trophic cascades among wolves, elk and aspen on Yellowstone National Park's northern range. *Biological Conservation* **91**: 3563–3571.
- Rhodes KL, Tupper MH. 2007. A preliminary market-based analysis of the Pohnpei, Micronesia, grouper (Serranidae: Epinepheline) fishery reveals unsustainable fishing practices. *Coral Reefs* **26**: 335–344.
- Robbins WD, Hisano M, Connolly SR, Choat JH. 2006. Ongoing collapse of coral-reef shark populations. *Current Biology* **16**: 2314–2319.
- Rodríguez-Marín E, Moreno G, Rodríguez-Cabello C, Ortiz M, Arrizabalaga H. 2002. Description and evolution of the baitboat fleet targeting bluefin tuna in the Bay of Biscay from 1975 to 2000. *Collect. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT*, **54**: 561–573.
- Russ GR. 2002. Yet another review of marine reserves as reef fishery management tools. In *Coral reef fishes: dynamics and diversity in a complex ecosystem*, Sale (ed). Academic Press: San Diego; 421–444.
- Russ GR, Alcala AC. 1998. Natural fishing experiments in marine reserves 1983 1993: community and trophic responses. *Coral Reefs* **17**: 383–397.
- Russ GR, Alcala AC. 2003. Marine reserves: rates and patterns of recovery and decline of predatory fish, 1983-2000. *Ecological Applications* **13**: 1553–1565.
- Russ GR, Alcala AC, Maypa AP, Calumpong HP, White AT. 2004. Marine reserves benefit local fisheries. *Ecological Applications* **14**: 597–606.
- Russ GR, Stockwell B, Alcala AC. 2005. Inferring versus measuring rates of recovery in no-take marine reserves. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **292**: 1–12.
- Sadovy YJ, Donaldson TJ, Graham TR, McGilvray F, Muldoon GJ, Phillips MJ, Rimme MA, Smith A, Yeeting B. 2003. *While Stocks Last: The Live Reef Food Fish Trade*. Asian Development Bank, Manila. 174p.

- Schmitz OJ, Krivan V, Ovadia O. 2004. Trophic cascades: the primacy of trait-mediated indirect interactions. *Ecology Letters* 7: 153–163.
- Shpigel M, Fishelson L. 1991. Territoriality and associated behaviour in three species of the genus Cephalopholis (Pisces: Serranidae) in the Gulf of Aqaba, Red Sea. *Journal of Fish Biology* **38**: 887–896.
- Sih A, Christensen B. 2001. Optimal diet theory: when does it work, and when and why does it fail? *Animal Behaviour* **61**: 379–390.
- Smith ME, Belk MC. 2001. Risk assessment in western mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis*): do multiple cues have additive effects? *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 51: 101–107.
- Stankowich T. 2008. Ungulate flight responses to human disturbance: A review and meta-analysis. *Biological Conservation* **141**: 2159–2173.
- Stankowich T, Blumstein DT. 2005. Fear in animals: a meta-analysis and review of risk assessment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 272: 2627– 34.
- Stankowich T, Coss RG. 2007. Effects of predator behavior and proximity on risk assessment by Columbian black-tailed deer. *Behavioral Ecology* **17**: 246–254.
- Stockwell B, Jadloc CRL, Abesamis RA, Alcala AC, Russ GR. 2009. Trophic and benthic responses to no-take marine reserve protection in the Philippines. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **389**: 1–15.
- Stoffle BW, Allen SD. 2012. The sociocultural implications of spearfishing in Hawai'i. US Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memorandum, NOAA-TM-NMFS-PIFSC-31. 38p.
- Suboski MD, Templeton JJ. 1989. Life skills training for hatchery fish: Social learning and survival. *Fisheries Research* 7: 343–352.
- Suski CD, Philipp DP. 2004. Factors affecting the vulnerability to angling of nesting male largemouth and smallmouth bass. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **133**:1100–1106.

- Sutter DAH, Suski CD, Philipp DP, Klefoth T, Wahl DH, Kersten P, Cooke SJ, Arlinghaus R. 2013. Recreational fishing selectively captures individuals with the highest fitness potential. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. **109**: 20960–20965.
- Thiel D, Ménoni E, Brenot J-F, Jenni L. 2007. Effects of recreation and hunting on flushing distance of capercaillie. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **71**: 1784–1792.
- Trip EL, Choat JH, Wilson DT, Robertson DR. 2008. Inter-oceanic analysis of demographic variation in a widely distributed Indo-Pacific coral reef fish. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 373: 97–109.
- US Coral Reef Task Force. 2000. *The National Action Plan to conserve coral reefs*. US CRTF, Washington, DC. 34p.
- Uusi-Heikkilä S, Wolter C, Klefoth T, Arlinghaus R. 2008. A behavioral perspective on fishing-induced evolution. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **23**: 419–421.
- Walther FR. 1969. Flight behaviour and avoidance of predators in Thomson's gazelle (*Gazella thomsoni* Geunther 1884). *Behaviour* **34**: 184-221.
- Ward P, Myers RA. 2005. Shifts in open-ocean fish communities coinciding with the commencement of commercial fishing. *Ecology* **86**: 835–847.
- Warner RR. 1998. The role of extreme iteroparity and risk avoidance in the evolution of mating systems. *Journal of Fish Biology* **53**: 82-93.
- Welsh JQ, Bellwood DR. 2012. Spatial ecology of the steephead parrotfish (*Chlorurus microrhinos*): an evaluation using acoustic telemetry. *Coral Reefs* **31**: 55–65.
- Weston MA, McLeod EM, Blumstein DT, and Guay P-J. 2012. A review of flight initiation distances and their application to managing disturbance to Australian birds. *Emu* **112**: 269- 286.
- Wilkie DS, Carpenter JF. 1999. Bushmeat hunting in the Congo Basin : an assessment of impacts and options for mitigation. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **8**: 927–955.
- Williams ID, Walsh WJ, Miyasaka A, Friedlander AM. 2006 Effects of rotational closure on coral reef fishes in Waikiki-Diamond Head Fishery Management Area, Oahu, Hawaii. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **310**: 139–149.

- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Polunin NVC. 2007. Appraisal of visual assessments of habitat complexity and benthic composition on coral reefs. *Marine Biology* **151**: 1069–1076.
- Wisenden BD, Harter KR. 2001. Motion, not shape, facilitates association of predation risk with novel objects by fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*). *Ethology* 107: 357–364.
- Wood LJ, Fish L, Laughren J, Pauly D. 2008. Assessing progress towards global marine protection targets: Shortfalls in information and action. *Oryx* **42**: 340–351.
- Worm B, Hilborn R, Baum JK, Branch TA, Collie JS, Costello C, Fogarty MJ, Fulton EA, Hutchings JA, Jennings S, *et al.* 2009. Rebuilding global fisheries. *Science* 325: 578–85.
- Ydenberg R, Dill L. 1986. The Economics of Fleeing from Predators. *Advances in the Study of Behavior* **16**: 229–49.
- Zeller D, Stoute SL, Russ GR. 2003. Movements of reef fishes across marine boundaries: effects of manipulating a density gradient. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 254: 269–280.
- Zuur AF, Ieno EN, Walker NJ, Saveliev AA, Smith GM. 2009. *Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R.* Springer, New York. p596.

## APPENDIX A: OTHER PEER-REVIEWED ARTICLES PUBLISHED DURING MY CANDIDATURE

- Feary DA, Cinner JE, Graham NAJ, <u>Januchowski-Hartley FA</u>. 2011. Effects of customary marine closures on fish behavior, spear-fishing success, and underwater visual surveys. *Conservation Biology* **25**: 341–349.
- Cinner JE, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Graham NAJ, Daw TM, Mukminin A, Feary DA, Rabearisoa AL, Wamukota A, Jiddawi N, Campbell SJ, Baird AH, <u>Januchowski-Hartley FA</u>, Hamed S, Lahari R, Morove T, Kuange J. 2012. Comanagement of coral reef social-ecological systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**: 5219–5222.
- Nash KL, Graham NAJ, <u>Januchowski-Hartley FA</u>, Bellwood DR. 2012 Influence of habitat condition and competition on foraging behaviour of parrotfishes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **457**: 113–124.
- Wia J, <u>Januchowski-Hartley FA</u>, Lahari RU, Morove T, Perks HM, Holmes KE (2012)
   Coral farming as means of sustaining livelihoods and promoting resource
   management. *Proceedings of the 12<sup>th</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium*,
   Cairns, Australia 9-13<sup>th</sup> July 2012.